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Market Consistent Embedded Value (MCEV)

The Group MCEV is a measure of the consolidated value of shareholders’ interest in 
the in-force business of the Swiss Life Group. It includes the insurance business covered
by the MCEV methodology and all other business valued by its IFRS net asset value.
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1 Copyright © Stichting CFO Forum Foundation 2008
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1  Introduction

1.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION

Market consistent embedded value (MCEV) is a measure of the consolidated value of shareholders’ interests in the in-
force covered business of the Swiss Life Group. Covered business includes life, health and pension business of the com-
pany. The Group MCEV is a measure of the consolidated value of shareholders’ interest in the covered and non-cov-
ered business in force of the company. Business in force includes business written as at 31 December 2011; future new
business is not included. The notion of market consistent embedded value (MCEV) will alternatively refer within the
course of this report to the MCEV of Swiss Life’s covered business, of one of its market units, or to Swiss Life’s Group
MCEV.

Swiss Life’s market consistent embedded value reporting follows the European Insurance CFO Forum Market Con-
sistent Embedded Value Principles©1. The cost of credit risk relating to bonds is calculated and disclosed in addition
to the Principles’ mandatory requirements. Further details on the MCEV methodology and assumptions are given in
sections 4 and 5.

PricewaterhouseCoopers have audited this market consistent embedded value report. Their opinion is part of this
report (section 6).

1.2  COVERED BUSINESS AND NON-COVERED BUSINESS

Covered business includes all of Swiss Life’s life, health and pension business as well as assumed external reinsurance,
with the exception of Swiss Life Insurance Solutions AG, which is not material for MCEV purposes. MCEV (and Group
MCEV) are net of ceded external reinsurance. Included are namely operations in Switzerland, France, Germany, Lux-
embourg, Liechtenstein and Singapore. All other businesses such as investment management and AWD are generally
included in the non-covered business at their IFRS net asset values, with the exception of France, where they are
included in the covered business.

1.3  DEFINITIONS

Swiss Life’s Group MCEV consists of the MCEV for covered business and the IFRS net asset value for non-covered busi-
ness.

According to MCEV Principle 3, the MCEV represents the present value of shareholders’ interests in the earnings dis-
tributable from assets allocated to the covered business after sufficient allowance for the aggregate risks in the cov-
ered business. It is calculated on a post-tax basis taking into account current legislation and known future changes.
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The MCEV for covered business consists of the net asset value (NAV), i.e. the value of assets not backing liabilities, and
the value of in-force business (VIF), i.e., the value of future profits emerging from operations and assets backing lia-
bilities.

The net asset value is split between:

– the required capital (RC): the amount of capital provided by shareholders deemed necessary to run the business
under the chosen definition (see section 4.1)

– the free surplus (FS): additional capital allocated to the covered business above the required capital

The value of in-force covered business is defined as the sum of:

– the certainty equivalent value of future profits (CEV)
– the time value of financial options and guarantees (TVOG), including the cost of credit risks
– the cost of residual non-hedgeable risks (CNHR)
– the frictional costs of required capital (FC)

The IFRS net asset value (IFRS NAV) is defined as the unadjusted IFRS net asset value allocated to the non-covered
business.

For details about the MCEV components, see section 4 on methodology. Please note that the notion of certainty equiv-
alent value is equivalent to the notion of present value of future profits in the CFO Forum Principles.
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2  Summary of MCEV Results

2.1  KEY RESULTS

During 2011, the capital markets were characterised by a strong decline of the relevant interest rates, a widening of cor-
porate and sovereign credit spreads and higher interest rate volatilities.

All results and components are shown in CHF million. Rounding differences may occur.

The following tables show key results as at 31 December 2011 compared to the results as at 31 December 2010:

In CHF million

2011 2010

Value of new business 150 209

Present value of new business premium (PVNBP) 12 914 14 607

New business margin (%PVNBP) 1.2% 1.4%

Both the adverse economic environment and the reduction in volume, particularly in the PPLI business, led to a
decrease by 28% of the value of new business and to a decrease of the new business margin from 1.4% to 1.2%. Contin-
ued expense reductions and an overall improvement of the business mix partially counteracted the adverse capital mar-
ket developments.

In CHF million Value of
Net asset value in-force business Total Total

2011 2010

Covered business 2 525 2 836 5 361 4 959

Non-covered business 2 367 n/a1 2 367 2 636

GROUP MCEV 4 892 2 836 7 728 7 595

Total MCEV earnings 347 1 424

Operating MCEV earnings 772 2 353

1 n/a: not applicable

The value of covered business increased by 8%. Operating MCEV earnings contributed to this increase by profitable
new business and a strong operating return on the in-force business. A capital transfer also increased the value of cov-
ered business. The adverse capital market environment had a negative effect on the MCEV of covered business. This
was partially alleviated by the move to QIS 5-styled valuation curves which include liquidity premiums. Due to the
mentioned capital transfer and the dividend paid to shareholders, the value of the non-covered business is slightly
below the previous year’s level. Overall the Group MCEV increased by 2%.
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CHF million

MCEV of Covered Business 2011

666 FS

1 859
RC

6 376
CEV

–2 601
TVOG

2 836
VIF

2 525
NAV

5 361
MCEV

–584
CNHR

–354
FC

NAV

CEV Certainty equivalent value
TVOG Time value of options and guarantees
CNHR Cost of non-hedgeable risks
FC Frictional costs
VIF Value of in-force business
RC Required capital
FS Free surplus
NAV Net asset value
MCEV Market consistent embedded value

scaling only indicative

2.2  MCEV OF COVERED BUSINESS

The following graph and table show the MCEV by components, together with the previous year’s figures:

In CHF million

2011 2010

NET ASSET VALUE 2 525 1 928

Free surplus 666 35

Required capital 1 859 1 892

VALUE OF IN-FORCE BUSINESS 2 836 3 032

Certainty equivalent value 6 376 5 797

Time value of financial options and guarantees –2 601 –1 912

Cost of residual non-hedgeable risks –584 –507

Frictional costs of required capital –354 –346

MCEV 5 361 4 959

Overall the net asset value increased very significantly by 31% due to the strong operating profit of the year and non-
recurring effects. The required capital slightly decreased despite an increase of the balance sheet size. As a result free
surplus – after financing new business – increased by CHF 631 million, whereof about one third is driven by non-recur-
ring items including a net capital transfer into covered business. The biggest contribution to this increase results from
Switzerland. Goodwill and other intangibles are not included in the net asset value, with the exception of France (see
section 4.7).

The value of in-force business decreased by 6%. An increase in certainty equivalent value of CHF 579 million – driven
by the new business contribution – was more than offset by the increase of time value of financial options and guar-
antees. The latter results from a massive increase in interest rate volatilities. The TVOG also includes the cost of credit
risk related to investments in corporate bonds. The cost of credit risk on group level amounts to CHF –517 million for
2011 compared to CHF –469 million for 2010.
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2.3  VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS

2.3.1 VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS, PREMIUMS AND MARGINS

Amounts in CHF million

2011 2010

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS 150 209

New business strain 1 –127 –124

Value of new business before new business strain 277 333

Annual premiums 659 706

Single premiums 6 101 7 798

PRESENT VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS PREMIUMS (PVNBP) 12 914 14 607

Average annual premium multiplier 10.3 9.6

New business annual premium equivalent (APE) 1 269 1 486

NEW BUSINESS MARGIN (% PVNBP) 1.2% 1.4%

New business margin (% APE) 11.9% 14.0%

1 New business strain represents the effect on the net asset value from writing new business.

2.3.2 VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS — ANALYSIS OF CHANGE

The following graph and table detail the drivers for the change in new business value and margin of the business sold
in 2011 compared to the business sold in 2010.

Amounts in CHF million NBM Change in NBM
PVNBP VNB (% PVNBP) (% PVNBP)

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS 2010 14 607 209 1.4%

Economic variances 91 –44 -0.3%

Volume, business mix and pricing variances –1 702 –15 0.0%

Expense variances 1 1 0.0%

Other variances 79 2 0.0%

FX variances –163 –3 0.0%

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS 2011 12 914 150 1.2%
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The new business volume measured in PVNBP decreased by 12%. Most of this reduction is driven by lower premiums
of the PPLI business, which are single premiums only. Despite this reduction in volume, the new business margin
remained stable apart from effects from the adverse capital market environment and due to an overall improvement
of the new business mix and other operational indicators.

Additional explanations about new business calculations are given in section 4.2 of this report.

2.4  GROUP MCEV — ANALYSIS OF EARNINGS

The table below shows the development of Group MCEV split by components from 31 December 2010 to 31 Decem-
ber 2011.

In CHF million Covered business Non-covered
MCEV business IFRS Total Group MCEV Total Group MCEV

2011 2010

OPENING GROUP MCEV 4 959 2 636 7 595 6 877

Opening adjustments –98 –44 –142 –75

ADJUSTED OPENING GROUP MCEV 4 861 2 592 7 453 6 803

Operating MCEV earnings 710 62 772 2 353

Non-operating MCEV earnings –405 –20 –424 –929

TOTAL MCEV EARNINGS 305 42 347 1 424

Other movements in IFRS net equity n/a1 –6 –6 1

Closing adjustments 195 –262 –67 –633

CLOSING GROUP MCEV 5 361 2 367 7 728 7 595

1 n/a: not applicable

The opening adjustment of the Group MCEV represents the dividend payment to shareholders of CHF 4.50 per share
or a total of CHF 144 million as shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements (Note 27) and currency exchange
rate effects of CHF –2 million.

The following commentaries refer mainly to the non-covered business as the analysis of earnings for the covered busi-
ness is commented in sections 2.5 and 3.2 in detail.

The operating MCEV earnings for non-covered business increased by 19% compared to 2010 and correspond mainly
to results from Swiss Life Holding, AWD, Investment Management and insurance business not within the scope of
covered business. The change in operating MCEV earnings compared to 2010 originates almost entirely from the cov-
ered business.

The non-operating MCEV earnings relate to borrowing costs and tax effects for the non-covered business. The change
in non-operating MCEV earnings compared to 2010 originates almost entirely from the covered business.

The other movements in IFRS net equity (non-covered business only) include the purchase of treasury shares, effects
from equity-settled share-based payments and currency exchange rate effects on goodwill.

The closing adjustments result mainly from capital transfers between covered and non-covered business and currency
exchange rate developments.
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CHF million

Covered Business – Analysis of Earnings for 2011 

Opening MCEV

Opening adjustments

Adjusted opening MCEV

Value of new business
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Other operating variance

Operating MCEV earnings

Economic variances

Other non-operating variances

Total MCEV earnings

Closing adjustments

Closing MCEV

0
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150

4 861

–98

4 959

79

–53

710

–282

–507

102

305

195

5 361

2.5  COVERED BUSINESS — ANALYSIS OF EARNINGS

The graph and table below show the analysis of earnings for the covered business in 2011:
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In CHF million Free surplus Required capital VIF MCEV MCEV

2011 2010

OPENING MCEV 35 1 892 3 032 4 959 4 132

Opening adjustments –98 – – –98 –139

ADJUSTED OPENING MCEV –63 1 892 3 032 4 861 3 993

Value of new business –343 216 277 150 209

Expected existing business contribution (reference rate) 6 – 8 14 27

Expected existing business contribution (in excess of reference rate) –9 – 811 802 837

Transfers from VIF and required capital to free surplus 680 –158 –523 – –

Experience variances –131 13 65 –53 –271

Assumption changes 5 –1 75 79 1 077

Other operating variance 129 1 –411 –282 421

OPERATING MCEV EARNINGS 337 71 302 710 2 301

Economic variances 157 –85 –578 –507 –979

Other non-operating variances 5 –1 98 102 75

TOTAL MCEV EARNINGS 498 –15 –178 305 1 397

Closing adjustments 230 –18 –17 195 –431

CLOSING MCEV 666 1 859 2 836 5 361 4 959

OPENING ADJUSTMENTS represent dividend payments from covered to non-covered business.

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS contributions from free surplus and required capital sum up to the new business strain of
CHF –127 million (2010: CHF –124 million). This represents the shareholders’ share in acquisition expenses for new
business. The VIF-component of CHF 277 million (2010: CHF 333 million) is the value of future profits from new
business.

EXPECTED EXISTING BUSINESS CONTRIBUTION (REFERENCE RATE) shows the unwinding of discount on all value
of in-force components with reference rates as at start of year. Additionally the notional interest on the net asset value
is included.

EXPECTED EXISTING BUSINESS CONTRIBUTION (IN EXCESS OF REFERENCE RATE) represents the additional con-
tribution to MCEV by taking into account investment returns for the reporting period expected at the beginning of
the period over and above the initial reference rates for the period. Also, releases from the period’s contribution to the
time value of financial options and guarantees and cost of residual non-hedgeable risks are included. The expected
business contribution is explained to a large extent by spreads expected to be earned on the corporate bond and real
estate portfolio.

TRANSFERS FROM VALUE IN FORCE AND REQUIRED CAPITAL TO FREE SURPLUS include the transfer of the results
of the preceding step from VIF to free surplus. Also, the required capital is normally reduced after this step, resulting
in an equal increase of free surplus. The total effect in this line is zero. In the context of a life insurer’s business model,
this should be seen in combination of effects from new business which partly reverses this effect by an increase of
required capital and a reduction of net asset value.

EXPERIENCE VARIANCES aggregate the impact of actual development versus expectations regarding non-economic
assumptions such as mortality, expenses, lapses, as well as the deviations in handling of additional reserves. The large
part of the experience variances comes from the Swiss business where a variety of effects including reserve strength-
ening contributed. Noteworthy is also the negative experience variance for International where the investments of the
PPLI business contribute negatively.
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ASSUMPTION CHANGES refer to the impact of the change on assumptions such as future expense, surrender, mor-
tality, morbidity, longevity rates. The overall positive contribution results from very positive persistency experience,
predominantly for Swiss group business, positive expense variances due to a further reduced cost base and slightly
adverse demographic assumptions.

OTHER OPERATING VARIANCE includes effects from strategic management decisions such as risk premium reduc-
tions in Swiss group life business and modelling improvements as well as other reassessments especially with regard
to hybrid debt.

ECONOMIC VARIANCES represent the change in embedded value by replacing the starting economic scenarios by the
closing ones. Effects from deviations between actual and expected investment returns are included here. Higher swap-
tion implied volatilities and lower reference rates led to a decrease of the MCEV. This was alleviated by the move to a
QIS 5-styled parameterisation of the extrapolation of swap curves and a respective setting of positive liquidity premi-
ums.

OTHER NON-OPERATING VARIANCES consist mainly of tax variances.

CLOSING ADJUSTMENTS represent the transfer of funds into the covered business and currency exchange rate trans-
lation effects resulting from the consolidation in Swiss francs.
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2.6  SENSITIVITIES

Operational and demographic sensitivities as well as economic sensitivities with regard to equity/property implied
volatilities or market values remained overall stable with respect to the ones for 2010. Sensitivities for MCEV with
regard to reference rate levels are further reduced. Sensitivities with regard to swaption implied volatilities increased
significantly. This is caused by the elevated swaption implied volatilities as at 31 December 2011 and the fact that rel-
ative changes to volatilities are determined.

The economic sensitivities are assumed to occur after the new business contracts have been sold, indicating how the
value of in-force business and the value of new business written would be affected by the economic shocks.

The table below shows sensitivities of the MCEV and the value of new business to important financial market param-
eters and to operational and demographic assumptions.

SENSITIVITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Amounts in CHF million
Change in value 

Change in MCEV +/– of new business +/–

BASE VALUE 5 361 150

Economic

100 bp increase of interest rates (reference rates) 283 5% 29 19%

100 bp decrease of interest rates (reference rates) –729 –14% –75 –50%

10% increase in equity / property market values 746 14% 1 1

10% decrease in equity / property market values –814 –15% 1 1

25% increase in equity / property implied volatilities –243 –5% –9 –6%

25% decrease in equity / property implied volatilities 200 4% 8 5%

25% increase in swaption implied volatilities –709 –13% –29 –19%

25% decrease in swaption implied volatilities 544 10% 17 11%

Operational

10% increase in maintenance expenses –247 –5% –24 –16%

10% decrease in maintenance expenses 245 5% 26 17%

10% proportionate increase in lapse rates –134 –2% –24 –16%

10% proportionate decrease in lapse rates 148 3% 26 17%

Demographic

5% proportionate increase in mortality rates (death cover) –17 –0% –3 –2%

5% proportionate decrease in mortality rates (annuities) –141 –3% 0 0%

5% increase of longevity driver (annuities) –37 –1% 0 –0%

5% proportionate increase in morbidity rates –87 –2% –8 –5%

5% proportionate decrease in morbidity rates 85 2% 7 5%

Other

Required capital 100% statutory solvency capital 143 3% 12 8%

1 not available

2.7  RECONCILIATION OF IFRS NET ASSET VALUE TO GROUP MCEV

Swiss Life’s MCEV for covered business reflects the value of the shareholders’ interest in the life, health and pension
business as well as assumed external reinsurance of the Swiss Life Group. This value includes the determination of
best estimate liabilities for policyholder bonuses and tax payments, which are derived from results based on local statu-
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CHF million

Reconciliation of IFRS Net Asset Value to Group MCEV
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4 892

7 728

–1 8919 127

tory accounting rather than on IFRS. Therefore local balance sheets and profit and loss accounts are the starting point
for the projections. The net asset value (of assets not backing liabilities) is based on the local balance sheet, but adjusted
at market value.

For the other parts of the Swiss Life Group, i.e. the non-covered business, the shareholder value is derived from its con-
tribution to the Group’s IFRS net asset value.

RECONCILIATION OF IFRS NET ASSETS TO GROUP MCEV AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million

2011

IFRS NET ASSETS 9 127

Adjustments –4 236

Reserve and investment valuation differences –1 891

DAC / DOC and other intangible assets –1 887

Goodwill 1 –458

Net asset value 4 892

Value of in-force business 2 836

GROUP MCEV 2 7 728

1 Goodwill adjustments correspond to goodwill of covered business with the exception of CHF 81 million from French operations (see section 3.2).
2 Group MCEV includes CHF 1 377 million of goodwill and intangible assets as part of the unadjusted IFRS net assets for non-covered business.

Starting with the total IFRS net assets, there are valuation differences between IFRS and MCEV regarding the net asset
value for the covered business. In the reconciliation these valuation differences are shown under “adjustments”. The
main elements that have been adjusted are deferred acquisition costs (DAC), goodwill and other intangible assets, dif-
ferences between statutory and IFRS balance sheet items reflecting different reserving bases, and different treatment
of the investments and unrealised gains (that form part of the IFRS net assets but are projected on MCEV as part of
the value of in-force business in the MCEV calculations).

The adjusted IFRS net asset value corresponds to the MCEV net asset value of the Swiss Life Group. Adding the value
of in-force business leads to the Group MCEV.
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3  Information by Market Unit

3.1  MARKET UNITS

Swiss Life’s covered business is subdivided according to market units as follows:

– Life, pension and assumed external reinsurance business in Switzerland
– All businesses in France, mainly life, health and pension business
– Life and pension business in Germany
– Life and pension business in Luxembourg, Liechtenstein, and Singapore (together referred to as International)

This breakdown by market unit essentially coincides with the IFRS insurance segments in the annual report. There are
minor differences since the MCEV classification generally follows the legal structure in order to ensure a correct mod-
elling of the profit sharing. A divergence from the IFRS insurance segment reporting is the treatment of Swiss Life Asset
Management in France, which is reported for MCEV purposes under France.

SWITZERLAND — Swiss Life’s main business in the Swiss market is group life business with a full range of offerings.
The individual business includes traditional savings, risk and annuity products, as well as modern savings and retire-
ment products with flexible guarantees. Swiss Life’s own sales force plays the major role in distribution, followed by
brokers and AWD. The business for assumed external reinsurance is included here.

FRANCE — Insurance products include savings, annuity, and risk products as well as health insurance products. New
business for life insurance focuses on multi-support products, combining traditional savings and unit-linked compo-
nents. The main distribution channels are brokers, tied agents and own sales force. Additionally, France has developed
strong relations with independent financial advisors and private banks.

GERMANY — Swiss Life sells traditional and modern products within individual and group life business. Disability
insurance plays an important role. The main distribution channel is independent brokers, followed by financial advi-
sors such as AWD.

INTERNATIONAL — Swiss Life offers private placement life insurance (PPLI) through its carriers in Liechtenstein, Sin-
gapore and Luxembourg. In Luxembourg, Swiss Life also provides group insurance solutions for international and
local corporate clients through Corporate Solutions.

3.2  RESULTS BY MARKET UNIT

MCEV BY MARKET UNIT FOR THE YEAR 2011

In CHF million

Switzerland France1 Germany International Total

NET ASSET VALUE 1 096 1 082 353 –6 2 525

Free surplus 637 57 28 –56 666

Required capital 459 1 025 325 50 1 859

VALUE OF IN-FORCE BUSINESS 1 593 815 173 255 2 836

Certainty equivalent value 4 071 1 467 520 318 6 376

Time value of financial options and guarantees –1 991 –367 –235 –8 –2 601

Cost of residual non-hedgeable risks –280 –194 –74 –37 –584

Frictional costs of required capital –207 –91 –37 –18 –354

MCEV 2 689 1 897 526 249 5 361

1 The value for France includes CHF 81 million in goodwill and intangible assets orginating from the non-life and non-health insurance operations.
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MCEV BY MARKET UNIT FOR THE YEAR 2010

In CHF million

Switzerland France1 Germany International Total

NET ASSET VALUE 557 1 056 335 –20 1 928

Free surplus 103 43 –43 –68 35

Required capital 454 1 013 378 48 1 892

VALUE OF IN-FORCE BUSINESS 1 655 824 271 282 3 032

Certainty equivalent value 3 485 1 431 536 346 5 797

Time value of financial options and guarantees –1 407 –315 –180 –10 –1 912

Cost of residual non-hedgeable risks –234 –195 –38 –40 –507

Frictional costs of required capital –188 –97 –47 –14 –346

MCEV 2 212 1 879 606 262 4 959

1 The value for France includes CHF 72 million in goodwill and intangible assets orginating from the non-life and non-health insurance operations.

SWITZERLAND — The increase in net asset value and free surplus is a consequence of the strong annual profit of 2011
and non-recurring items. The time value of financial options and guarantees increased due to increased interest rate
volatilities.

Hybrid debt, all of which is allocated to Switzerland, includes the difference between the market value of assets cover-
ing the hybrid debt in the statutory balance sheet and the marked-to-model value of the hybrid debt as described in
section 4.3. This difference was allocated to the net asset value in 2010 and is allocated to the value of in-force busi-
ness in 2011.

FRANCE — The MCEV of France slightly increased despite the adverse capital market environment. Free surplus
increased from the profit of the year despite a considerable new business strain and dividend payment.

The slightly higher TVOG of France at 31 December 2011 compared to the one reported a year ago, is mainly a conse-
quence of higher interest rate volatilities partly offset by a de-risking of the strategic asset allocation. The health busi-
ness does not offer financial options and guarantees and therefore does not contribute to the time value of financial
options and guarantees.

GERMANY — While the net asset value increased in Germany despite a capital outflow, the VIF decreased because of
the adverse capital market environment, especially due to the increased interest rate volatilities. Furthermore, an
increase in free surplus was achieved for various reasons including lower policyholder bonuses in 2011.

INTERNATIONAL — The business of private placement life insurance (PPLI) accounted for 80% of the opening MCEV.
While assets under control increased during the reporting period, a revised outlook on future new business volumes
for the PPLI business led to a decrease of the MCEV.

The negative free surplus of CHF –56 million is explained by not taking into account the goodwill relating to a past
acquisition in Liechtenstein. The low TVOG reflects the absence of substantial financial options and guarantees across
most business lines of International and a de-risking of the asset allocation in Corporate Solutions.
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VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS BY MARKET UNIT – PREMIUMS AND MARGINS FOR THE YEAR 2011

Amounts in CHF million

Switzerland France Germany International Total

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS 10 80 30 30 150

New business strain 1 –52 –62 –8 –5 –127

Value of new business before new business strain 62 142 38 35 277

Annual premiums 164 375 117 4 659

Single premiums 1 437 1 550 323 2 791 6 101

PRESENT VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS PREMIUMS (PVNBP) 3 875 4 478 1 739 2 822 12 914

Average annual premium multiplier 14.9 7.8 12.1 7.8 10.3

New business annual premium equivalent (APE) 307 530 150 283 1 269

NEW BUSINESS MARGIN (% PVNBP) 0.3% 1.8% 1.7% 1.1% 1.2%

New business margin (% APE) 3.4% 15.2% 19.8% 10.7% 11.9%

1 New business strain represents the effect on the net asset value from writing new business.

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS BY MARKET UNIT – PREMIUMS AND MARGINS FOR THE YEAR 2010

Amounts in CHF million

Switzerland France Germany International Total

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS 30 84 41 54 209

New business strain 1 –41 –66 –9 –7 –124

Value of new business before new business strain 71 150 50 61 333

Annual premiums 189 382 129 6 706

Single premiums 1 164 2 099 333 4 202 7 798

PRESENT VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS PREMIUMS (PVNBP) 3 819 4 838 1 707 4 242 14 607

Average annual premium multiplier 14.0 7.2 10.7 6.7 9.6

New business annual premium equivalent (APE) 306 592 163 426 1 486

NEW BUSINESS MARGIN (% PVNBP) 0.8% 1.7% 2.4% 1.3% 1.4%

New business margin (% APE) 9.8% 14.2% 25.0% 12.7% 14.0%

1 New business strain represents the effect on the net asset value from writing new business.
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SWITZERLAND — New business consists of new contracts and new coverages on existing contracts. Within group life
business, replacements and newly insured persons entering existing group life contracts are not accounted for as new
business.

An increase in new business volume of modern products in individual life and single premiums in group life was partly
offset by lower production for traditional products in individual life and assumed re-insurance business. The decline
in value of new business and new business margin is caused by the low level of risk-free interest rates in combination
with high interest rate volatilities and the level of interest rate guarantees. The strongly adverse impacts from the finan-
cial market environment could not fully be counteracted by positive operating impacts from re-pricing measures for
individual life products, successfully launched new pension products and favourable persistency and expense assump-
tion variances in group life.

FRANCE — The new business margin increased due to management actions such as pushing unit-linked and risk busi-
ness, de-risking the strategic asset allocation and efficiency gains. These actions offset the negative capital market envi-
ronment as well as the overall volume reduction and increased the new business margin.

The value of new business for the health business increased significantly compared to 2010 as a consequence of the
increase of volumes and the higher share of death and disability business sold. In life business, a higher share and vol-
ume of unit linked business than in 2010 was achieved.

GERMANY — The new business margin of Germany has been negatively affected by economic conditions as well as
market pressure on disability business. The share of risk and supplementary disability insurance contracts written
remains at a high level, but slightly lower than in the previous year. As a result the value of new business is lower than
in 2010.

INTERNATIONAL — The PPLI business is the main driver for the value of new business of International which accounts
for CHF 30 million. The change in value compared to 2010 can be attributed to the performance of the PPLI business,
where the reorientation in private banking led to a weakened demand and lower new business volumes. Pricing pres-
sure and lower persistency assumptions reduced the margin by 20 bp. Because of the weight of PPLI within Interna-
tional, by far the biggest share of new business premiums consists of single premiums.

ANALYSIS OF EARNINGS BY MARKET UNIT FOR THE YEAR 2011

In CHF million

Switzerland France Germany International Total

OPENING MCEV 2 212 1 879 606 262 4 959

Opening adjustments –46 –30 –22 – –98

ADJUSTED OPENING MCEV 2 166 1 849 584 262 4 861

New business value 10 80 30 30 150

Expected existing business contribution (reference rate) 3 8 1 3 14

Expected existing business contribution (in excess of reference rate) 517 209 62 14 802

Experience variances –34 10 –17 –12 –53

Assumption changes 124 –20 –23 –3 79

Other operating variance –240 7 –7 –41 –282

OPERATING MCEV EARNINGS 379 293 46 –9 710

Economic variances –166 –217 –95 –29 –507

Other non-operating variances 101 1 – 1 102

TOTAL MCEV EARNINGS 314 77 –49 –37 305

Closing adjustments 209 –29 –10 24 195

CLOSING MCEV 2 689 1 897 526 249 5 361
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All market units contributed to the value creation with a positive value of new business.

SWITZERLAND — Strong operating earnings of CHF 379 million correspond to 18% of the adjusted opening MCEV.

The observed experience variances are a combination of effects from deviations in persistency and demographic expe-
rience relative to opening assumptions as well as reserve strengthening in the light of the low interest rate environ-
ment.

The assumption changes are due to a favourable experience-driven update of persistency assumptions in group life
and the reduced cost base. This is partly offset by an update of assumptions in respect of policyholder behaviour such
as earlier future retirements within group life contracts.

Other operating variances are mainly attributable to group life business, in particular due to a reduction in risk pre-
miums from 2012 onwards. Further negative effects on other operating variances come from an increased real estate
share in the strategic asset allocation. With regard to hybrid debt an adjustment and a positive revaluation had a neg-
ative impact overall, which is also included in other operating variance.

Negative economic variances are caused by the significant increase of interest rate volatilities. The setting of the liq-
uidity premiums has a positive impact.

Other non-operating variances reflect changes to future taxation.

Closing adjustments are almost fully due to capital transfers to the Swiss market unit.

FRANCE — The operating MCEV earnings of CHF 293 million corresponds to 16% of the adjusted opening MCEV.
France has a significant contribution from new business production. The expected existing business contribution,
combined with a disciplined policyholder profit sharing allowed a strengthening of the bonus fund and an increase
in free surplus despite dividend payments.

The expense reductions achieved contributed positively to the assumption variances while other effects, including
anticipated increases of health claims ratios more than offset this.

Closing adjustments reflect the lower euro exchange rate in 2011.
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GERMANY — The operating MCEV earnings of CHF 46 million correspond to 8% of the adjusted opening MCEV.
Besides the strong new business contribution, operating expense reductions also contributed positively. This was off-
set by ongoing investments into new asset management and policy administration systems as well as other measures
to strengthen the sustainability of the business. 

Germany had a capital outflow of CHF 22 million.

Closing adjustments reflect the lower euro exchange rate in 2011.

INTERNATIONAL — The operating MCEV earnings of CHF –9 million represent –4% of the opening MCEV. This is
driven by a reassessment of PPLI’s volume outlook given the reorientation in private banking and the new business
premiums in 2011. On the other hand the business with corporate clients had a stabilising effect on the value.

Despite a substantial volume reduction, the value of new business still contributed strongly to the result with
CHF 30 million or 12% of the total embedded value of International. 

Experience variances and other operating variances are positively influenced by mortality and disability, while strong
negative effects arise from the situation of the PPLI business, which still shows some characteristics of a start-up.

Substantial cost reductions were achieved in the corporate clients business: however, the revised new business outlook
for PPLI more than compensated the impact on the MCEV.

Main driver for negative economic variances is the investment performance of assets under control and currency
exchange effects, whereas the closing adjustments reflect a capital transfer to PPLI.
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4  Methodology

4.1  MCEV COMPONENTS FOR COVERED BUSINESS

NET ASSET VALUE (NAV) — The net asset value is the market value of assets allocated to the covered business, which
are not backing liabilities from the covered business.

The net asset value is calculated as the statutory equity capital, adjusted by the unrealised gains or losses on assets cov-
ering the equity capital that are attributable to shareholders after taxes. Depending on local regulatory restrictions,
equalisation reserves are also included in the net asset value. Intangible assets are not accounted for in the net asset
value.

The net asset value is further split between the required capital (RC) and the free surplus (FS).

REQUIRED CAPITAL (RC) — The required capital is the market value of assets, attributed to the covered business – over
and above that required to back liabilities for covered business – whose distribution to shareholders is restricted.
Swiss Life bases the amount of required capital on 150% of the statutory solvency level according to Solvency I, except
for assumed external reinsurance where an economic approach is used instead.

The amount of required capital disclosed is presented from a shareholder’s perspective and thus is net of funding
sources other than shareholder resources (such as subordinated loans or unallocated bonus reserves).

FREE SURPLUS (FS) — The free surplus is the market value of assets allocated to, but not required to support, the in-
force covered business at the valuation date. The free surplus is calculated as the difference between the net asset value
and the required capital.

Under the chosen definition of required capital, the free surplus, unlike the required capital, is supposed to be imme-
diately releasable and hence does not affect the frictional costs of required capital.

VALUE OF IN-FORCE BUSINESS (VIF) — The value of in-force business consists of the following components:

1. Certainty equivalent value (CEV)
2. Time value of financial options and guarantees (TVOG), including the cost of credit risk (see below)
3. Cost of residual non-hedgeable risks (CNHR)
4. Frictional costs of required capital (FC)

In the MCEV Principles, the term present value of future profits (PVFP) is used instead of certainty equivalent value.

Certainty equivalent value and time value of financial options and guarantees are items that involve projections
encompassing local statutory liabilities and assets in line with:

– local legal and regulatory obligations
– company practice due to commercial and competitive constraints
– local market practice in the calculation of embedded values
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CERTAINTY EQUIVALENT VALUE (CEV) — The certainty equivalent value is defined as the present value of the future
shareholders’ statutory profits (net of tax) under the certainty equivalent scenario.

In this particular scenario, future market returns are determined as the forward rates implied in the reference rates at
the valuation date. Discounting is performed at the same reference rates. The certainty equivalent value includes that
part of the value of financial options and guarantees which materialises in the underlying scenario.

The rules for anticipated management and policyholders’ actions applied in the certainty equivalent scenario are the
same as those for the stochastic projection used to determine the time value of financial options and guarantees.

TIME VALUE OF FINANCIAL OPTIONS AND GUARANTEES (TVOG) — The certainty equivalent value does not allow
for the risk that the financial outcome for shareholders could differ from the one implied by the certainty equivalent
scenario. This is of particular relevance when products or funds include guarantees or options for the policyholder
such as:

– guaranteed interest rates
– discretionary profit sharing and regulatory constraints, e.g. “legal quotes”
– maturity guarantees
– guaranteed minimum death benefits
– guaranteed annuity options
– surrender options

For such products or funds, a stochastic projection has been run allowing for the range of possible scenarios for finan-
cial markets. The TVOG is calculated as the difference between the average present value of shareholder cash flows
(profits or losses) and the certainty equivalent value, plus the cost for credit risk (see remarks on credit risk below).
The TVOG therefore represents the additional market consistent value of those financial options and guarantees in
excess of the intrinsic value which are already allowed for in the certainty equivalent value.

At the end of the projection, shareholders are assumed to meet any shortfall of assets against liabilities or to receive a
share of any residual assets. The same applies to the certainty equivalent value.

The cost of credit risk accounts for the shareholder’s share of credit risk of investments in bonds that would have oth-
erwise been unaccounted for in other MCEV components. It is defined as the present value of charges on the projected
economic capital for credit risk.

The initial economic capital for credit risk is defined as the impact on the value of in-force business corresponding to
the 99% expected shortfall of the credit loss from the actual bond portfolio over one year, due to the migration and
default risk. The underlying credit risk calculations are performed using an internal model based on the Credit-
Metrics©2 methodology.

The economic capital for cost of credit risk has been projected based on mathematical reserves. An annual charge of
4% has been applied to the resulting projected economic capital.
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COST OF RESIDUAL NON-HEDGEABLE RISKS (CNHR) — The cost of residual non-hedgeable risks for risk factors such
as mortality, morbidity, expenses and lapse rates is calculated under a cost of capital approach. It is defined as the pres-
ent value of annual charges on the projected economic capital for residual non-hedgeable risks.

The initial capital for the CNHR has been calculated in line with Swiss Life’s internal model. The corresponding eco-
nomic capital is calculated by aggregating the stand-alone economic capital amounts that correspond to non-hedge-
able risk factors, notably the following:

– mortality
– longevity
– disability/morbidity
– recovery rates
– capital options
– lapses
– expenses

The drivers for projecting the economic capital for CNHR are generally based on the statutory solvency margin.

An annual charge of 4% has been applied to the resulting projected capital at risk. It represents the excess return or
risk premium that a shareholder might expect on capital exposed to non-hedgeable risks.

In order to be consistent with the CFO Forum Principles, no diversification between hedgeable and non-hedgeable
risks has been taken into account. Furthermore no diversification effects between market units have been accounted
for.

FRICTIONAL COSTS OF REQUIRED CAPITAL (FC) — The frictional costs of required capital for the covered business
are defined as the present value of the costs incurred by shareholders due to investment via the structure of an insur-
ance company (compared to direct investment as individuals), such as tax on profits generated by the insurance com-
pany or the costs of asset management. Other potential frictional costs such as agency costs or financial distress costs
have not been taken into account in the frictional costs of required capital.

4.2  NEW BUSINESS

New business is defined as covered business arising from the sale of new contracts and from new covers to existing
contracts during the reporting year, including cash flows arising from the projected renewal of those new contracts.
Higher premiums in Swiss group life contracts from wage increases are not considered new business. The value of new
business (VNB) reflects the additional value to shareholders created through the activity of writing new business dur-
ing the reporting period.

The value of new business of a period represents the effect on the MCEV as at end of period from writing new busi-
ness, i.e., it is the difference between the actual closing MCEV and the closing MCEV which would result if no new
business had been written during the period. This is known as the “marginal” approach to value of new business. It
applies to every MCEV component: CEV, TVOG, CNHR and FC. Legal constraints – e.g. “legal quotes” – or manage-
ment rules often apply to books of contracts as a whole instead of individual contracts. That is why the value of new
business can be dependent on the business in force before the writing of new business.

A “stand-alone” valuation for value of new business has been performed when the business in force is not affected by
writing new business (for example for unit-linked contracts). In this case, the value of new business has been valued
independently of the business in force.
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The value of new business is generally calculated with economic scenarios and assumptions as at end of period.

4.3  ASSET AND LIABILITY DATA

All assets and liabilities reflect the actual positions as at valuation date.

ASSETS — The asset model used for the calculation of the MCEV differentiates three main asset classes:

– cash and fixed income instruments
– equity-type investments (including real estate)
– derivatives

All bonds and bond-like securities (such as mortgages) are modelled as fixed or floating government bonds. For all
bonds, coupons and nominals have been recalibrated so that the valuation of the bonds using the reference yields con-
verges to the observed market value.

Equities, real estate, participations and alternative investments (hedge funds and private equities) are modelled sepa-
rately using appropriate indices for the corresponding currencies.

Current initial market values of assets have been taken where available (“marked-to-market”), or estimated where there
is no reliable market (“marked-to-model”), for example by discounting unquoted loan and mortgage asset proceeds.
Local regulatory and accounting frameworks (such as the amortisation of bonds or lower of cost or market principle)
are reflected.

When a substantial share of the assets is held in foreign currencies, these foreign assets are modelled explicitly (includ-
ing the foreign currency exchange risk).

INSURANCE LIABILITIES — Liabilities are valued in line with local statutory requirements generally using individual
policy data. For projection purposes, policies of the same product with similar risk profiles are grouped together to
form model points.

HYBRID DEBT — In accordance with the MCEV Principles (G3.4), hybrid debt allocated to covered business is valued
by discounting the corresponding coupon and nominal payments (liability cash flows) with reference interest rates
and spreads that would be used by capital markets for debt with similar characteristics. For the spread used for the
closing MCEV see section 5.1.1. The approach is consistent with the fair value disclosed in the Notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. For the opening MCEV and previous MCEV disclosures no spread was assumed.

4.4  ECONOMIC SCENARIO GENERATOR

The MCEV is calculated using a risk-neutral valuation, based on market consistent and arbitrage-free stochastic eco-
nomic scenarios. Under this approach, the key economic assumptions are:

– the reference rates
– interest rate and equity-type volatilities
– correlations between the economic risk factors
– inflation rates

The stochastic economic scenarios are generated by the economic scenario generator developed and provided by Bar-
rie & Hibbert, a UK based financial consulting company. For variable annuity products a dedicated economic scenario
generator is used.
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Since the assets and liabilities within the Swiss Life Group are mostly denominated in Swiss francs, euro or US dol-
lars, the economic scenarios reflect these three economies in a market consistent way. The exchange rates and dividend
yields are modelled as additional risk factors, as well as the inflation rates in each economy.

For the calculation of the MCEV and the value of the new business as at valuation date, 2000 economic scenarios (also
referred to as simulations) are used, ensuring convergence of the results for all market units. For the calculation of the
sensitivities and some steps in the movement analysis, some market units use fewer scenarios in connection with vari-
ance reduction techniques.

4.5  DYNAMIC MANAGEMENT ACTIONS AND POLICYHOLDER BEHAVIOUR

Anticipated dynamic management actions and policyholder behaviour mainly concern the following areas: profit shar-
ing for participating life businesses, asset allocation and realisation of gains and losses, and assumed policyholder
behaviour with regards to their contractual options. They are dependent on the economic scenario considered and
reflect local regulations and type of business.

The crediting rules for policyholders are consistent with current company practices and local regulatory environments,
in particular regarding the existence of a “legal quote”. They ensure that the statutory solvency rules (Solvency I, includ-
ing stress tests if legally required in the country) and other legal requirements are fulfilled for each projection year.

The rules for future asset allocations are consistent with going-concern assumptions. Asset realignment avoids devi-
ating from the strategic asset allocation by more than a predefined margin and takes place after each projected year.

Lapse rates from policyholders have been dynamically modelled. For traditional business, lapse rates depend on the
difference between the credited rate to the policyholders and the anticipated policyholders’ expectations. Lapse param-
eters depend on the country and product line considered.

4.6  LOOK-THROUGH PRINCIPLE

MCEV guidance requires that profits or losses incurred in service companies from managing covered business are
measured on a “look-through” basis. This principle ensures that all profits and losses incurred in relation to the cov-
ered business are passed to the corresponding entity, and consequently incorporated into the value of in-force busi-
ness.

The look-through principle is applied for the asset management services, corporate centre services and services related
to intellectual property management such as branding. The future profits or losses taken into account for these are
limited to those linked to the insurance business, after “legal quote” and taxes.

4.7  CONSOLIDATION

The Group MCEV for Swiss Life comprises MCEV results for covered business and IFRS net asset values for non-cov-
ered business. 

Covered business comprises all of Swiss Life’s major life, health and pension business as well as assumed external rein-
surance with the exception of Swiss Life Insurance Solutions AG, which is not material for MCEV purposes. In the
case of France, the remaining operations are sub-consolidated with their IFRS net asset value and also included in the
French covered business.
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Covered business relates to the operations in:

– Switzerland
– Germany
– France: sub-consolidated
– Luxembourg
– Liechtenstein
– Singapore

The sum of all market consistent embedded values for the market units of the covered business forms the total MCEV
for covered business.

Non-covered business comprises all other entities of the Swiss Life Group that are valued at the unadjusted IFRS net
asset value on a consolidated level, such as the distribution unit AWD or investment management, financing and hold-
ing companies. Non-covered business is added to the MCEV results from the covered business to form the Group
MCEV.

4.8  EMPLOYEE PENSION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PROGRAMMES

Allowance is made for gains or losses arising from the defined benefit pension plans for Swiss Life’s own employees.
In Switzerland there is a semi-autonomous pension fund with biometric risks covered by an insurance contract. In
other units the major part is covered by insurance contracts. The remaining part is modelled as commensurate
expenses in the projections.

The costs of share-based payment programmes for employees are not included in the MCEV, other than to the extent
that they are allowed for in the local statutory accounts upon which the shareholder net assets are based. Further infor-
mation on the costs of share-based payment programmes is given in the Group’s IFRS financial statements.
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5  Assumptions

5.1  ECONOMIC ASSUMPTIONS

The market consistent calibration of the economic scenarios is based on traded market instruments at the valuation
date wherever possible. This includes nominal and real yield curves, interest rate volatility and equity volatilities. Where
market data is not available or the market is not liquid enough, the model calibration is based on best estimate assump-
tions. This notably includes correlations, exchange rate volatilities and real estate volatilities.

5.1.1  REFERENCE RATES — Following market practice, the reference rates used for the calculation of the MCEV 2011
are based on the swap rates as at 31 December 2011 and include, where appropriate, a liquidity premium. Extrapola-
tion of the interest curves and determination of liquidity premiums closely follow the QIS 5 framework.

The underlying liquidity premium is determined by applying the formula Maximum (0; 50%*(corporate credit spread
over swap –40 bp)), where the corporate spreads over swap are measured with appropriate market indices. For the cor-
porate credit spread over swap rates for the two currencies euro and US dollar, we use the quotation from Markit©3

instead of using the two step approach as described in the QIS 5 guidance. For the spread over swap rates for Swiss
franc we use a SIX Swiss Exchange Bond Index (SBI® Corporate, introduced in 2011) composed of investment grade,
foreign and domestic corporate issues in Swiss franc.

In line with QIS 5 guidance and market practice, we apply no liquidity premium to PPLI, unit-linked, and variable
annuities business, 50% of the underlying liquidity premium to health insurance and assumed external reinsurance,
and 75% to all participating and other businesses, including traditional annuities. Also according to QIS 5 guidance,
liquidity premiums are applied over a term of 10 years for Swiss franc, 15 years for euro and 30 years for US dollar, and
phased out over the following five years.

As some of Swiss Life’s liabilities are running longer than asset durations are available on financial markets in suffi-
cient depth and liquidity, an extrapolation of yields is needed to assess swap maturities beyond this horizon. In 2011,
Swiss Life used the approach for extrapolation prescribed by EIOPA for QIS 5.

The whole yield curve is shifted for the 100 bp increase/decrease in reference rate sensitivity including the extrapolated
part beyond terms where market data is used for calibration of the reference rates.

The spread (on swap rates) applied for valuation of the hybrid debt as at 31 December 2011 is 363 bp. For the open-
ing MCEV no spread was assumed.

5.1.1.1  SWAP RATES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Economy 1 year 2 year 5 year 10 year 15 year 30 year

Switzerland 0.03% 0.09% 0.58% 1.24% 1.48% 1.47%

Euro Zone 1.42% 1.32% 1.73% 2.37% 2.67% 2.56%

United States 0.67% 0.72% 1.22% 2.02% 2.37% 2.59%
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5.1.1.2  SWAP RATES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Economy 1 year 2 year 5 year 10 year 15 year 30 year

Switzerland 0.18% 0.52% 1.40% 2.16% 2.41% 2.19%

Euro Zone 1.33% 1.56% 2.48% 3.31% 3.64% 3.50%

United States 0.44% 0.80% 2.15% 3.36% 3.83% 4.10%

The 100% liquidity premiums, relative to swaps rates as of 31 December 2011 amount to 62 bp for Swiss franc, 107 bp
for euro and 108 bp for US dollar. For the calculation of the MCEV 2010 Swiss Life had decided to set the liquidity
premiums to zero.

5.1.2  VOLATILITY ASSUMPTIONS — Volatility assumptions for the year-end 2011 and 2010 calculations are derived
from market data as at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The interest rate volatilities are based on implied volatilities of at-the-money receiver swaptions. The tenors are 20 years
for the euro and the US dollar and 10 years for the Swiss franc.

5.1.2.1  SWAPTION IMPLIED VOLATILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Economy 1 year option 2 year option 5 year option 10 year option 15 year option 30 year option

Switzerland 53.3% 47.3% 39.5% 45.3% 45.2% 31.4%

Euro Zone 38.5% 35.3% 30.3% 28.7% 29.3% 23.3%

United States 40.2% 36.9% 32.2% 28.4% 27.4% 32.8%

5.1.2.2  SWAPTION IMPLIED VOLATILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Economy 1 year option 2 year option 5 year option 10 year option 15 year option 30 year option

Switzerland 30.0% 27.8% 26.2% 31.0% n/a1 n/a1

Euro Zone 24.1% 22.0% 18.7% 18.2% 20.5% 20.5%

United States 25.1% 23.4% 20.2% 16.3% 15.2% 14.4%

1 n/a: not available

The equity implied volatilities are derived from the 10-year at-the-money equity put option prices.

5.1.2.3  EQUITY OPTION IMPLIED VOLATILITIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 AND 31 DECEMBER 2010

Volatility Volatility

Economy Index 2011 2010

Switzerland SMI 22.2% 21.0%

Euro Zone EuroStoxx 50 27.2% 27.3%

United States S&P 500 30.7% 27.4%



61Market Consistent Embedded Value

Swiss Life — Financial Statements 2011

For 31 December 2011 Swiss Life reassessed the property volatilities considering historical data.

5.1.2.4  PROPERTY VOLATILITIES USED FOR THE CALCULATION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 AND 31 DECEMBER 2010

Volatility Volatility

Economy 2011 2010

Switzerland 8.0% 8.0%

Euro Zone 13.0% 13.0%

5.1.3  CORRELATION ASSUMPTIONS — The correlation assumptions between different asset classes are based on his-
torical market data. The correlations between returns on equities and on 10-year zero coupon bonds are assumed to
be 13% for 2011 and 16% for 2010.

5.1.4  INFLATION ASSUMPTIONS — The inflation assumptions have been derived from inflation-linked bond prices,
where inflation-linked bonds are traded. For the Swiss economy, the real interest rate model is calibrated on the infla-
tion forecast by Consensus Economics, an international economic survey organisation.

5.1.4.1  FORWARD INFLATION RATES USED FOR THE CALCULATION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Economy 1 year 2 year 5 year 10 year 15 year 30 year

Switzerland 0.0% 0.0% 0.8% 1.5% 1.3% 1.2%

Euro Zone 1.6% 0.6% 0.7% 1.6% 1.9% 2.5%

5.1.4.2  FORWARD INFLATION RATES USED FOR THE CALCULATION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Economy 1 year 2 year 5 year 10 year 15 year 30 year

Switzerland 0.6% 0.6% 1.2% 1.8% 1.4% 1.2%

Euro Zone 2.1% 1.5% 1.7% 2.4% 2.6% 1.9%

5.1.5  REAL WORLD ASSUMPTIONS — These assumptions are used for the step “expected business contribution in
excess of reference rates” introduced in 2011.

For fixed interest assets, the “real world” investment return assumptions are based on the gross redemption yield on
the assets less a rating-dependent allowance for expected defaults derived from historical data.

Fixed risk premiums are used for other risky assets. Return assumptions for equity and property are derived from the
10-year reference rates, plus a risk premium; see table 5.1.5.1 below.
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5.1.5.1  EQUITY AND PROPERTY ASSUMPTIONS FOR REAL WORLD PROJECTION

Risk premiums by asset class 2011 2010

Equity 400 bp 400 bp

Property (Switzerland and Europe) 200 bp 200 bp

5.2  TAXATION AND LEGISLATION

Tax assumptions have been set in line with the local tax regime. Tax losses carried forward are considered in the pro-
jections. Taxation rules are based on individual companies’ total results. Tax impact of future new business has not
been allowed for. The following table 5.2.1 shows the corporate tax rates applied.

5.2.1  TAX ASSUMPTIONS

2011 2010

Switzerland 21.1% 22.3%

France 34.4% 34.4%

Germany 32.6% 32.6%

Luxembourg 22.0% 22.0%

Liechtenstein 13.0% 13.0%

Singapore 18.0% 18.0%

5.3  OPERATING ASSUMPTIONS

Non-economic assumptions such as mortality, morbidity and lapse rates have been determined by the respective busi-
ness units based on their best estimate as at the valuation date. Best estimate assumptions are set by considering past
and current experience.

Expense assumptions are reconciled with past and current experience. They do not account for future cost reductions.
Projected expenses are subject to inflation. All the expected expense overruns affecting the covered business, such as
overhead expenses and development costs in new markets have been allowed for in the calculations. Corporate costs
are included in the expenses of market units by means of a “look-through” procedure (see section 4.6).
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6  External Auditors’ Statement

To the Board of Directors of
Swiss Life Holding Limited
Zurich

Auditor’s Report on Market Consistent Embedded Value

We have audited the accompanying Market Consistent Embedded Value Report (“MCEV Report”) of Swiss Life Hold-
ing Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2011. The embedded value information included in the MCEV Report has
been prepared in accordance with the Market Consistent Embedded Value (“MCEV”) Principles issued by the Euro-
pean Insurance CFO Forum, as described in sections 1 and 4 of the MCEV Report.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the MCEV Report, including the applied methodology
and the assumptions used. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the MCEV Report has been prop-
erly prepared in accordance with the MCEV Principles.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards as well as the International Standards on Audit-
ing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
MCEV Report is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the MCEV Report. An audit also includes assessing the principles used and significant
estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the adequacy of the overall presentation of the MCEV
Report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the MCEV Report of Swiss Life Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2011 has been properly
prepared in accordance with the MCEV Principles. 

This report has been prepared solely for the Board of Directors of Swiss Life Holding Ltd in accordance with the terms
of our engagement letter. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or
to any other person to whom this report is shown except where explicitly agreed by our prior consent in writing. This
report does not extend to any financial statements of Swiss Life Holding Ltd.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Ray Kunz Morgan Schaeffer
Audit expert

Zurich, 28 February 2012



64 Market Consistent Embedded Value

7  Glossary and List of Abbreviations

ANNUAL PREMIUM EQUIVALENT (APE) — Volume measure for new business. Sum of regular premiums from new
business +10% of single premiums on business written during the period.

AVERAGE ANNUAL PREMIUM MULTIPLIER — The average annual premium multiplier is determined as the difference
between PVNBP and the new business single premiums, divided by new business annual premiums.

BEST ESTIMATE ASSUMPTIONS — A best estimate assumption should equal the mean estimate (probability weighted
average) of outcomes of that risk variable.

CERTAINTY EQUIVALENT SCENARIO — Economic scenario under which asset returns are equal to the reference rates.

CERTAINTY EQUIVALENT VALUE (CEV) — Certainty equivalent value is defined as the present value of the future
shareholders’ statutory profits (net of tax) under the certainty equivalent scenario.

CFO FORUM — The CFO Forum is a high-level discussion group formed and attended by the Chief Financial Officers
of major European listed, and some non-listed, insurance companies. Its aim is to discuss issues relating to proposed
new accounting regulations for their businesses and how they can create greater transparency for investors. It pub-
lished the MCEV Principles together with a detailed Basis for Conclusions on 4 June 2008 and an amendment in Octo-
ber 2009.

COST OF CREDIT RISK — The cost of credit risk accounts for the credit risk of investments in bonds that would 
otherwise have been unaccounted for in other MCEV components.

COST OF RESIDUAL NON-HEDGEABLE RISKS (CNHR) — The cost of residual non-hedgeable risks accounts for risk
factors such as mortality, morbidity, expenses and lapse rates.

COVERED BUSINESS — Covered business includes all of Swiss Life’s major life, health and pension business as well as
assumed external reinsurance. In the case of France, all business operations are included in the covered business.

FREE SURPLUS (FS) — The free surplus is the market value of any assets allocated to, but not required to support, the
in-force covered business at the valuation date.

FRICTIONAL COSTS OF REQUIRED CAPITAL (FC) — The additional investment and taxation cost incurred by share-
holders through investing required capital in the company compared to direct investment as individuals.

GROUP MCEV — The Group MCEV for Swiss Life comprises MCEV results for covered business and IFRS net asset val-
ues for non-covered business of the Swiss Life Group (as explained above under point 4.7).

IFRS — International Financial Reporting Standards

“LEGAL QUOTE” — Statutory minimum policyholder participation ratio

LIQUIDITY PREMIUM — As stipulated in the MCEV Principles, liquidity premiums are included in swap yield curves
in cases where liabilities are not liquid.

LOOK-THROUGH PRINCIPLE — Method by which profits or losses from service companies within the Swiss Life
Group, which are directly related to managing the covered business, are included in the MCEV and in the value of new
business.
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MARKET CONSISTENT EMBEDDED VALUE (MCEV) — Market consistent embedded value is a measure of the consol-
idated value of shareholders’ interests in the in-force covered business of the Swiss Life Group.

NET ASSET VALUE (NAV) — The net asset value is the market value of assets attributed to the covered business over
and above that required to back liabilities for covered business.

NEW BUSINESS MARGIN — The value of new business divided by the present value of new business premiums (PVNBP)
or divided by the annual premium equivalent (APE), respectively.

NON-COVERED BUSINESS — All businesses of the Swiss Life Group which are not accounted for under covered busi-
ness, such as investment management and AWD, are included in the non-covered business of the Group MCEV by
means of their IFRS net asset values.

NON-TRADITIONAL BUSINESS — Unit-linked-type contracts, with or without additional financial guarantees and pol-
icyholder options.

OPERATING MCEV EARNINGS — Change in MCEV and in Group MCEV in the reporting period after initial and clos-
ing adjustments, economic variances and other non-operating variances, as well as other movements in IFRS net
equity.

PRESENT VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS PREMIUMS (PVNBP) — Volume measure for new business. It represents the pres-
ent value of premiums from new business. It is the sum of single premiums and the present value of periodic premi-
ums from new business.

QIS 5 — EIOPA’s fifth quantitative impact study for Solvency II.

REFERENCE RATE — The reference rates used for the calculation of the MCEV are based on the swap rates at the val-
uation date.

REQUIRED CAPITAL (RC) — The required capital is the market value of assets, attributed to the covered business over
and above that required to back liabilities for covered business, whose distribution to shareholders is restricted based
on statutory solvency.

TIME VALUE OF FINANCIAL OPTIONS AND GUARANTEES (TVOG) — The TVOG represents the additional market
price of those financial options and guarantees in excess of the intrinsic value of options and guarantees which is
already allowed for in the certainty equivalent value.

TOTAL MCEV EARNINGS — Change in MCEV and in Group MCEV in the reporting period after initial and closing
adjustments and other movements in IFRS net equity.

VALUE OF IN-FORCE BUSINESS (VIF) — The value of in-force business represents the net present value of future prof-
its emerging from operations and assets backing liabilities, after accounting for TVOG, CNHR and FC.

VALUE OF NEW BUSINESS (VNB) — The value of new business reflects the additional value to shareholders created by
writing new business during the reporting period.

VARIABLE ANNUITIES — Unit-linked contracts with additional guarantees and policyholder options.
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Consolidated Statement of Income (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

INCOME

Premiums earned on insurance contracts 11 105 11 456

Premiums earned on investment contracts with discretionary participation 685 523

Premiums ceded to reinsurers –191 –226

Net earned premiums 7 11 599 11 753

Policy fees earned on insurance contracts 39 41

Policy fees earned on investment and unit-linked contracts 256 257

Net earned policy fees 7 295 298

Commission income 8 893 922

Investment income 5, 8 4 216 4 242

Net gains/losses on financial assets 5, 8 550 –4 430

Net gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 5, 8 –820 4 250

Net gains/losses on investment property 5, 15 513 306

Other income 8 45 503

TOTAL INCOME 17 291 17 844

EXPENSES

Benefits and claims under insurance contracts –12 008 –12 289

Benefits and claims under investment contracts with discretionary participation –709 –543

Benefits and claims recovered from reinsurers 103 128

Net insurance benefits and claims 8 –12 614 –12 704

Policyholder participation –791 –1 073

Interest expense 8 –274 –311

Commission expense 8 –983 –1 008

Employee benefits expense 8 –835 –846

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 –554 –594

Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets 17, 18 –11 –5

Other expenses 8 –530 –609

TOTAL EXPENSES –16 592 –17 150

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 699 694

Borrowing costs –120 –104

Share of results of associates 5, 16 6 6

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 585 596

Income tax expense 25 21 –36

NET PROFIT 606 560

Net profit attributable to

equity holders of Swiss Life Holding 605 557

non-controlling interests 1 3

NET PROFIT 606 560

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of Swiss Life Holding

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 6 18.97 17.46

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 6 18.87 17.37
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

In CHF million

2011 2010

NET PROFIT 606 560

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations –71 –553

Financial assets available for sale 3 161 594

Cash flow hedges 173 2

Revaluation surplus on investment property 14 –18

Financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables 110 237

Policyholder participation –1 639 –482

Shadow accounting –141 –26

Income tax relating to other comprehensive income –343 –57

NET OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1 264 –303

TOTAL NET COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1 870 257

Total net comprehensive income attributable to

equity holders of Swiss Life Holding 1 869 261

non-controlling interests 1 –4

TOTAL NET COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1 870 257
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 084 6 940

Derivatives 9 1 318 2 965

Assets held for sale 30 22 94

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 24 120 23 395

Financial assets available for sale 11 67 264 57 950

Loans and receivables 13, 33 27 202 29 713

Financial assets held to maturity 14, 33 5 046 5 229

Financial assets pledged as collateral 12, 35 969 1 060

Investment property 15 15 445 14 142

Investments in associates 16 74 63

Reinsurance assets 23 380 365

Property and equipment 17 539 569

Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 18 3 722 3 982

Current income tax assets 2 10

Deferred income tax assets 25 153 150

Other assets 19 535 576

TOTAL ASSETS 151 875 147 203
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

Derivatives 9 1 186 498

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 30 15 –

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 10 18 782 17 571

Investment contracts 20 11 358 11 279

Borrowings 21, 33 2 624 2 142

Other financial liabilities 22, 33 7 225 10 920

Insurance liabilities 23 93 365 90 305

Policyholder participation liabilities 5 150 3 436

Employee benefit liabilities 24 1 261 2 049

Current income tax liabilities 120 295

Deferred income tax liabilities 25 1 144 821

Provisions 26 150 131

Other liabilities 19 333 319

TOTAL LIABILITIES 142 713 139 766

EQUITY

Share capital 164 308

Share premium 1 651 1 646

Treasury shares –25 –18

Foreign currency translation differences 27 –833 –762

Gains/losses recognised directly in equity 27 1 544 209

Retained earnings 6 626 6 021

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 9 127 7 404

Non-controlling interests 35 33

TOTAL EQUITY 9 162 7 437

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 151 875 147 203
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

In CHF million

2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Premiums, policy fees and deposits received, net of reinsurance 13 264 13 868

Benefits and claims paid, net of reinsurance –12 695 –12 781

Interest received 3 544 3 558

Dividends received 108 133

Commissions received 896 1 202

Rentals received 747 722

Interest paid –57 –51

Commissions, employee benefit and other payments –2 390 –3 787

Net cash flows from

derivatives 1 640 2 269

financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 397 266

financial assets available for sale –4 945 –11 984

loans 969 2 929

financial assets held to maturity 127 92

investment property –833 –997

deposits –2 652 3 829

other operating assets and liabilities –26 2

Income taxes paid –183 –56

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES –2 089 –786
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES –2 089 –786

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of investments in associates 16 –10 –

Sales of investments in associates 16 0 2

Dividends received from associates 16 4 3

Purchases of property and equipment –29 –24

Sales of property and equipment 2 41

Purchases of computer software and other intangible assets –20 –21

Acquisition of insurance portfolio, net of cash and cash equivalents 31 100 –

Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents 29 –9 –

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 38 1

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of debt instruments 490 50

Redemption of debt instruments –196 –280

Reduction in par value –143 –77

Purchases of treasury shares –9 –1

Sales of treasury shares 1 10

Capital contributions from non-controlling interests 1 0

Borrowing costs paid –112 –109

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests –1 0

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 31 –407

TOTAL CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS –2 020 –1 192

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 6 940 8 683

Foreign currency differences 164 –551

Total change in cash and cash equivalents –2 020 –1 192

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT END OF PERIOD 5 084 6 940

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand and demand deposits 2 615 3 120

Cash equivalents 23 1 487

Cash and cash equivalents for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 2 446 2 333

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS AT END OF PERIOD 5 084 6 940
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (unaudited)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million Foreign Gains/losses
currency recognised Total Non-

Share Share Treasury translation directly in Retained shareholders’ controlling
Notes capital premium shares differences equity earnings equity interests Total equity

Balance as at 1 January 308 1 646 –18 –762 209 6 021 7 404 33 7 437

Total net comprehensive income 27 – – – –71 1 335 605 1 869 1 1 870

Reduction in par value 27 –144 1 – – – – –143 – –143

Equity-settled share-based payments – 5 – – – – 5 0 5

Purchases of treasury shares – – –9 – – – –9 – –9

Sales of treasury shares – –1 2 – – – 1 – 1

Acquisitions of subsidiaries – – – – – – – 1 1

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries – – – – – 0 0 0 0

Capital contributions from
non-controlling interests – – – – – – – 1 1

Dividends – – – – – – – –1 –1

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 164 1 651 –25 –833 1 544 6 626 9 127 35 9 162

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million Foreign Gains/losses
currency recognised Total Non-

Share Share Treasury translation directly in Retained shareholders’ controlling
Notes capital premium shares differences equity earnings equity interests Total equity

Balance as at 1 January 385 1 697 –25 –216 –41 5 408 7 208 37 7 245

Total net comprehensive income 27 – – – –546 250 557 261 –4 257

Convertible debt, reclassification of
equity component – –56 – – – 56 – – –

Reduction in par value 27 –77 0 – – – – –77 – –77

Equity-settled share-based payments – 3 – – – – 3 – 3

Purchases of treasury shares – – –1 – – – –1 – –1

Sales of treasury shares – 2 8 – – – 10 – 10

Capital contributions from
non-controlling interests – – – – – – – 0 0

Dividends – – – – – – – 0 0

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 308 1 646 –18 –762 209 6 021 7 404 33 7 437
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
1  General Information

The Swiss Life Group is one of Europe’s leading providers of life insurance and pension solutions. In Switzerland,
France and Germany, the Group offers individuals and corporations comprehensive advice and a broad range of 
products through its own sales force as well as brokers and banks. Swiss Life provides international corporations with
employee benefits solutions from a single source, and is one of the global leaders in structured life and pension 
products for international high net worth individuals. The AWD Group has been part of the Swiss Life Group since
2008. Hanover-based AWD is one of the leading European financial services providers in the medium and high-income
client segments and offers its clients comprehensive financial advisory services. Germany, the UK, Austria and Switzer-
land are the AWD Group’s core markets.

The following events had an influence on the period under review:

REDUCTION IN PAR VALUE

As approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting of Swiss Life Holding Ltd (hereinafter referred to as 
“Swiss Life Holding”) on 5 May 2011, a reduction in par value of CHF 4.50 per registered share was effected in 2011.
The payout took place on 28 July 2011 and amounted to CHF 143 million.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On [•] March 2012, the Board of Directors approved the annual financial statements and the financial report and
authorised them for issue. The financial report, therefore, only reflects events up to that date.

2  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies are set out below. These policies have been applied consistently to all the periods
presented unless otherwise stated.

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of Swiss Life have been prepared in accordance with and comply with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a histori-
cal cost basis, except for the following assets and liabilities which are stated at their fair value: derivatives, financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets classified as available for sale and investment
property.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

2.2  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE IN THE CURRENT PERIOD — In May 2010, the International
Accounting Standards Board issued annual improvements to IFRS. The improvements are effective for annual peri-
ods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1 January 2011, as appropriate. An amendment to IFRS 7 Financial Instru-
ments: Disclosures clarifies certain disclosures with regard to credit risk and quantitative disclosures. The amended
disclosures are reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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In November 2009, an amendment to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement was issued. The
amendment applies in the limited circumstances when an entity is subject to minimum funding requirements and
makes an early payment of contributions to cover those requirements. The amendment permits an entity to recognise
the benefit of such an early payment as an asset. The Interpretation has been effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2011. The Swiss Life Group is currently not affected by the amendment.

In November 2009, IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments was issued. The Interpreta-
tion addresses the accounting by an entity when the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and result in the
entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to extinguish all or part of the financial liability. The Inter-
pretation has been effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The Swiss Life Group does not 
currently have such extinguishments.

In November 2009, amendments to IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures were issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 and clarify and sim-
plify the definition of a related party. The requirements for government-related entities to disclose details of all trans-
actions with the government and other government-related entities are removed. The Swiss Life Group is currently not
affected by these changes.

In October 2009, an amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation was issued. The amendment addresses
the accounting for rights issues that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the issuer.
Previously such rights issues were accounted for as derivative liabilities. Provided certain conditions are met, such
rights issues are classified as equity under the amendment regardless of the currency in which the exercise price is
denominated. The amendment has been effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. The Swiss
Life Group does not currently have such rights issues.

The following amended Standards and Interpretations are not relevant to the Swiss Life Group:

– IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Limited exemption from comparative
IFRS 7 disclosures for first-time adopters

– Annual improvements as issued in May 2010, except for the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclo-
sures as discussed above.

2.3  CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of Swiss Life Hold-
ing and its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity in which Swiss Life Holding owns directly or indirectly more than
50% of the voting rights, or in which it otherwise has the power to exercise control over operations. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which effective control is obtained. All intercompany balances, transactions and unre-
alised gains and losses on such transactions have been eliminated. A listing of the Group’s subsidiaries is set out in
note 37. The financial effect of acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries is shown in note 29. Associates for which the
Group has between 20% and 50% of the voting rights and/or exercises significant influence are accounted for using
the equity method. The Group’s share of net income for the year is recognised as a share of results of associates and
the ownership interest in the investment is recorded in the balance sheet at an amount that reflects its share of the net
assets. The Group’s share of net income is included from the date on which significant influence begins until the date
on which significant influence ceases. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impair-
ment of the asset transferred. The carrying amount includes goodwill on the acquisition. A listing of the Group’s prin-
cipal associates is shown in note 16.
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Non-controlling interest is the part of profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary attributable to equity interest that
is not owned, directly or indirectly, through subsidiaries by the parent. The amount of non-controlling interest com-
prises the proportion of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities not attributa-
ble, directly or indirectly, to the parent at the date of the original acquisition, goodwill attributable to non-controlling
interest, if any, and the proportion of changes in equity not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent since the
date of acquisition.

2.4  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION AND TRANSACTIONS

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY — Items included in the financial statements of the Group are meas-
ured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group’s entities operate (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of Swiss francs (CHF), which is the Group’s
presentation currency.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATES

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 Average 2011 Average 2010

1 British pound (GBP) 1.4559 1.4560 1.4221 1.6111

1 Croatian kuna (HRK) 0.1615 0.1691 0.1658 0.1893

1 Czech koruna (CZK) 0.0478 0.0498 0.0501 0.0546

1 Euro (EUR) 1.2166 1.2483 1.2345 1.3827

100 Hungarian forint (HUF) 0.3867 0.4490 0.4409 0.5008

100 Polish zloty (PLN) 27.2647 31.5608 29.8986 34.5489

1 Romanian new leu (RON) 0.2813 0.2916 0.2908 0.3276

1 Singapore dollar (SGD) 0.7242 0.7276 0.7053 0.7649

1 US dollar (USD) 0.9388 0.9339 0.8866 1.0423

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION — On consolidation, assets and liabilities of Group entities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into Swiss francs at year-end exchange rates. Income and expense items are translated
into Swiss francs at the annual average exchange rate. Goodwill reported before 1 January 2005 is translated at histor-
ical exchange rates. Goodwill for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005 is carried in the foreign oper-
ation’s functional currency and is translated into Swiss francs at year-end exchange rates. The resulting translation 
differences are recorded directly in equity as cumulative translation adjustments. On disposal of foreign entities, such
translation differences are recognised in income as part of the gain or loss on the sale.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS — For individual Group entities, foreign currency transactions are accounted
for using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Outstanding balances in foreign currencies at year-end aris-
ing from foreign currency transactions are translated at year-end exchange rates for monetary items while historical
rates are used for non-monetary items. Those non-monetary items in foreign currencies recorded at fair values are
translated at the exchange rate on the revaluation date.

2.5  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash amounts represent cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are primarily short-term highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less.

2.6  DERIVATIVES

The Group enters into forward contracts, futures, forward rate agreements, currency and interest rate swaps, options
and other derivative financial instruments for hedging risk exposures or for trading purposes. The notional amounts
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or contract volumes of derivatives, which are used to express the volume of instruments outstanding and to provide
a basis for comparison with other financial instruments, do not, except for certain foreign exchange contracts, repre-
sent the amounts that are effectively exchanged by the parties and, therefore, do not measure the Group’s exposure to
credit risk. The amounts exchanged are calculated on the basis of the notional amounts or contract volumes and other
terms of the derivatives that relate to interest or exchange rates, securities prices and the volatility of these rates and
prices.

All derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value as assets when favourable to the Group and as liabil-
ities when unfavourable. Gains and losses arising on remeasurement to fair value are recognised immediately in the
income statement, except for derivatives that are used for cash flow hedging.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or in insurance contracts which are not closely related to the host
contract are separated and measured at fair value, unless they represent surrender options with a fixed strike price
embedded in host insurance contracts and host investment contracts with discretionary participation features.
Changes in the fair value are included in income. Derivatives embedded in insurance contracts which are closely related
or which are insurance contracts themselves, such as guaranteed annuity options or guaranteed interest rates, are
reflected in the measurement of the insurance liabilities. Options, guarantees and other derivatives embedded in an
insurance contract that do not carry any insurance risk are recognised as derivatives.

Derivatives and other financial instruments are also used to hedge or modify exposures to interest rate, foreign cur-
rency and other risks if certain criteria are met. Such financial instruments are designated to offset changes in the fair
value of an asset or liability and unrecognised firm commitments (fair value hedge), or changes in future cash flows
of an asset, liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) or hedges of net investments in foreign
operations. In a qualifying fair value hedge, the change in fair value of a hedging derivative is recognised in income.
The change in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk adjusts the carrying value of the hedged
item and is also recognised in income.

In a qualifying cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging derivative is recognised directly
in equity. Any ineffective portion of the gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement. For a hedged
forecast transaction that results in the recognition of a financial asset or liability, the associated gain or loss recognised
in equity is reclassified into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability
assumed affects profit or loss. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in income. However, when a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to income.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (net investment hedges) are accounted for similarly to cash flow
hedges, i.e. the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity and any
ineffective protion is recognised immediately in the income statement. The gains or losses recognised in equity are
reclassified to the income statement on the disposal of the foreign operation.

When a hedge relationship is no longer effective, expires or is terminated, hedge accounting is discontinued from that
point on.

2.7  FINANCIAL ASSETS

“Regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on the trade date. The amortisation of premiums
and discounts on investments is computed using the effective interest method and is recognised in income as an
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adjustment of yield. Dividends are recorded as revenue on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recognised on an
accrual basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset have expired
or substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred or the risks and rewards have neither been
transferred nor retained, but control of the asset has been transferred.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (FVPL) — Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss comprise financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets which the Group buys with the intention to resell in the near term are classified as held for trading.
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss are irrevocably designated as such when initially recog-
nised. Financial assets are primarily designated as at fair value through profit or loss in the following instances:

– Financial assets backing insurance liabilities and liabilities arising from investment contracts for the account and
risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers (contracts with unit-linked features, separate accounts, private placement
life insurance) in order to avoid measurement inconsistencies with the corresponding liabilities.

– Certain equity instruments with a quoted price in an active market which are managed on a fair value basis.
– Certain financial assets with embedded derivatives which otherwise would have to be separated.
– Certain financial assets which share a risk with other financial instruments and give rise to opposite changes in fair

value that tend to offset each other (“economic hedges”).

Interest, dividend income and realised and unrealised gains and losses are included in net gains/losses on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE (AFS) — Financial assets classified as available for sale are carried at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as available for sale if they do not qualify as held to maturity, held for trading, loans
and receivables or if they are not designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from fair
value changes, being the difference between fair value and cost/amortised cost, are reported in equity. On disposal of
an AFS investment, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred from equity to income for the period. Gains and losses
on disposal are determined using the average cost method.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES — Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments. Loans include loans originated by the Group and investments in debt instruments which are not quoted in an
active market and for which no intention of sale in the near term exists. Loans are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs, or direct origination costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Financial assets reclassified from financial assets available for sale to loans due to the disappearance of an active 
market are not reclassified back to financial assets available for sale if the market becomes active again.

FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD TO MATURITY (HTM) — Financial assets which the Group has the ability and positive intent
to hold to maturity are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

FINANCIAL ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL — Transfers of securities under repurchase agreements or under 
lending agreements continue to be recognised if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained. They
are accounted for as collateralised borrowings, i.e. the cash received is recognised with a corresponding obligation to
return it, which is included in other financial liabilities. 
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Financial assets that have been sold under a repurchase agreement or lent under an agreement to return them, and
where the transferee has the right to sell or repledge the securities given as collateral, are reclassified to financial assets
pledged as collateral.

Measurement rules are consistent with the ones for corresponding unrestricted financial assets.

2.8  IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group reviews the carrying value of financial assets regularly for indications of impairment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST — The Group assesses at each balance sheet date if there is objective evi-
dence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Held-to-maturity securities and loans and receivables
are assessed for impairment when a significant decrease in market value related to credit risk arises, namely after a
downgrade of a debtor’s rating below single B– after initial recognition (i.e. CCC or lower according to Standard and
Poor’s or equivalent) or when payments of principal and/or interest are overdue by more than 90 days. If there is objec-
tive evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows from groups of such assets
by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being
evaluated.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit 
rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by the amount that represents the difference between
the carrying amount and the new amortised cost value by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the rever-
sal is recognised in income.

FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE (AVAILABLE FOR SALE) — At each balance sheet date, an assessment is
made whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of
an equity instrument classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered objective evidence of impairment. In this respect, a decline of 30% or more is regarded as
significant, and a period of 12 months or longer is considered to be prolonged. In such a situation, the impairment
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value – is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement. After recognition of an impairment loss, any further declines in fair value are
recognised in the income statement, and subsequent increases in fair value are recognised directly in equity. 
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Available-for-sale debt securities are assessed for impairment when a significant decrease in market value related to
credit risk arises, namely after a downgrade of a debtor’s rating below single B– after initial recognition (i.e. CCC or
lower according to Standard and Poor’s or equivalent) or when payments of principal and/or interest are overdue by
more than 90 days. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss
is reversed through the income statement.

Impairment losses are recognised in income as part of net gains and losses on financial assets.

2.9  INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment property is property (land or a building or both) held by the Group to earn rentals or for capital appreci-
ation or both, rather than for administrative purposes.

Investment property includes completed investment property and investment property under construction. Com-
pleted investment property consists of investments in residential, commercial and mixed-use properties primarily
located within Switzerland.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately, they are accounted for separately. If these
portions could not be sold separately, the portion is investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
administrative purposes.

Investment property is carried at fair value and changes in fair values are recognised in income. Fair values are deter-
mined either on the basis of periodic independent valuations or by using discounted cash flow projections. The valu-
ation of each investment property is reviewed by an independent recognised valuer at least every three years. Rental
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investment property under construction is also measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognised in
the income statement. However, where the fair value is not reliably determinable, the property is measured at cost until
either its fair value becomes reliably measurable or construction is completed.

Investment property being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property, or for which the market has become
less active, continues to be measured at fair value.

If an item of property and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed, the positive 
difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised
in equity as a revaluation surplus. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recog-
nised in the income statement. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property is recognised in net profit
or loss for the period. Upon the disposal of such investment property, any surplus previously recorded in equity is
transferred to retained earnings; the transfer is not made through income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property and equipment, and its fair value at
the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

2.10  INSURANCE OPERATIONS

DEFINITION OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS — Insurance contracts are contracts under which one party accepts signif-
icant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified
uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder. Significant insurance risk exists if an insured event could
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cause an insurer to pay significant additional benefits in any scenario, excluding scenarios that lack commercial sub-
stance (i.e. have no discernible effect on the economics of the transaction). The classification of contracts identifies
both the insurance contracts that the Group issues and reinsurance contracts that the Group holds. As a Group pol-
icy, Swiss Life considers those contracts to be insurance contracts that require the payment of additional benefits in
excess of 10% of the benefits that would be payable if the insured event had not occurred, excluding scenarios that lack
commercial substance.

The Group has assessed the significance of insurance risk on a contract-by-contract basis. Contracts that do not trans-
fer insurance risk at inception but that transfer insurance risk at a later date are classified as insurance from inception
unless the Group remains free to price the insurance premium at a later date. In this case, the contract is classified as
insurance when the insurance premiums are specified. A contract that qualifies as an insurance contract remains an
insurance contract until all rights and obligations are extinguished or expire.

Contracts under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Group from the policyholder is not significant are classi-
fied as investment contracts.

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH AND WITHOUT DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION FEATURES — For investment
contracts that contain discretionary participation features (see below) the same recognition and measurement princi-
ples as for insurance contracts apply. For investment contracts without discretionary participation features the recog-
nition and measurement rules for financial instruments apply.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT PRINCIPLES — Subject to certain limitations, the Group uses its existing
accounting policies for the recognition and measurement of insurance contracts and investment contracts with dis-
cretionary participation features that it issues (including related deferred acquisition costs and related intangible
assets) and reinsurance contracts that it holds. The existing accounting policies for recognition and measurement have
primarily been based on the requirements of the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (US
GAAP).

The accounting policies for insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features
have been modified as appropriate to be consistent with the IFRS requirements. Guidance dealing with similar and
related issues, definitions, recognition and measurement criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses as set out
in the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements has been considered.

DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION FEATURES (DPF) — Discretionary participation features are defined in IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts as contractual rights to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits which
are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits and whose amount or timing is contractually at
the discretion of the issuer. These DPF are contractually based on the performance of a specified pool of contracts or
a specified type of contract or on the realised and unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by
the issuer or on the profit or loss of the company. The unrealised investment returns comprise gains/losses recognised
directly in equity.

The bonuses which are allocated to the policyholders in the participating insurance business (insurance and invest-
ment contracts) in Switzerland, France, Germany, Luxembourg and Liechtenstein generally follow the definition of
DPF as set out in IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts is silent on the measurement of the amounts identified as DPF. This topic will be solved
in phase II of the project of the International Accounting Standards Board on insurance contracts.
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The accounting for the amounts identified as DPF has been done as follows:

In jurisdictions where no statutory minimum distribution ratio (“legal quote”) exists, the contractual right to receive,
as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits which are likely to be a significant portion of the total
contractual benefits arises when management ratifies the allocation of policyholder bonuses. When ratified by man-
agement, a corresponding liability is set up. To the extent discretion with regard to amount and/or timing is involved,
these amounts are included within policyholder participation liabilities. In that respect the policyholder bonus reserve
set up in the statutory accounts for these contracts is regarded as discretionary. For these contracts the entire DPF is
classified as a liability.

In other jurisdictions, a statutory minimum distribution ratio (“legal quote”) exists for certain types of business. Geo-
graphical areas in which the Swiss Life Group is present and in which such a statutory minimum distribution ratio
(“legal quote”) exists are as follows: Switzerland (only group business subject to “legal quote”), France and Germany.
For these contracts the Swiss Life Group defines DPF as the policyholder bonus reserve set up in the statutory accounts
and the amount of temporary valuation differences between the IFRS basis and statutory basis on the assets and lia-
bilities relating to the respective insurance portfolio measured using the statutory minimum distribution ratio (“legal
quote”). The policy of the Swiss Life Group is to classify as a liability the entire DPF as defined.

When such temporary valuation differences disappear (e.g. management decides to realise certain unrealised gains and
losses on assets), additional benefits which arise from the application of the statutory minimum distribution ratio
(“legal quote”) are allocated to the policyholders and become part of their guaranteed benefits. These amounts are
always accounted for as liabilities.

Because there is a direct effect on the measurement of DPF liabilities when asset gains or losses are realised, changes
in these liabilities are recognised directly in equity when, and only when, the valuation differences on the assets arise
from gains or losses recognised directly in equity (“shadow accounting”).

As the liabilities to policyholders arising from the insurance business are fully recognised, no further liabilities relat-
ing to the rights arising from DPF have been set up.

The statutory minimum distribution ratios (“legal quote”) relating to the Swiss Life Group’s operations are as follows:

SWITZERLAND — Group business subject to “legal quote”: At least 90% of the calculated income on the savings, risk
and cost components minus the expenses thereof must be allocated to the policyholders. All other business: No “legal
quote”.

FRANCE — 85% of the investment result and 90% of any other results are allocated to the policyholders as a minimum.

GERMANY — A minimum of 90% of the total investment result less 100% of the minimum guaranteed interest on the
policyholder account, a minimum of 75% of the risk result and a minimum of 50% of the positive expense result is
allocated to the policyholder.

LUXEMBOURG/LIECHTENSTEIN — No statutory minimum distribution ratios are in place.

NON-DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION FEATURES — Certain policyholder participation systems do not satisfy the cri-
teria for discretionary participation features. These policyholder bonuses might be guaranteed elements. Some poli-
cyholder bonuses are based on benchmark interest rates which are credited to the policyholders. For certain products,
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policyholder bonuses are based on the development of biometric parameters such as mortality and morbidity. These
policyholder bonuses are allocated based on the risk result of the contracts involved. The amount and timing of these
bonuses are not subject to management discretion and are accrued to the policyholders’ liabilities based on the rele-
vant contractual terms and conditions.

For investment-type products bonuses are only accrued on deposits under policyholder accounts if the policyholders
were entitled to receive those bonuses upon surrender at the balance sheet date.

INCOME AND RELATED EXPENSES FROM INSURANCE CONTRACTS AND INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH DIS-

CRETIONARY PARTICIPATION FEATURES — Premiums from traditional life insurance contracts are recognised when
due from the policyholder. Insurance liabilities are established in order to recognise future benefits and expenses. Ben-
efits are recognised as an expense when due.

Amounts collected as premiums from investment-type contracts such as universal life and unit-linked contracts are
reported as deposits. Only those parts of the premiums used to cover the insured risks and associated costs are treated
as premium income. These include fees for the cost of insurance, administrative charges and surrender charges. Ben-
efits recognised under expenses include claims for benefits incurred in the period under review that exceed the related
deposits under policyholder contracts and interest that is credited to the appropriate insurance policy accounts.

For contracts with a short duration (e.g. most non-life contracts), premiums are recorded as written upon inception
of the contract and are earned primarily on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related policy coverage. The unearned
premium reserve represents the portion of the premiums written relating to the unexpired terms of coverage.

INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND LIABILITIES FROM INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPA-

TION FEATURES

FUTURE LIFE POLICYHOLDER BENEFIT LIABILITIES — These liabilities are determined by using the net-level-premium
method. Depending on the type of profit participation, the calculations are based on various actuarial assumptions
as to mortality, interest rates, investment returns, expenses and persistency, including a margin for adverse deviation.
The assumptions are initially set at contract issue and are locked in except for deficiency. 

If the actual results show that the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities together with anticipated future rev-
enues (less related deferred acquisition costs (DAC) and related intangible assets) are not adequate to meet the future
obligations and to recover the unamortised DAC or intangible assets, the entire deficiency is recognised in profit or
loss, initially by reducing the unamortised DAC or intangible assets and subsequently by increasing the insurance lia-
bilities. The liability adequacy test is performed at each reporting date in accordance with a loss recognition test con-
sidering current estimates of future cash flows including those resulting from embedded options and guarantees.

POLICYHOLDER DEPOSITS — For investment contracts with discretionary participation, savings premiums collected
are reported as deposits (deposit accounting). The liabilities relating to these contracts are not calculated actuarially;
they move in line with premiums paid by the policyholders plus interest credited less expenses and mortality charges
and withdrawals.

LIABILITIES FOR CLAIMS AND CLAIM SETTLEMENT COSTS — Liabilities for unpaid claims and claim settlement costs
are for future payment obligations under insurance claims for which normally either the amount of benefits to be paid
or the date when payments must be made is not yet fixed. They include claims reported at the balance sheet date, claims
incurred but not yet reported and claim settlement expenses. Liabilities for unpaid claims and claim settlement costs
are calculated at the estimated amount considered necessary to settle future claims in full, using actuarial methods.
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These methods are continually reviewed and updated. Claim reserves are not discounted except for claims with deter-
minable and fixed payment terms.

EMBEDDED OPTIONS AND GUARANTEES IN INSURANCE CONTRACTS — Insurance contracts often contain embed-
ded derivatives. Embedded derivatives which are not closely related to their host insurance contracts are separated and
measured separately at fair value. Exposure to embedded options and guarantees in insurance contracts which are
closely related or which are insurance contracts themselves, such as guaranteed annuity options or guaranteed inter-
est rates, is reflected in the measurement of the insurance liabilities.

REINSURANCE — The Group assumes and/or cedes insurance in the normal course of business. Reinsurance assets
principally include receivables due from both insurance and reinsurance companies for ceded insurance liabilities.
Amounts recoverable or due under reinsurance contracts are recognised in a manner consistent with the reinsured
risks and in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contract. Reinsurance is presented in the consolidated bal-
ance sheet and income statement on a gross basis unless a right and the intention to offset exist.

Reinsurance contracts that do not transfer insurance risk are accounted for as financial reinsurance and are included
in financial assets or liabilities. A deposit asset or liability is recognised based on the consideration paid or received,
less any explicitly identified premiums or fees retained by the reinsured. These contracts are primarily measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method with future cash flows being estimated to calculate the effective
interest rate.

If a reinsurance asset is impaired, the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement and the carrying amount
is reduced accordingly.

SEPARATE ACCOUNT/UNIT-LINKED CONTRACTS/PRIVATE PLACEMENT LIFE INSURANCE — Separate account con-
tracts represent life insurance contracts with a separated part that is invested in assets managed for the account and
risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers according to their specific investment objectives. Separate account liabilities
are included in insurance liabilities. Separate account liabilities include the right of the policyholder to participate in
the performance of the underlying assets.

Unit-linked contracts are insurance or investment contracts where the insurance benefits are linked to the unit values
of investment funds. Certain unit-linked contracts contain guaranteed minimum insurance benefits. The deposit
components of unit-linked liabilities are included in financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or
loss (“unbundling of deposit components”). The components of the unit-linked liabilities that cover insurance risk, if
any, are carried under insurance liabilities. 

Liabilities relating to private placement life insurance are included in financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Assets associated with separate account/unit-linked contracts and private placement life insurance are included in
financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss, investment property, derivatives and cash and cash
equivalents. The related income and gains and losses are included in the income statement under the respective line
items. The Group has allocated on a rational basis the proportion of acquisition costs related to the insurance and
deposit components, respectively. The accounting policy for deferred acquisition costs applies to the portion of acqui-
sition costs associated with the insurance component and the policy for deferred origination costs applies to the other
portion (see 2.15 Intangible Assets).

Administrative and surrender charges are included in policy fee income.
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2.11  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Land is carried at cost and not depreciated.
Depreciation is principally calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
the assets’ estimated useful life as follows: buildings 25 to 50 years; furniture and fixtures five to ten years; computer
hardware three to five years.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the construction or acquisition
of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Realised gains and losses on disposals are deter-
mined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in the income statement.

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

2.12  LEASES

OPERATING LEASE — The Group primarily enters into operating leases for the rental of equipment. The total pay-
ments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the les-
sor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period the lease becomes onerous.

FINANCE LEASE — If the lease agreement transfers the risks and rewards of the assets, the lease is recorded as a finance
lease and the related asset is capitalised. At inception, the asset is recognised at the lower of the present value of the
minimum lease payments or fair value and is depreciated over its estimated useful life. The corresponding finance lease
obligations are recorded as liabilities.

2.13  INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

Revenue consists principally of investment management fees, commission revenue from distribution, sales of invest-
ment fund units and custody account fees. Such revenue is recognised when earned, i.e. when the services are rendered.

Incremental costs that are directly attributable to securing an investment management contract are recognised as an
asset if they can be identified separately and measured reliably and if it is probable that they will be recovered. Such
deferred origination costs are included in intangible assets. Deferred investment management fees are included in
other liabilities.

2.14  COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE

Revenue consists principally of brokerage fees, recurring fees for existing business and other fees. Such revenue is recog-
nised when earned, i.e. when the services are rendered. Cancellations are recorded as a deduction of fee income.

Costs primarily comprise commissions paid to independent financial advisors, employee benefits attributable to advi-
sory services and other expenses.
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2.15  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

PRESENT VALUE OF FUTURE PROFITS (PVP) ARISING FROM ACQUIRED INSURANCE CONTRACTS AND INVESTMENT

CONTRACTS WITH DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION FEATURES — On acquisition of a portfolio of insurance contracts
or a portfolio of investment contracts with discretionary participation features (DPF), either directly from another
insurer or through the acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking, the Group recognises an intangible asset representing
the present value of future profits (PVP) embedded in the contracts acquired. The PVP represents the difference
between the fair value of the contractual rights acquired and insurance obligations assumed and a liability measured
in accordance with the accounting policies for insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF. The PVP is
determined by estimating the net present value of future cash flows from the contracts in force at the date of acquisi-
tion. For acquired insurance and investment contracts with DPF, future positive cash flows generally include net val-
uation premiums while future negative cash flows include policyholders’ benefits and certain maintenance expenses.

PVP is amortised in proportion to gross profits or gross margins over the effective life of the acquired contracts, which
generally ranges from 20 to 30 years. Realised gains/losses are thereby taken into account as well as gains/losses recog-
nised directly in equity (unrealised gains/losses). If these unrealised gains/losses were to be realised, the gross profits
or gross margins used to amortise PVP would be affected. Therefore, an adjustment relating to these unrealised
gains/losses is recognised in equity and is also reflected in the amount of PVP in the balance sheet (“shadow account-
ing”).

PVP is subject to recoverability tests. The effect of changes in estimated gross profits or margins on unamortised PVP
is reflected as an expense in the period in which such estimates of expected future profits or margins are revised.

DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS (DAC) — Costs that vary with and are directly related to the acquisition of new and
renewed insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features, including commis-
sions, underwriting costs, agency and policy issue expenses, are deferred. Deferred acquisition costs are periodically
reviewed to ensure that they are recoverable from future revenues.

For participating life insurance contracts, where the contribution principle applies to the allocation of the policy-
holder bonus, the deferred acquisition costs are amortised over the life of the contract based on the present value of
the estimated gross margin amounts which are expected to be realised. Expected gross margins include expected pre-
miums and investment results less expected benefit claims and administrative expenses, anticipated changes to future
life policyholder benefit liabilities and expected annual policyholder bonuses.

Deferred acquisition costs for other traditional life insurance contracts and annuities with life contingencies are amor-
tised in proportion to the expected premiums.

Deferred acquisition costs for investment-type contracts such as universal life contracts are amortised over the life of
the contract based on the present value of the estimated gross profits or gross margins expected to be realised. The
estimated gross profits are made up of margins available from mortality charges and contract-administration costs,
investment earnings spreads, surrender charges and other expected assessments and credits.

When DAC is amortised in proportion to gross profits or gross margins on the acquired contracts, realised gains/
losses are taken into account as well as gains/losses recognised directly in equity (unrealised gains/losses). If these
gains/losses were to be realised, the gross profits or gross margins used to amortise DAC would be affected. Therefore,
an adjustment relating to these unrealised gains/losses is recognised in equity and is also reflected in the amount of
DAC in the balance sheet (“shadow accounting”).
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Assumptions used to estimate the future value of expected gross margins and profits are evaluated regularly and
adjusted if estimates change. Deviations of actual results from estimated experience are reflected in income.

For short-duration contracts acquisition costs are amortised over the period in which the related premiums written
are earned, in proportion to premium revenue.

DEFERRED ORIGINATION COSTS (DOC) — Incremental costs directly attributable to securing investment manage-
ment contracts are recognised as an asset if they can be identified separately and measured reliably and if it is proba-
ble that they will be recovered.

Deferred origination costs are generally amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the contracts.

GOODWILL — The Group’s acquisitions of other companies are accounted for under the acquisition method. Good-
will acquired prior to 1995 was charged directly to equity.

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-control-
ling interest recognised, if applicable, over the fair value of the assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisi-
tion. The Group has the option for each business combination, in which control is achieved without buying all of the
equity of the acquiree, to recognise 100% of the goodwill in business combinations, not just the acquirer’s portion of
the goodwill (“full goodwill method”). Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Acqui-
sition-related costs are expensed. Goodwill on associates is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Negative goodwill is immediately recognised in profit and loss.

CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS — Customer relationships consist of established relationships with customers through
contracts that have been acquired in a business combination or non-contractual customer relationships that meet the
requirement for separate recognition. They have a definite useful life of generally 5 to 20 years. Amortisation is calcu-
lated using the straight-line method over their useful lives.

BRANDS AND OTHER — Other intangible assets consist of trademarks, computer software and other.

Brands and trademarks with a definite useful life of generally 5 to 20 years are amortised using the straight-line
method over their useful lives. Brands with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment on an annual basis as
part of the cash-generating unit to which they belong. They are carried at cost less accumulated impairment.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis for the expected useful life up to three years.
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs that are directly associated with identifiable software products controlled by the Group
and that will probably generate future economic benefits are capitalised. Direct costs include the software develop-
ment team’s employee costs. Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the
straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of three years.
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2.16  IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

For non-financial assets the recoverable amount is measured as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash-generating unit in
an arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal. “Value in use” is the pres-
ent value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating unit from its continuing use.

Impairment losses and reversals on other assets are recognised in operating expenses.

2.17  INCOME TAXES

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised in income except when they relate to items recognised directly in
equity. Income taxes are calculated using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted as of the balance sheet date.

Deferred income taxes are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-
ities in the consolidated balance sheet and the tax bases of these assets and liabilities using the balance sheet liability
method. Current income taxes and deferred income taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the income taxes
relate to items that are credited or charged in the same or a different period, directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. For unused tax losses a deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is proba-
ble that these losses can be offset against future taxable profits. Deferred tax liabilities represent income taxes payable
in the future in respect of taxable temporary differences.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, branches
and associates, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Where the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority, the corre-
sponding assets and liabilities are presented on a net basis.

2.18  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND ASSOCIATED LIABILITIES

A disposal group consists of a group of assets to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise, together as a group in a single
transaction, and liabilities directly associated with these assets. Non-current assets classified as held for sale and dis-
posal groups are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair value less costs to sell. The carrying amount
will be recovered through a highly probable sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Assets held for sale
and the associated liabilities are presented separately in the balance sheet.

2.19  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and represents a major line of business or geographical area of operations or is part of a single coordinated plan to dis-
pose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations. A discontinued operation is classified as
such upon disposal or when it meets the criteria for the classification as held for sale. The consolidated statement of
income is represented for prior periods as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the earliest period
presented.
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2.20  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Swiss Life Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is dis-
charged or cancelled or expires.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS — Financial liabilities at fair value are irrevoca-
bly designated as at fair value at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are designated as at fair value through profit
or loss in the following instances:

– Financial liabilities for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers where the insurance benefits are
linked to unit values of investment funds or relate to private placement life insurance.

– Financial liabilities related to assets measured at fair value in order to reduce or eliminate a measurement or recog-
nition inconsistency.

– Financial liabilities with embedded derivatives (structured products).

BORROWINGS — Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Bor-
rowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the pro-
ceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings.

Based on the terms and conditions, such as repayment provisions and contractual interest payments, hybrid instru-
ments are considered as financial liabilities.

Debt instruments with embedded conversion options to a fixed number of shares of the Group are separated into a
debt and an equity component. The difference between the proceeds and fair value of the debt at issuance is recorded
in equity. The fair value of the debt at issuance is determined using a market interest rate for similar instruments with
no conversion rights. The Group does not recognise any change in the value of these options in subsequent reporting
periods.

Borrowing costs presented in the consolidated statement of income relate to the interest expense on the financial lia-
bilities classified as borrowings whilst interest expense presented in the consolidated statement of income relates to
interest expense on bank deposits, insurance and investment contract deposits and repurchase agreements.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES — For deposits with fixed and guaranteed terms the amortised cost basis is used. Ini-
tial recognition is at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequently, they are stated at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the deposits. For repurchase agreements,
initial recognition is at the amount of cash received, net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequently, the difference
between the amount of cash initially received and the amount of cash exchanged upon maturity is amortised over the
life of the agreement using the effective interest method.

2.21  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS — The Swiss Life Group provides post-employment benefits under two types of
arrangement: defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans.

The assets of these plans are generally held separately from the Group’s general assets in trustee-administered funds.
Defined benefit plan contributions are based upon regulatory requirements and/or plan terms. The Group’s defined
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benefit obligations and the related service costs are determined at each balance sheet date by a qualified actuary, using
the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The amount recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligations, reduced
by the fair value of plan assets and adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service
costs. The recognition of a resulting asset is limited to the total of any cumulative unrecognised net actuarial losses
and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions
to the plans.

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses which exceed 10% of the greater of the present value of the defined benefit
obligations and the fair value of plan assets at the end of the previous reporting period are recognised in income over
the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plans.

Insurance contracts issued to a defined benefit pension plan covering own employees have generally been eliminated.
However, certain assets relating to these plans qualify as plan assets and are therefore not eliminated. 

The Group recognises the contribution payable to a defined contribution plan in exchange for the services of the
employees rendered during the period as an expense.

HEALTHCARE BENEFITS — Some Group companies provide healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to
these benefits is usually based on the employee remaining in service up to the retirement age and the completion of a
minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accounted for in the same manner as for defined
benefit plans.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — The Group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation plans. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised in income with a corresponding
increase in equity. As the fair value of the services received cannot reliably be measured, the value is measured by ref-
erence to the fair value of the equity instruments granted and the price the employees are required to pay.

2.22  PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions are liabilities with uncertainties as to the amount or timing of payments. Provisions are recognised if there
is a present obligation that probably requires an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can be made at the bal-
ance sheet date and be measured on a best estimate basis. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the Notes if there is a
possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

2.23  TREASURY SHARES

Treasury shares are presented in the consolidated balance sheet as a deduction from equity and are recorded at cost.
The difference between the purchase price and the sales proceeds is included in share premium.

2.24  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income available to shareholders by the weighted average num-
ber of shares in issue during the reporting period, excluding the average number of shares purchased by the Group
and held as treasury shares.

For diluted earnings per share the profit and the weighted average number of shares in issue are adjusted to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential shares, such as convertible debt and share options issued. Potential or contingent
share issuance is treated as dilutive when conversion to shares would decrease earnings per share.
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2.25  OFFSETTING

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.26  FORTHCOMING CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In December 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board issued amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instru-
ments: Presentation and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendments clarify the requirements for off-
setting financial instruments. The new disclosure requirements are intended to help investors and other financial
statement users to better assess the effect or potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a company’s financial posi-
tion. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and 2013, respectively.
The Swiss Life Group is currently analysing the impact of these new requirements.

In June 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amended version of IAS 19 Employee Benefits.
Important improvements were made by eliminating an option to defer the recognition of gains and losses, known as
the ‘corridor method’, and by streamlining the presentation of changes in assets and liabilities arising from defined
benefit plans, including requiring remeasurements to be presented in other comprehensive income. Furthermore, the
disclosure requirements for defined benefit plans were enhanced, providing better information about the characteris-
tics and risks of defined benefit plans. The amended version of IAS 19 Employee Benefits comes into effect for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Swiss Life Group expects an impact of these new requirements on
the reported amounts relating to defined benefit plans. The estimated net impact of these changes on shareholders’
equity as at 1 January 2012 is a decrease of approx. CHF 200 million.

In June 2011, amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements were issued. The amended IAS 1 Presenta-
tion of Financial Statements requires entities to group together items within other comprehensive income that may
be reclassified to profit or loss. The amendments also reaffirm existing requirements that items in other comprehen-
sive income and profit or loss should be presented as either a single statement or two consecutive statements. The
amendments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items within
other comprehensive income will be adjusted according to the new requirements.

In May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement which contains
new guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards. The requirements do not extend the use of fair value accounting, but provide guidance how it should be applied
where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRS. The new guidance will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Swiss Life Group is currently analysing the impact of these
new requirements.

In May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an
entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the parent company. The standard provides
additional guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. IFRS 11 Joint Arrange-
ments provides for a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the rights and obligations of the
arrangement, rather than its legal form as is currently the case. The standard addresses inconsistencies in the report-
ing of joint arrangements by requiring a single method to account for interests in jointly controlled entities. IFRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities comprises all the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other
entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The
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new standards will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Swiss Life Group is cur-
rently analysing the impact of these new requirements.

In December 2010, an amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes was issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board. The amendment is set out in Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets. It can be difficult and subjective to
assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when the asset is measured using the fair value model in
IAS 40 Investment Property. The amendment provides a practical solution to the problem by introducing a presump-
tion that recovery of the carrying amount will normally be through sale. The amendment applies to annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2012. The Swiss Life Group does not expect a significant impact of these amendments
on its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board issued requirements on the accounting for financial
liabilities. These requirements are part of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The new requirements address the problem
of volatility in profit or loss arising from an issuer choosing to measure its own debt at fair value. An entity choosing
to measure a liability at fair value will present the portion of the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s
own credit risk in other comprehensive income. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments applies to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2015. The Swiss Life Group is currently analysing the impact of these new requirements.

In October 2010, amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures were issued. The amendments will allow
users of financial statements to improve their understanding of transfer transactions of financial assets (for example
securitisations), including understanding the possible effects of any risks that may remain with the entity that trans-
ferred the assets. The amendments also require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of transfer trans-
actions are undertaken around the end of a reporting period. The amendments apply to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2011. The Swiss Life Group does not expect a significant impact of these amendments on its consoli-
dated financial statements.

In November 2009, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The
Standard represents the first part of a three-part project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments covers classification and measurement of financial assets. The classifica-
tion and measurement approach in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is based on how an entity manages its financial
instruments (business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. A financial asset is
measured at amortised cost or fair value. The Standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Jan-
uary 2015. The Swiss Life Group is currently analysing the impact of these changes on its financial statements.

The following amended Standards and Interpretations are not relevant to the Swiss Life Group:

– IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
– IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Severe hyperinflation and removal of

fixed dates
– IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Amendment relating to the cost of an

investment on first-time adoption and amendment to the retrospective application of IFRS for first-time adopters
– IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Limited exemption from comparative

IFRS 7 disclosures for first-time adopters
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3  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

Certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities are subject to estimates and assumptions. Estimates and judgements
by management are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expecta-
tions of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The sensitivity analysis with regard to insurance risk and market risk is set out in note 5.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial instruments is determined based on quoted market prices, where available, or on 
estimates using present values or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the
assumptions used, including discount rates and estimates of future cash flows. Where market prices are not readily
available, fair value is based either on estimates obtained from independent experts or quoted market prices of com-
parable instruments. In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison with inde-
pendent markets and, in many cases, could not be realised immediately. 

The categorisation within the fair value hierarchy (i.e. level 1, 2 or 3) of the inputs to the fair value measurements of
financial instruments carried at fair value is set out in note 33.

The principal methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the following financial
instruments are as follows:

– Fair values for debt and equity securities are generally based upon quoted prices in active markets, if available. These
inputs to the fair value measurement are generally categorised as level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. In inactive
markets, information about prices from recent transactions with the same or similar instruments, quotes from bro-
kers, indices and other input are taken into consideration in the determination of fair values. A market is deemed no
longer active if prices available do not represent regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Furthermore, the volume of trading activity has declined significantly and bid/ask spreads have widened above a cer-
tain level.
With regard to debt securities carried at fair value inputs to the fair value measurement categorised as level 2 within
the fair value hierarchy are primarily determined using present value techniques on the basis of yield curves and
appropriate spreads or discounted cash flow models with deposit and swap rates as the main input parameters. 
With regard to equity instruments carried at fair value inputs to the fair value measurement categorised as level 2
within the fair value hierarchy are determined using quotes from the custodian bank for the determination of fair
values of fund units. Quoted prices of the underlying equity and debt securities are taken into account. Some fair
value measurements of fund units categorised as level 2 are determined based on quoted prices/redemption prices
with an adequate adjustment for illiquidity. Fair value measurements of equity securities categorised as level 3 within
the fair value hierarchy are determined based on net asset value techniques with an adequate adjustment for illiquidity.

– Fair value measurements for derivative financial instruments are obtained from quoted market prices (level 1) and/or
valuation models (level 2) as appropriate. Quoted market prices are sourced from well-known price providers such
as Bloomberg. Fair values for over-the-counter derivatives are established based on well established valuation mod-
els (Black Scholes, discounted cash flows). Market quotes of the input variables are generally used as the parameters
for the models. Main inputs to the models are deposit/swap rates (for interest rate swaps), yield curves, inflation and
retail price index (for inflation-linked swaps), realised and implied volatilities (for equity variance swaps), interest
rates and price volatility of underlying (for total return swaps), foreign exchange spot rates and foreign exchange ticks
(for foreign currency forwards). In certain cases these market quotes may be slightly adjusted to better reflect specific
market behaviour, e.g. volatility smiles.

– Private equity investments are primarily classified as available for sale and are measured at fair value. The fair values
are based on generally accepted valuation techniques. Valuation techniques use a maximum of market inputs and
include the use of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation
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techniques commonly used by market participants. Because of the inherent valuation uncertainty, those estimated
fair values may differ significantly from the values that would be used if a ready market for the financial assets existed,
and those differences could be material. The responsibility for determining the fair values lies exclusively with the
general partner in the partnership. In determining the fair value of fund investments, the partnership considers the
funds as transparent holding vehicles. The fair values of the underlying investments are determined using the gen-
eral partner valuation. These fair value measurements are generally categorised as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. 

– The fair values of loans, which are carried at amortised cost, are estimated using discounted cash flows based upon
the Group’s current lending rates for similar loans. For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and have no signif-
icant change in credit risk, fair values equal the carrying values.

– The fair value of hedge funds is based on their quoted market prices, if available. If no quoted market price is avail-
able, valuation techniques are used that take into account the market value of the underlying assets, transaction
prices and other information. 

– The fair value of financial reinsurance assets and liabilities, which are carried at amortised cost, is estimated using
discounted cash flow calculations.

– The fair value of borrowings, which are carried at amortised cost, is estimated using discounted cash flow calcula-
tions based upon the Group’s current borrowing rates for similar borrowings with remaining maturities consistent
with the debt being valued. The fair value of hybrid debt is estimated based on a discounted cash flow approach,
assuming guaranteed coupon payments until maturity or until the next call date for perpetual instruments. Swap
rates plus a Swiss Life-specific spread are used for discounting.

– The fair value of liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts for the account and risk of the Swiss Life
Group’s customers is calculated based on the valuation of the underlying assets.

– The fair value of investment contracts without discretionary participation, which are carried at amortised cost, is esti-
mated using discounted cash flow calculations based upon interest rates currently being offered for similar contracts
with maturities consistent with those remaining for the contracts being valued. The fair values of deposits are equal
to the amount payable on demand or the carrying amount. The carrying amounts of variable-rate deposits approx-
imate their fair values at the reporting date.

– The fair value of investment contracts, which are carried at fair value, is measured using market-consistent, risk-neu-
tral economic option price models, i.e. Monte Carlo simulations based on scenarios of capital market variables (share
price and interest rate indices, interest rates and foreign currency rates). These inputs to fair value measurements are
generally categorised as level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.

– It is impracticable to determine the fair value of investment contracts with discretionary participation features due
to the lack of a reliable basis to measure such supplemental discretionary returns. IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts is silent
on the measurement of the amounts identified as DPF.

FAIR VALUE OF NON-FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of investment property is based on current prices in an active market for properties of a similar nature,
condition or location – suitably adjusted. Recent prices for similar properties on less active markets, with suitable
adjustments for differences, are also used for the estimation of the fair values. Furthermore, investment property is
valued using discounted cash flow projections if reliable estimates and reasonable assumptions (such as rental income
and operating expenses) can be made, based on external evidence. Future expenditure that will improve the property
is not included in the fair value. The risk-adjusted discount rates used in the cash flow projections reflect the specific
nature and location of the individual properties. The cash flows used in the projections are based on actual rental
income on a sustainable basis. Cost is reflected in the cash flows based on experience and budgets approved by man-
agement. The cash flows include inflation. External valuations for individual real estate assets are performed on a
rotating basis, but at a minimum each property is evaluated every three years.
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IMPAIRMENT OF HELD-TO-MATURITY AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE DEBT INSTRUMENTS AND LOANS

AND RECEIVABLES

As a Group policy, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale debt securities and loans and receivables are assessed for
impairment when a significant decrease in market value related to credit risk arises, namely after a downgrade of a
debtor’s rating below single B– after initial recognition (i.e. CCC or lower according to Standard and Poor’s or equiv-
alent) or when payments of principal and/or interest are overdue by more than 90 days.

IMPAIRMENT OF AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

At each balance sheet date, an assessment is made whether there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale equity
instrument is impaired. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered
objective evidence of impairment. In this respect, a decline of 30% or more is regarded as significant, and a period of
12 months or longer is considered to be prolonged. 

INSURANCE LIABILITIES

Past experience, adjusted for the effect of current developments and probable trends, is assumed to be an appropriate
basis for predicting future events. Actuarial estimates for incurred but not reported losses are continually reviewed and
updated and adjustments resulting from this review are reflected in income.

Insurance liabilities are established by using appropriate estimates and assumptions on mortality, morbidity, exercise
of policyholder options and investment returns. With regard to mortality for example these estimates are typically
based on standard industry tables. Management makes allowance for expected improvements due to continued
advances in medical science and social conditions.

For insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features with fixed and guaranteed
terms, the definition of estimates occurs in two stages. At inception of the contract, estimates of future deaths, sur-
render, exercise of policyholder options, investment returns and administrative expenses are made and form the
assumptions used for calculating the liabilities during the life of the contract. A margin for risk and uncertainty
(adverse deviation) is added to these assumptions. These assumptions are “locked-in” for the duration of the contract.
Subsequently, new estimates are made each year in order to determine whether the values of the liabilities so estab-
lished are adequate in the light of these latest estimates. If the valuation of the liabilities is deemed adequate the
assumptions are not altered. However, if the valuation of the liabilities is deemed inadequate, the assumptions under-
lying the valuation of the liabilities are altered (“unlocked”) to reflect the latest estimates; no margin is added to the
assumptions in this event. 

For insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features without fixed and guaran-
teed terms, future premiums can be increased in line with experience. The assumptions used to determine the liabili-
ties do not contain margins and are not locked-in but are updated at each reporting date to reflect the latest estimates.

MORTALITY AND LONGEVITY — Pricing and valuation assumptions for mortality and longevity are generally based
on the statistics provided by national insurance associations and complemented with internal claims experience
reflecting own company records.

In Switzerland, mortality tables are usually reviewed every five years when new statistics from the Swiss Insurance Asso-
ciation become available. The tables are updated for significant changes.

MORBIDITY AND DISABILITY — For the individual and group life business in Switzerland internal tables are in place.
In the individual life business, the internal disability rates are based on the Swiss Insurance Association statistics and
reflect the average situation of the past in the Swiss market. In the individual life business, only reactivation is consid-
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ered, whereas increased mortality is also taken into account in group life business. In the individual life business, dis-
ability tables are usually reviewed every five years when new statistics from the Swiss Insurance Association become
available.

In the group life business, tariffs can be adjusted due to loss experience with regard to disability each year. In the group
life business, the tables are based on own company records reflecting loss experience. Especially in the group life busi-
ness changes in the labour market may have a significant influence on disability. The tables are updated for signifi-
cant changes.

In other markets, standard industry disability tables, national statistics and own company records are applied. Stan-
dard valuation pricing principles are typically validated against the client-specific disability experience.

POLICYHOLDER OPTIONS — Policyholders are typically offered products which include options such as the right to
terminate the contract early or to convert the accumulated funds into a life annuity at maturity. In case of early ter-
mination the policyholder receives a specified surrender value or a value which varies in response to the change in
financial variables such as an equity price or an index. In the case of the conversion option, the policyholder has the
right to convert an assured sum into a fixed life annuity. The option values typically depend on both biometric assump-
tions and market variables such as interest rates or the value of the assets backing the liabilities. In certain countries
and markets policyholder behavioural assumptions are based on own company records. The assumptions vary by prod-
uct type and policy duration.

EXPENSES AND INFLATION — In Switzerland, expenses are taken into account in the pricing of the contracts using
internal statistics. Such calculated amounts are allocated to the different lines of business. Inflation is reflected in
these calculations.

In certain markets, expense allocation is based on an activity-based cost methodology. Recurrent costs are subdivided
into the following main cost categories: acquisition costs, administration costs and asset management costs.

INVESTMENT RETURNS — Assumptions relating to investment returns are based on the strategic asset allocation.
From this gross investment return, projected asset management fees are deducted to obtain a net investment return.

The interest rates used in actuarial formulae to determine the present value of future benefits and contributions
caused by an insurance contract are called technical interest rates. The technical interest rates have to be approved by
the regulator. In certain countries, the insurance liabilities are based on the technical interest rates. 

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually (in autumn), or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that goodwill might be impaired. The recoverable amounts of the business relating to the goodwill have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates which are set out in
note 18.

DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES

The Swiss Life Group uses certain assumptions relating to the calculation of the defined benefit liabilities. These
assumptions comprise the expected return on plan assets as well as future salary increases and future pension increases
which have been derived from estimates based on past experience. The expected return on the plan assets takes into
consideration the investment policy relating to the assets and their projected returns.

The assumptions are set out in note 24.
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INCOME TAXES

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax-loss carryforwards and unused tax credits to the extent that realisa-
tion of the related tax benefit is probable. The assessment of the probability with regard to the realisation of the tax
benefit involves assumptions based on the history of the entity and budgeted data for the future.

PROVISIONS

The recognition of provisions involves assumptions about the probability, amount and timing of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits. A provision is recognised to the extent that an outflow of resources embody-
ing economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made.

4  Segment Information

Operating segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by management in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. 

Due to an internal reorganisation with effect from 1 January 2011 the composition of the reportable segments
changed. “Insurance Other” has been renamed as “Insurance International” and now comprises all the cross-
border insurance operations. Payment protection insurance now operates on a run-off basis and is included in the 
segment “Other”. The corresponding information for the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2010
and the balance sheet as at 31 December 2010 was restated.

The accounting policies for the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies section. Inter-segmental services and transfers of assets and liabilities are treated as if the transactions were
with third parties, i.e. at market prices applicable at the time of the transaction.

Corporate costs were not allocated to the individual segments as they consist of general administrative expenses and
head office expenses that relate to the Swiss Life Group as a whole.

The reportable segments have been identified based on information about the components of the entity that manage-
ment uses to make decisions about operating matters. 

The information provided to management focuses on product lines and services. The organisational and management
structure within the insurance business is geographical. The reportable segments have therefore been identified as 
follows:

– Insurance Switzerland
– Insurance France
– Insurance Germany
– Insurance International
– Investment Management
– AWD
– Other
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The insurance segments primarily consist of life insurance operations. These operations offer a broad range of life,
pension, annuity and investment-type policies to both groups and individuals, including disability coverage. The
Group’s strategy focuses primarily on life and pensions in Switzerland, France and Germany and on cross-border busi-
ness from Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Austria, Singapore and Dubai. The insurance segments also include a number
of companies which hold investments primarily pertaining to life insurance.

“Insurance International” comprises the cross-border insurance operations in Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, 
Austria, Singapore and Dubai.

Non-life operations involve operations in France and Luxembourg and mainly include property and casualty, liability
and motor insurance, accident and health insurance, and payment protection insurance. These operations are
included in the segments “Insurance France” and “Other”.

“Investment Management” refers to the management of assets for institutional clients and the Group’s insurance busi-
ness, as well as the provision of expert advice for such clients.

“AWD” comprises the Hanover-based AWD Group, which was acquired by the Swiss Life Group on 19 March 2008.
The AWD Group specialises in comprehensive financial advisory services for medium and high-income client seg-
ments.

“Other” refers principally to various finance and service companies, as well as payment protection insurance.

The statement of income and the balance sheet for the segments are provided in the following pages:
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STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million Invest- Total
Insurance Insurance ment before

Switzer- Insurance Insurance Inter- Manage- elimi- Elimi-
land France Germany national ment AWD Other nations nations Total

INCOME

Premiums earned on insurance contracts 7 056 2 514 1 620 44 – – 35 11 269 –164 11 105

Premiums earned on investment contracts
with discretionary participation 673 12 – – – – – 685 – 685

Premiums ceded to reinsurers –33 –283 –22 –7 – – –17 –362 171 –191

Net earned premiums 7 696 2 243 1 598 37 – – 18 11 592 7 11 599

Policy fees earned on insurance contracts 16 23 – 0 – – – 39 – 39

Policy fees earned on investment and unit-linked contracts 45 108 20 83 – – – 256 – 256

Net earned policy fees 61 131 20 83 – – – 295 – 295

Commission income 19 93 34 13 301 692 42 1 194 –301 893

Investment income 2 876 658 651 30 1 2 29 4 247 –31 4 216

Net gains/losses on financial assets 361 45 142 34 0 –2 –30 550 – 550

Net gains/losses on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss –615 –81 –75 –34 – 1 –16 –820 – –820

Net gains/losses on investment property 399 105 9 – – – 0 513 – 513

Other income 43 1 2 –1 0 5 8 58 –13 45

TOTAL INCOME 10 840 3 195 2 381 162 302 698 51 17 629 –338 17 291

of which inter-segment 181 –139 1 –15 195 53 62 338 –338

EXPENSES

Benefits and claims under insurance contracts –8 287 –2 055 –1 782 –20 – – –1 –12 145 137 –12 008

Benefits and claims under investment contracts
with discretionary participation –696 –13 – – – – – –709 – –709

Benefits and claims recovered from reinsurers 19 221 6 1 – – 0 247 –144 103

Net insurance benefits and claims –8 964 –1 847 –1 776 –19 – – –1 –12 607 –7 –12 614

Policyholder participation –450 –102 –237 –14 – – 2 –801 10 –791

Interest expense –77 –168 –15 –15 0 –1 0 –276 2 –274

Commission expense –313 –363 –69 –29 –29 –474 –8 –1 285 302 –983

Employee benefits expense –268 –187 –81 –55 –101 –105 –7 –804 0 –804

Depreciation and amortisation expense –185 –237 –89 –5 –1 –34 –3 –554 – –554

Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets –6 – –2 – – –3 – –11 – –11

Other expenses –101 –167 –54 –35 –41 –94 –17 –509 2 –507

TOTAL EXPENSES –10 364 –3 071 –2 323 –172 –172 –711 –34 –16 847 309 –16 538

of which inter-segment –336 131 –64 –20 –14 0 –6 –309 309

SEGMENT RESULT 476 124 58 –10 130 –13 17 782 –29 753

of which inter-segment –155 –8 –63 –35 181 53 56 29 –29

Unallocated corporate costs –54

RESULT FROM OPERATIONS 699

Borrowing costs –129 0 –5 –6 – – –9 –149 29 –120

Share of results of associates 1 3 0 – 0 – 2 6 – 6

Income tax expense 21

NET RESULT 606

Additions to non-current assets 1 232 144 126 4 14 3 4 1 527 – 1 527
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STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million Invest- Total
Insurance Insurance ment before

Switzer- Insurance Insurance Inter- Manage- elimi- Elimi-
land France Germany national ment AWD Other nations nations Total

INCOME

Premiums earned on insurance contracts 6 831 2 740 1 814 48 – – 47 11480 –24 11 456

Premiums earned on investment contracts
with discretionary participation 513 10 – – – – – 523 – 523

Premiums ceded to reinsurers –26 –171 –20 –8 – – –25 -250 24 –226

Net earned premiums 7 318 2 579 1 794 40 – – 22 11753 0 11 753

Policy fees earned on insurance contracts 16 25 – 0 – – – 41 – 41

Policy fees earned on investment and unit-linked contracts 31 120 20 86 – – – 257 – 257

Net earned policy fees 47 145 20 86 – – – 298 – 298

Commission income 7 89 34 12 268 756 10 1176 –254 922

Investment income 2 763 704 741 31 1 2 29 4271 –29 4 242

Net gains/losses on financial assets –4 636 41 200 37 –1 –5 –66 -4430 – –4 430

Net gains/losses on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss 4 185 25 51 –36 – 0 25 4250 – 4 250

Net gains/losses on investment property 200 108 –2 – – – 0 306 – 306

Other income 487 6 5 –3 1 7 4 507 –4 503

TOTAL INCOME 10 371 3 697 2 843 167 269 760 24 18131 –287 17 844

of which inter-segment 43 –1 –4 –6 182 41 32 287 –287

EXPENSES

Benefits and claims under insurance contracts –8 095 –2 188 –1 974 –23 – – –15 –12 295 6 –12 289

Benefits and claims under investment contracts
with discretionary participation –528 –15 – – – – – –543 – –543

Benefits and claims recovered from reinsurers 14 103 5 2 – – 10 134 –6 128

Net insurance benefits and claims –8 609 –2 100 –1 969 –21 – – –5 –12 704 0 –12 704

Policyholder participation –429 –251 –378 –18 – – –1 –1 077 4 –1 073

Interest expense –91 –183 –20 –16 0 –2 –1 –313 2 –311

Commission expense –264 –365 –91 –36 –29 –457 –10 –1 252 244 –1 008

Employee benefits expense –251 –188 –94 –60 –90 –118 –13 –814 –2 –816

Depreciation and amortisation expense –139 –254 –152 –7 –1 –40 –1 –594 – –594

Impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets –3 – –2 – – 0 – –5 – –5

Other expenses –94 –274 –35 –36 –46 –100 –17 –602 11 –591

TOTAL EXPENSES –9 880 –3 615 –2 741 –194 –166 –717 –48 –17 361 259 –17 102

of which inter-segment –137 –5 –50 –42 –17 –1 –7 –259 259

SEGMENT RESULT 491 82 102 –27 103 43 –24 770 –28 742

of which inter-segment –94 –6 –54 –48 165 40 25 28 –28

Unallocated corporate costs –48

RESULT FROM OPERATIONS 694

Borrowing costs –107 0 –5 –6 – – –14 –132 28 –104

Share of results of associates 1 3 0 – 0 – 2 6 – 6

Income tax expense –36

NET RESULT 560

- - -

Additions to non-current assets 857 65 224 11 1 7 1 1 166 – 1 166
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million Invest- Total
Insurance Insurance ment before

Switzer- Insurance Insurance Inter- Manage- elimi- Elimi-
land France Germany national ment AWD Other nations nations Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1 130 898 129 2 545 85 87 210 5 084 0 5 084

Derivatives 1 087 163 70 11 – – 8 1 339 –21 1 318

Assets held for sale – 22 – – – – – 22 – 22

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 262 6 911 915 13 965 – 10 57 24 120 – 24 120

Financial assets available for sale 49 556 11 276 5 150 837 32 – 413 67 264 – 67 264

Loans and receivables 15 645 1 650 10 098 52 149 226 873 28 693 –1 491 27 202

Financial assets held to maturity 3 716 1 304 26 – – – – 5 046 – 5 046

Financial assets pledged as collateral – 969 – – – – – 969 – 969

Investment property 12 921 1 619 902 – – – 3 15 445 – 15 445

Reinsurance assets 40 385 26 1 – – 27 479 –99 380

Property and equipment 271 124 79 1 2 46 16 539 – 539

Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 698 484 1 314 177 12 1 028 9 3 722 – 3 722

Other assets 571 34 1 2 27 2 1 638 –103 535

SEGMENT ASSETS 87 897 25 839 18 710 17 591 307 1 399 1 617 153 360 –1 714 151 646

Investments in associates 74

Income tax assets 155

TOTAL ASSETS 151 875

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

Derivatives 1 083 30 73 0 – – 21 1 207 –21 1 186

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale – 15 – – – – – 15 – 15

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1 469 566 453 16 294 – – – 18 782 – 18 782

Investment contracts 1 413 9 356 21 568 – – – 11 358 – 11 358

Other financial liabilities 3 932 2 686 502 162 30 241 377 7 930 –705 7 225

Insurance liabilities 65 716 11 335 16 187 194 – – 53 93 485 –120 93 365

Policyholder participation liabilities 4 228 295 609 20 – – 0 5 152 –2 5 150

Employee benefit liabilities 1 107 65 41 6 41 – 1 1 261 – 1 261

Provisions 22 21 10 10 5 81 1 150 – 150

Other liabilities 257 38 3 4 6 52 1 361 –28 333

SEGMENT LIABILITIES 79 227 24 407 17 899 17 258 82 374 454 139 701 –876 138 825

Borrowings 2 624

Income tax liabilities 1 264

EQUITY 9 162

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 151 875
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million Invest- Total
Insurance Insurance ment before

Switzer- Insurance Insurance Inter- Manage- elimi- Elimi-
land France Germany national ment AWD Other nations nations Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 2 790 950 175 2 445 65 118 397 6 940 0 6 940

Derivatives 2 803 32 102 4 – – 43 2 984 –19 2 965

Assets held for sale 94 – 0 – – – – 94 – 94

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 494 6 499 933 13 402 – 9 58 23 395 – 23 395

Financial assets available for sale 40 184 12 091 4 319 759 30 – 567 57 950 – 57 950

Loans and receivables 17 197 1 629 10 993 59 109 170 593 30 750 –1 037 29 713

Financial assets held to maturity 3 726 1 462 38 3 – – – 5 229 – 5 229

Financial assets pledged as collateral 279 781 – – – – – 1 060 – 1 060

Investment property 11 893 1 399 847 – – – 3 14 142 – 14 142

Reinsurance assets 31 278 29 2 – – 32 372 –7 365

Property and equipment 285 142 68 1 2 54 17 569 – 569

Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 929 491 1 287 188 0 1 083 4 3 982 – 3 982

Other assets 620 23 2 1 21 2 3 672 –96 576

SEGMENT ASSETS 83 325 25 777 18 793 16 864 227 1 436 1 717 148 139 –1 159 146 980

Investments in associates 63

Income tax assets 160

TOTAL ASSETS 147 203

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

Derivatives 447 35 16 0 – – 19 517 –19 498

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale – – – – – – – – – –

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1 228 312 417 15 614 – – – 17 571 – 17 571

Investment contracts 1 104 9 537 127 511 – – – 11 279 – 11 279

Other financial liabilities 7 201 2 892 530 190 26 257 225 11 321 –401 10 920

Insurance liabilities 62 907 10 991 16 173 200 – – 60 90 331 –26 90 305

Policyholder participation liabilities 2 359 438 617 22 – – 2 3 438 –2 3 436

Employee benefit liabilities 1 905 64 37 7 36 – 0 2 049 – 2 049

Provisions 25 21 20 4 6 53 2 131 – 131

Other liabilities 256 38 0 2 2 49 1 348 –29 319

SEGMENT LIABILITIES 77 432 24 328 17 937 16 550 70 359 309 136 985 –477 136 508

Borrowings 2 142

Income tax liabilities 1 116

EQUITY 7 437

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 147 203
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PREMIUMS AND POLICY FEES FROM EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS

In CHF million Net earned premiums Net earned policy fees

2011 2010 2011 2010

LIFE

Individual life 3 620 4 031 287 288

Group life 7 584 7 309 8 10

TOTAL LIFE 11 204 11 340 295 298

NON-LIFE

Accident and health 13 15 – –

Property, casualty and other 382 398 – –

TOTAL NON-LIFE 395 413 – –

TOTAL 11 599 11 753 295 298

The Swiss Life Group operates in selected countries. The Group’s income and non-current assets by geographical loca-
tion are detailed below:

In CHF million Total income Non-current assets

2011 2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Switzerland 10 792 10 466 13 305 12 282

France 3 342 3 695 2 077 1 869

Germany 2 784 3 292 2 336 2 327

Liechtenstein 47 48 169 172

Luxembourg 176 157 57 38

Other countries 150 186 4 3

TOTAL 17 291 17 844 17 948 16 691

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of investment property, property and equipment and intangible assets
(except for intangible assets arising from insurance contracts).

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
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5  Risk Management Policies and Procedures

The Group’s core business is life insurance and pensions. A life insurance and pensions contract represents a long-
term promise to the policyholder. To fulfil its future payment obligations to the policyholders, the insurance entities
of the Group must be financially sound over an extended period of time. The ability to remain financially sound and
strong depends on a number of risk factors. The Group’s risk map can be broadly divided into financial, insurance,
strategic and operational risks. All of these risk categories can impact the financial stability of the Group.

Risks must be identified, assessed, managed and monitored locally and aggregated. Monthly reports covering interest
rate risk, equity price risk, currency risk, credit risk and insurance risk are prepared on a consolidated basis. Addition-
ally, market risks and financial risk limits are reported for the largest operations in the insurance business. Strategic
and operational risks are assessed and reported on an annual basis.

The risk appetite for the largest operations in the insurance business is defined with the help of local risk budgets
which are used as a basis for the determination of the individual risk limits. These limits are used as a framework for
the asset and liability management process, the objective of which is to define a strategic asset allocation. From this
strategic asset allocation a scenario-based expected return is calculated which forms the basis for the mid-term plan-
ning of the Group.

Risk management functions are performed at several levels by different bodies within the Swiss Life Group, such as
the Investment and Risk Committee at the level of the Board of Directors of the Swiss Life Group and the Group Risk
Committee at the level of the Corporate Executive Board of the Swiss Life Group. The risk management functions at
the level of the individual operations of the Swiss Life Group are organised accordingly.

Group risk management is responsible for the definition of the group-wide methodology for the measurement of the
risks and produces a consolidated risk report which consolidates the main quantitative elements of the risk manage-
ment of the Swiss Life Group’s operations. Furthermore, Group risk management also produces consolidated views
on the operational and strategic risks of the Swiss Life Group.

The information below focuses first on the risk budgeting and asset and liability management process before cover-
ing in an extensive way the principal risk categories faced by the Swiss Life Group.

5.1  CONTRACTS FOR THE ACCOUNT AND RISK OF THE SWISS LIFE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS

The assets relating to certain life insurance and investment contracts are managed for the account and risk of the Swiss
Life Group’s customers (separate account/unit-linked contracts, private placement life insurance). They are segregated
and managed to meet specific investment objectives of the policyholders. The assets back the insurance liabilities and
the financial liabilities arising from these contracts. The fair values of the liabilities reflect the fair values of the assets.
Certain contracts with unit-linking features contain financial and insurance guarantees. The liabilities relating to this
part are included in the financial and insurance liabilities.

The assets and liabilities from separate account/unit-linked contracts and private placement life insurance are gener-
ally excluded from the Swiss Life Group’s financial risk management considerations to the extent that the risks are
borne by the customers.
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ASSETS FOR THE ACCOUNT AND RISK OF THE SWISS LIFE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Cash and cash equivalents 2 446 2 333

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Debt securities 10 6 083 5 848

Equity securities 10 3 311 3 054

Investment fund units 10 9 150 8 656

Other 10 1 356 1 384

TOTAL ASSETS FOR THE ACCOUNT AND RISK OF THE SWISS LIFE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS 22 346 21 275

LIABILITIES LINKED TO ASSETS FOR THE ACCOUNT AND RISK OF THE SWISS LIFE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Unit-linked contracts 10 18 216 17 259

Investment contracts 20 2 828 2 788

Insurance liabilities 23 1 108 961

TOTAL LIABILITIES LINKED TO ASSETS FOR THE ACCOUNT AND RISK OF THE SWISS LIFE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS 22 152 21 008

The financial result for the years ended 31 December for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group and the 
Swiss Life Group’s customers was as follows:

In CHF million For the account and risk of the For the account and risk of the
Swiss Life Group Swiss Life Group’s customers Total

Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Investment income 8 4 216 4 242 0 0 4 216 4 242

Net gains/losses on financial assets 8 515 –4 465 35 35 550 –4 430

Net gains/losses on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 8 –803 4 249 –17 1 –820 4 250

Net gains/losses on investment property 513 306 – – 513 306

Share of results of associates 6 6 – – 6 6

FINANCIAL RESULT 4 447 4 338 18 36 4 465 4 374

5.2  RISK BUDGETING AND LIMIT SETTING

The risk capacity and the risk appetite of the Swiss Life Group’s insurance operations are primarily defined based on
economic principles. Consequently, the market values or best estimates of both the assets and the liabilities are
obtained by discounting the cash flows generated by these assets and liabilities with an appropriate discount rate or
by direct observation of market values. The available risk capital is defined as the difference of the economic value of
the assets compared to liabilities. The available risk capital is used to cover the different risks to which the Swiss Life
Group’s insurance operations are exposed by the nature of their activities. The final decision on the risk appetite for
each insurance operation rests with the Corporate Executive Board.

Risk capital and exposure limits are defined to control and limit the exposure to these risks. The limit systems and
processes are set in a way that the sublimits are not utilised simultaneously in full.
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The main focus of these limits is on overall market risk, credit risk and, more specifically, on interest rate risk as well
as on currency risk and equity price risk.

5.3  ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT (ALM)

The main objective of the ALM process is to ensure that the Swiss Life Group’s insurance operations can meet their
commitments to policyholders at all times while also adequately compensating shareholders for making risk capital
available. Based on the economic principles of risk management and on the risk appetite definition applied in the risk
budgeting process, ALM comprises the following main activities: the determination of the strategic asset allocation
and of the risk capital and exposure sublimits.

The ALM process is centrally coordinated at Group level by means of local asset and liability management committees
with representatives from local senior management and representatives from the Group. The local units are in charge
of implementing the decisions. The process requires the involvement of investment management, finance, actuarial
and risk functions.

COMPLIANCE WITH EXTERNAL CONSTRAINTS — Aspects other than the purely economic view must also be consid-
ered in the ALM process, such as regulatory requirements including statutory minimum distribution ratios (“legal
quote”), funding ratios, solvency, local accounting rules and International Financial Reporting Standards, liquidity
requirements and rating targets. Some of these views may lead to results that are not aligned with the economic
approach, but nevertheless need to be taken into account.

Depending on the regulatory framework in which the Swiss Life Group’s insurance operations evolve, the asset 
portfolios might need to be split to reflect the different categories of insurance products. The asset portfolios of the
insurance operations in Switzerland have been separated to distinguish between individual life and group life. As a
consequence, such separation is also reflected in the ALM process.

STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION — Defining the strategic asset allocation is the first major task of the ALM process
and aims at achieving an efficient risk capital allocation, i.e. optimising the returns on the asset portfolio for the avail-
able risk capital defined within the risk budgeting process, taking into account all known constraints.

The liabilities are largely predefined in terms of amount and timing of the payments and the associated assumptions
are regularly reviewed. The corresponding asset portfolios mainly comprise fixed-income instruments. This way, the
impact of interest rate fluctuations and the risk capital consumption are strategically optimised under a risk/return
point of view, thus ensuring that the policyholders receive the benefits consistent with their products. Policyholders
benefit from the ensuing investment returns in the form of discretionary participation, while shareholders benefit
from an increase in the value of their investment in the Swiss Life Group.

The strategic asset allocation is therefore determined on the basis of the individual existing commitments and the risk
capacity of the Swiss Life Group’s insurance operations. The strategic asset allocation is reviewed at least once a year
and adjusted if necessary.

The ALM process has been applied in all relevant insurance operations of the Swiss Life Group.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY — The distribution policy seeks to align the interests of the different groups of stakeholders.
Holders of traditional life insurance policies favour a guaranteed minimum interest rate coupled with regular and
appropriate discretionary participation whereas shareholders place greater emphasis on returns commensurate with
the level of risk they are exposed to. The focus of the Swiss Life Group lies on the sustainability of the business model
and should balance the policyholders’ and shareholders’ expectations.
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External constraints must be considered in the definition of the distribution policy. Important elements which influ-
ence such policy are minimum guaranteed interest rates and the statutory minimum distribution ratio (“legal quote”),
which strongly depend on the regulatory environments of the Swiss Life Group’s insurance operations.

PRODUCT DESIGN — The targets of risk management are supported by product design principles. Product design
defines which guarantees and benefits are built into a specific product to respond to the demand from and expecta-
tions of customers. The actuarial bases used for this purpose should ensure that each individual product generates a
sufficient contribution margin. To ensure that the Group’s principles are observed, guidelines on product manage-
ment and underwriting have been introduced to harmonise the local guidelines and to ensure that they are in line with
the guidelines of the Group. As the Group’s insurance entities operate in a number of different countries, the local
regulatory constraints may have an impact on the business units’ product range. These constraints must always be
obeyed.

5.4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, financial liabilities (primarily investment contracts
and borrowings), reinsurance assets and insurance liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds
from the financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from the insurance and investment con-
tracts, as well as from borrowings and other liabilities. The most important components of the financial risk are inter-
est rate risk, equity price risk, credit risk, currency risk and liquidity risk.

The risk budgeting and limit setting described above ensure that interest rate risk, equity price risk, currency risk 
and credit risk remain under control. The corresponding market risk capital, interest rate risk capital, currency risk
capital and credit risk capital limits as well as exposure limits for currencies and net equity for each relevant insurance
operation are defined based on the risk appetite. These limits are assessed and reported on a monthly basis.

HEDGING — The Swiss Life Group uses derivatives within the strict limits set by the applicable insurance legislation
and by internal guidelines. Derivatives are primarily used to manage the exposure to equity securities, interest rates,
counterparties and foreign exchange rates. The main instruments include index futures and option structures in stock
markets, bond futures and swaps in order to manage duration, currency forwards in order to manage currency risk
and credit default swaps in order to manage counterparty risk. Within certain limits, derivatives are used to enhance
returns on the existing portfolio. The types of derivatives generally permitted for usage within the Swiss Life Group as
well as the list of allowed over-the-counter trading partners have been approved by the Group Risk Committee.

Hedging strategies involve hedge accounting as well as “economic hedging”. “Economic hedges” comprise financial
assets and financial liabilities which share a risk with derivatives and give rise to opposite changes in fair value that
tend to offset each other.

INTEREST RATE RISK RELATING TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND INSURANCE CONTRACTS — The Group’s 
primary interest rate exposure is to contracts with guaranteed benefits and the risk that the interest rates of 
the financial assets purchased with the consideration received from the contract holders is insufficient to fund the
guaranteed benefits and expected discretionary participation payable to them.
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INTEREST-SENSITIVE INSURANCE LIABILITIES

In CHF million

CHF EUR Other Total

CARRYING AMOUNTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 0 – < 2% 13 158 4 614 1 17 773

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 2 – < 3% 29 103 4 560 4 33 667

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 3 – < 4% 17 828 7 754 57 25 639

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 4 – < 5% 0 7 354 32 7 386

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 5 – < 6% – 3 4 7

TOTAL INTEREST-SENSITIVE INSURANCE LIABILITIES 60 089 24 285 98 84 472

Non-interest-sensitive insurance liabilities 7 785

Insurance liabilities linked to assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 1 108

TOTAL INSURANCE LIABILITIES 93 365

CARRYING AMOUNTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 0 – < 2% 11 937 2 834 1 14 772

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 2 – < 3% 27 243 5 398 4 32 645

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 3 – < 4% 18 616 8 854 66 27 536

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 4 – < 5% 339 8 071 29 8 439

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 5 – < 6% – 6 5 11

Minimum guaranteed interest rate 6 – 8% – – 3 3

TOTAL INTEREST-SENSITIVE INSURANCE LIABILITIES 58 135 25 163 108 83 406

Non-interest-sensitive insurance liabilities 5 938

Insurance liabilities linked to assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 961

TOTAL INSURANCE LIABILITIES 90 305

Most life insurance products with a savings component and investment contracts are subject to minimum guaranteed
interest rates. The guaranteed rate differs according to the type of contract. In Switzerland for instance the minimum
guaranteed interest rate for the occupational pensions segment (mandatory BVG savings account) stood at 2% in 2011
and will be reduced to 1.5% for 2012.

In addition to these fixed and guaranteed payments which are exposed to interest rate risk, contractual rights exist for
certain contracts to receive additional benefits whose amount and/or timing is contractually at the discretion of the
issuer. The determination of the discretionary participation is highly dependent on future investment returns.

The Group manages interest rate and interest rate volatility risk by managing the interest rate and volatility sensitiv-
ity of its investment portfolio against the corresponding sensitivity of liabilities issued. The interest rate and volatility
exposure of the liabilities is determined by projecting the expected cash flows from the contracts using best estimates
of mortality, disability, expenses, surrender and exercise of policyholder options in combination with interest rate and
volatility scenarios. The ALM process defines the strategic asset allocation optimising the net interest rate sensitivity
of the investment and liability portfolios. To the extent that this is not practicable, swap contracts and other instru-
ments are used to hedge interest rate risk. In certain markets payer swaptions are used to hedge the risk of fair value
changes of interest-sensitive financial assets. Strategically, a minimum interest rate risk will remain, since a perfect
interest rate hedge can either not be achieved or would not be targeted.

In addition to the strategic optimisation of the net interest rate risk exposure at an economic level, the Group has des-
ignated a portion of assets to be held to maturity and matching the maturity profile of the associated liabilities to
minimise the interest risk arising from these positions. The assets to be held to maturity fund the insurance and invest-
ment contracts that will not be surrendered or will not require the payment of a death benefit.
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Regarding interest rate risk exposure existing on contracts with guaranteed benefits where the risk is that the interest
rates earned on the assets are insufficient to fund the guaranteed payments, puttable bonds are used to counter the
impact of increasing interest rates. 

In certain businesses, a large part of the impact of interest rate changes is for the account and risk of the policyhold-
ers based on the specific profit-sharing systems.

EQUITY PRICE RISK — A decline in the equity market may lead to a reduction of the Swiss Life Group’s realised and
unrealised gains/losses, which also negatively affects the Swiss Life Group’s results of operations and financial condition.

Hedges in place with respect to the Swiss Life Group’s equity investments are designed to reduce the exposure 
to declines in equity values but would not prevent an impairment loss in the event that the impairment criteria were met.

A portion of Swiss Life’s investment portfolio comprises investments in funds which hold securities issued by non-
public companies (private equity). These investments may be illiquid or may only be disposed of over time or at a loss,
and they may not produce adequate returns or capital gains. If Swiss Life were required to liquidate some or all of the
investments in its private equity portfolio, the proceeds of such liquidation may be significantly less than the amount
paid for, or the carrying amount of, such investments.

Swiss Life’s investment portfolios also include investments in hedge funds. The liquidity of such investments can vary
according to market conditions, and the investment styles of such hedge funds could amplify any factors affecting the
performance of any particular class of funds or investments.

CREDIT RISK — The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts
in full when due. Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are:

– Counterparty risk with respect to bonds purchased 
– Counterparty risk with respect to loans and mortgages granted
– Counterparty risk with respect to money market and cash positions
– Counterparty risk with respect to derivative transactions 
– Reinsurance share of insurance liabilities
– Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid
– Amounts due from insurance contract holders
– Amounts due from insurance intermediaries

To reduce the credit exposure relating to derivatives a collateral management process has been established. Contrac-
tually all outstanding positions must be fully collateralised if they reach a very low agreed minimum transfer amount.
The collateral is called at least weekly, but in times of turbulent markets the frequency is increased. As leverage is not
permitted, certain coverage rules apply with regard to cash or long positions. Counterparties for derivative transac-
tions, over-the-counter and exchange-traded, have to be approved by both the Group Chief Risk Officer and the Group
Chief Investment Officer. The minimum rating for a counterparty is A– (Standard & Poor’s or equivalent) for the Swiss
Life Group’s insurance operations. During the ongoing period of market turmoil reliance on ratings is of limited value;
therefore an additional qualitative and quantitative counterparty monitoring process has been established to allow for
immediate proactive measures.

Counterparty risk is managed through the holding of credit default swaps or credit default swap indices. A credit
default swap provides insurance to the debt holder against a default of the debt issuer. It is traded over-the-counter
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and itself underlies the collateral management process described above. The credit default swap index is a hedge on
credit risk of a basket of counterparties and is an exchange-traded derivative.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk associated with reinsurance recoverables. As a consequence, the financial
strength of reinsurers is monitored. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual basis by reviewing
their financial strength and also prior to any contract being signed. The general policy of the Swiss Life Group is to
reinsure its insurance risks only with counterparties rated A– or above (Standard & Poor’s or equivalent). In excep-
tional cases, reinsurers with a lower rating may be considered. Additionally, the Group holds substantial collateral
under related reinsurance agreements in the form of deposited funds and securities.

No single reinsurer is a material reinsurer to the Group, nor is the Group’s business substantially dependent upon one
single reinsurer.

For fixed-income assets the total exposure per counterparty is aggregated and reported to the Group Risk Commit-
tee. The individual operations maintain records of the payment history for the significant contract holders with whom
they conduct regular business. Ratings and single positions above a certain level with regard to fixed-income assets are
reported to management on a regular basis. The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed by other mech-
anisms such as the right to offset where counterparties are both debtors and creditors of the Group. In addition, 
limits regarding single counterparty exposure are in place which depend on the rating and amount of exposure in 
relation to total investments. Information reported to management includes assessment of bad debts. Where there
exists a certain exposure to individual policyholders, or homogenous groups of policyholders, a financial analysis
equivalent to that conducted for reinsurers is carried out.

The non-rated loans primarily comprise mortgages and policy loans. For the bulk of the mortgages a risk class system
is in place which allows the company to identify, measure, monitor and manage the risks at the level of portfolios, 
borrowers and loans at all times. The risk class system also enables a risk-adequate pricing of the loans. Implementa-
tion, parametrisation and control of the system are set out in an internal directive which has been approved by the
Group Chief Investment Officer.

In certain countries, specific additional guidelines and rules have been defined locally to monitor credit risk. Such
guidelines cover investments in fixed-income securities which are mostly based on the average rating of the issuers 
(calculated by weighting default probabilities). Minimum and maximum thresholds apply with regard to permitted
investments in non-government bonds. For investments in government bonds with a rating lower than AA- (accord-
ing to Standard & Poor’s or equivalent) and non-government bonds additional exposure limits are in place. For cer-
tain businesses, credit risk is monitored and controlled with a risk limit framework whereby maximum limits are
reviewed and approved at least annually. The majority of the bond portfolio is invested in government bonds (includ-
ing supranational and sovereigns) and bonds issued by the financial sector covered by collateral or government guar-
antees.
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MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK

In CHF million For the account and risk of the For the account and risk of the
Swiss Life Group Swiss Life Group’s customers Total

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

DEBT SECURITIES

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 1 906 964 6 083 5 848 7 989 6 812

Debt securities available for sale 64 883 53 908 – – 64 883 53 908

Debt securities held to maturity 5 046 5 229 – – 5 046 5 229

Debt securities pledged as collateral 969 1 060 – – 969 1 060

Debt securities classified as loans 8 608 9 498 – – 8 608 9 498

TOTAL DEBT SECURITIES 81 412 70 659 6 083 5 848 87 495 76 507

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Mortgages 5 123 5 167 – – 5 123 5 167

Policy and other originated loans 1 708 953 – – 1 708 953

Note loans 8 176 8 990 – – 8 176 8 990

Receivables 3 587 5 105 – – 3 587 5 105

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 18 594 20 215 – – 18 594 20 215

OTHER ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 2 638 4 607 2 446 2 333 5 084 6 940

Derivatives 1 318 2 965 – – 1 318 2 965

Reinsurance assets 380 365 – – 380 365

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 4 336 7 937 2 446 2 333 6 782 10 270

UNRECOGNISED ITEMS

Financial guarantees 130 354 – – 130 354

Loan commitments 119 107 – – 119 107

TOTAL UNRECOGNISED ITEMS 249 461 – – 249 461

TOTAL EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK 104 591 99 272 8 529 8 181 113 120 107 453
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The following table shows the extent to which collateral and other credit enhancements mitigate credit risk in respect
of the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

CREDIT RISK MITIGATION – COLLATERAL HELD AS SECURITY AND OTHER CREDIT ENHANCEMENTS

In CHF million Financial
guarantees

Debt Loans and Cash and cash Derivatives Reinsurance and loan
securities receivables equivalents (assets) assets commitments Total

31 DECEMBER 2011

Secured by

cash collateral – – – 1 269 70 – 1 339

securities collateral – 994 – 8 207 161 1 370

mortgage collateral 7 707 8 255 – – – 85 16 047

other collateral – 341 – – – 3 344

guarantees/letters of credit 2 845 1 319 149 – – – 4 313

netting agreements – 90 – – – – 90

Without credit enhancements

Governments and supranationals 37 599 3 783 594 – – – 41 976

Other 33 261 3 812 1 895 41 103 – 39 112

TOTAL 81 412 18 594 2 638 1 318 380 249 104 591

31 DECEMBER 2010

Secured by

cash collateral – – – 2 831 60 – 2 891

securities collateral – 369 1 400 76 205 133 2 183

mortgage collateral 5 819 8 352 – – – 58 14 229

other collateral – 363 – – – – 363

guarantees/letters of credit 24 1 583 474 – – – 2 081

netting agreements – 77 252 – – – 329

Without credit enhancements

Governments and supranationals 35 892 4 697 526 – – – 41 115

Other 28 924 4 774 1 955 58 100 270 36 081

TOTAL 70 659 20 215 4 607 2 965 365 461 99 272
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EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS – CREDIT RATING BY CLASS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million
Past due or

AAA AA A BBB Below BBB Not rated impaired Total

DEBT SECURITIES

Supranational 2 071 – 159 16 – – – 2 246

Governments 27 086 3 772 1 177 608 104 85 11 32 843

Sovereign 225 763 465 866 191 – – 2 510

Covered/guaranteed 6 613 1 286 1 455 957 216 25 – 10 552

Corporates 1 068 5 397 13 451 10 437 2 597 137 3 33 090

Other 97 19 11 8 9 27 0 171

TOTAL DEBT SECURITIES 37 160 11 237 16 718 12 892 3 117 274 14 81 412

MORTGAGES

Commercial – – – – – 2 558 6 2 564

Residential – – – – – 2 530 29 2 559

TOTAL MORTGAGES – – – – – 5 088 35 5 123

OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Policy and other originated loans 149 69 858 14 – 618 0 1 708

Note loans 4 829 1 893 933 510 11 – – 8 176

Receivables 110 49 92 49 7 3 222 58 3 587

TOTAL OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 5 088 2 011 1 883 573 18 3 840 58 13 471

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS – CREDIT RATING BY CLASS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million
Past due or

AAA AA A BBB Below BBB Not rated impaired Total

DEBT SECURITIES

Supranational 1 492 12 277 77 – – – 1 858

Governments 25 738 2 799 2 564 421 137 14 – 31 673

Sovereign 341 682 536 590 213 – – 2 362

Covered/guaranteed 4 454 529 612 170 44 34 – 5 843

Corporates 1 327 5 187 12 596 7 308 2 271 85 7 28 781

Other 135 2 2 2 – 0 1 142

TOTAL DEBT SECURITIES 33 487 9 211 16 587 8 568 2 665 133 8 70 659

MORTGAGES

Commercial – – – – – 2 666 24 2 690

Residential – – – – – 2 445 32 2 477

TOTAL MORTGAGES – – – – – 5 111 56 5 167

OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Policy and other originated loans 153 126 377 20 – 276 1 953

Note loans 5 945 1 692 1 256 97 – – – 8 990

Receivables 145 233 268 33 3 4 390 33 5 105

TOTAL OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 6 243 2 051 1 901 150 3 4 666 34 15 048
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FINANCIAL ASSETS PAST DUE (NOT IMPAIRED) – AGE ANALYSIS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million
Up to More than

3 months 3–6 months 6–12 months 1 year Total

MORTGAGES

Commercial – – – – –

Residential 13 9 2 2 26

TOTAL 13 9 2 2 26

OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Policy and other originated loans – – – – –

Receivables 13 2 3 8 26

TOTAL 13 2 3 8 26

FINANCIAL ASSETS PAST DUE (NOT IMPAIRED) – AGE ANALYSIS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million
Up to More than

3 months 3–6 months 6–12 months 1 year Total

MORTGAGES

Commercial – 2 – – 2

Residential 11 13 1 4 29

TOTAL 11 15 1 4 31

FINANCIAL ASSETS INDIVIDUALLY DETERMINED AS IMPAIRED

In CHF million Gross amount Impairment losses Carrying amount

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

DEBT SECURITIES

Governments 52 – –41 – 11 –

Corporates 78 83 –75 –76 3 7

Other 493 508 –493 –507 0 1

TOTAL 623 591 –609 –583 14 8

MORTGAGES

Commercial 20 38 –14 –16 6 22

Residential 4 4 –1 –1 3 3

TOTAL 24 42 –15 –17 9 25

OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Policy and other originated loans 7 8 –7 –7 0 1

Receivables 39 41 –7 –8 32 33

TOTAL 46 49 –14 –15 32 34
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FINANCIAL ASSETS INDIVIDUALLY DETERMINED AS IMPAIRED – IMPAIRMENT LOSS ALLOWANCE FOR THE YEAR 2011

In CHF million Foreign
Impairment currency

Balance as at losses Write-offs translation Balance as at
1 January recognised and disposals differences end of period

DEBT SECURITIES

Governments – 56 –15 0 41

Corporates 76 1 –2 0 75

Other 507 1 –15 – 493

TOTAL 583 58 –32 0 609

MORTGAGES

Commercial 16 –1 – –1 14

Residential 1 0 0 0 1

TOTAL 17 –1 0 –1 15

OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Policy and other originated loans 7 – – – 7

Receivables 8 2 –3 0 7

TOTAL 15 2 –3 0 14

FINANCIAL ASSETS INDIVIDUALLY DETERMINED AS IMPAIRED – IMPAIRMENT LOSS ALLOWANCE FOR THE YEAR 2010

In CHF million Foreign
Impairment currency

Balance as at losses Write-offs translation Balance as at
1 January recognised and disposals differences end of period

DEBT SECURITIES

Governments 11 –5 –6 0 –

Covered/guaranteed 16 –1 –15 0 –

Corporates 107 –1 –30 0 76

Other 546 0 –38 –1 507

TOTAL 680 –7 –89 –1 583

MORTGAGES

Commercial 21 –2 –3 – 16

Residential 8 –1 –6 0 1

TOTAL 29 –3 –9 0 17

OTHER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Policy and other originated loans 0 7 – – 7

Receivables 5 5 –2 0 8

TOTAL 5 12 –2 0 15

The criteria used for the assessment of financial assets for impairment are described in note 2.8. 
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EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK OF OTHER ASSETS

In CHF million

AAA AA A BBB Below BBB Not rated Total

CREDIT RATING AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 883 334 1 207 96 0 118 2 638

Derivatives 185 30 900 1 – 202 1 318

Reinsurance assets – 114 186 12 – 68 380

TOTAL 1 068 478 2 293 109 0 388 4 336

CREDIT RATING AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 977 1 872 1 162 1 – 595 4 607

Derivatives 50 2 415 310 – – 190 2 965

Reinsurance assets – 300 5 – – 60 365

TOTAL 1 027 4 587 1 477 1 – 845 7 937

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK OF UNRECOGNISED ITEMS

In CHF million

AAA AA A BBB Below BBB Not rated Total

CREDIT RATING AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

Financial guarantees – – – – – 130 130

Loan commitments – – – – – 119 119

TOTAL – – – – – 249 249

CREDIT RATING AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

Financial guarantees – 0 – 220 – 134 354

Loan commitments – – – – – 107 107

TOTAL – 0 – 220 – 241 461

CURRENCY RISK — The Swiss Life Group operates internationally and its exposures to currency risk primarily arise
with respect to the euro, US dollar and British pound. Most of the investments and liabilities are denominated in Swiss
francs, euros and US dollars, the values of which are subject to exchange rate fluctuations. The Group operates with
various functional currencies (predominantly Swiss francs and euros). Its financial position and earnings could be sig-
nificantly affected by a weakening of said foreign currencies against the Swiss franc.

The Swiss Life Group’s European insurance and investment operations (excluding Switzerland) generally invest in
assets denominated in the same currency as their insurance and investment contract liabilities, which mitigates the
currency risk for these operations. As a result, currency risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities denominated
in other currencies and net investments in foreign operations. Although the Swiss Life Group actively engages in cur-
rency management to reduce the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on its assets and liabilities, particularly by hedg-
ing against the risk of such movements in relation to part of its investments denominated in euros and in US dollars,
significant movements in exchange rates could adversely affect the Swiss Life Group’s earnings and financial position,
including the value of its investment portfolio. Foreign exchange exposure is hedged to a large extent in line with the
strategic asset allocation. The Group’s hedging arrangements are directed at covering its exposure mainly from an eco-
nomic perspective. The instruments which the Swiss Life Group uses to hedge exposure may not be perfectly corre-
lated to the related assets, so the Group will still be exposed to losses if the value of the hedge and the value of the
underlying asset or liability do not correspond appropriately. 
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Due to the limitations of the Swiss capital market with regard to liquidity, investments in Switzerland are also made
in currencies other than the Swiss franc. 

The balance sheet currency exposure is to a large extent hedged using foreign currency derivatives. The following table
shows the Group’s foreign currency exposure against the major functional currencies Swiss franc and euro:

CURRENCY EXPOSURE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million

CHF EUR USD GBP JPY Other

BALANCE SHEET CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Entities with functional currency CHF – 13 820 13 919 3 872 100 2 838

Entities with functional currency EUR 6 – 1 335 301 7 373

HEDGING EFFECT

Entities with functional currency CHF – –12 595 –13 490 –3 169 –100 –2 211

Entities with functional currency EUR – – –906 –111 – –207

CURRENCY EXPOSURE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million

CHF EUR USD GBP JPY Other

BALANCE SHEET CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Entities with functional currency CHF – 14 342 11 699 2 685 111 2 769

Entities with functional currency EUR 8 – 446 55 0 154

HEDGING EFFECT

Entities with functional currency CHF – –14 629 –10 894 –2 602 –131 –1 644

Entities with functional currency EUR – – –564 – – –180

LIQUIDITY RISK — Liquidity risk is the risk that not enough cash resources may be available to pay obligations when
due (primarily obligations arising from the insurance business and debt) at a reasonable cost. The Swiss Life Group is
exposed to liquidity risk which primarily arises on calls on its cash resources from claims, amounts payable at matu-
rity and surrenders arising from insurance and investment contracts. The Swiss Life Group faces the risk of not being
able to refinance its debt obligations due to unexpected long-term market disruptions.

At operational level, rolling forecasts are in place to address situational liquidity risk, which primarily arises on unex-
pected calls on cash resources from claims, amounts payable at maturity and surrenders arising from insurance and
investment contracts. To overcome unexpected liquidity shortfalls at times asset disposals are not desired, repurchase
agreements are used to ensure short-term refinancing at minimal cost.

At strategic level, the Swiss Life Group holds substantial liquidity and uses active debt maturity planning to ensure
full financial flexibility and efficient liquidity management.
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The liquidity analysis of financial liabilities and commitments is based on undiscounted cash flows by remaining 
contractual maturities, whereas insurance and policyholder participation liabilities are analysed by estimated timing
of net cash outflows. The analysis is made for amounts for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group.

EXPOSURE TO LIQUIDITY RISK AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

In CHF million Cash flows

Carrying More than
amount Up to 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years 10 years

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Investment contracts with discretionary participation 8 445 24 43 235 1 937 1 904 4 302

Investment contracts without discretionary participation 85 4 5 13 14 8 41

Borrowings 2 624 – 1 132 2 476 760 –

Other financial liabilities 7 225 570 1 224 4 324 354 222 532

TOTAL 18 379 598 1 273 4 704 4 781 2 894 4 875

INSURANCE AND POLICYHOLDER PARTICIPATION LIABILITIES

Insurance liabilities 92 257 238 222 3 044 7 077 12 542 69 134

Policyholder participation liabilities 5 150 25 16 1 520 3 016 27 546

TOTAL 97 407 263 238 4 564 10 093 12 569 69 680

GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS

Financial guarantees – – – 130 – – –

Loan commitments – 67 24 24 4 – –

Capital commitments – 401 182 – 262 32 –

TOTAL – 468 206 154 266 32 –

EXPOSURE TO LIQUIDITY RISK AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

In CHF million Cash flows

Carrying More than
amount Up to 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years 5–10 years 10 years

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Investment contracts with discretionary participation 8 314 25 45 241 1 925 1 952 4 127

Investment contracts without discretionary participation 177 0 26 102 22 11 17

Borrowings 2 142 – – 220 1 628 823 –

Other financial liabilities 10 920 788 1 302 7 627 394 235 575

TOTAL 21 553 813 1 373 8 190 3 969 3 021 4 719

INSURANCE AND POLICYHOLDER PARTICIPATION LIABILITIES

Insurance liabilities 89 344 235 270 3 082 7 333 13 275 65 149

Policyholder participation liabilities 3 436 23 9 860 1 715 127 702

TOTAL 92 780 258 279 3 942 9 048 13 402 65 851

GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS

Financial guarantees – – – 116 – 63 175

Capital commitments – 534 – – 272 0 –

Loan commitments – 66 13 22 6 0 –

TOTAL – 600 13 138 278 63 175
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CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES — The table below shows the expected recovery or settle-
ment of assets and liabilities. Assets are classified as current if they are expected to be realised within twelve months
after the balance sheet date. Liabilities are classified as current if they are due to be settled within twelve months after
the balance sheet date. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

In CHF million For the account and risk of the
Current Non-current Swiss Life Group’s customers Total

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 2 638 4 607 – – 2 446 2 333 5 084 6 940

Derivatives 614 2 434 704 531 – – 1 318 2 965

Assets held for sale 22 94 – – – – 22 94

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 235 2 381 1 985 2 072 19 900 18 942 24 120 23 395

Financial assets available for sale 2 483 2 945 64 781 55 005 – – 67 264 57 950

Loans and receivables 6 441 7 149 20 761 22 564 – – 27 202 29 713

Financial assets held to maturity 174 178 4 872 5 051 – – 5 046 5 229

Financial assets pledged as collateral – 33 969 1 027 – – 969 1 060

Investment property – – 15 445 14 142 – – 15 445 14 142

Investments in associates – – 74 63 – – 74 63

Reinsurance assets 323 304 57 61 – – 380 365

Property and equipment – – 539 569 – – 539 569

Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets – – 3 722 3 982 – – 3 722 3 982

Current income tax assets 2 10 – – – – 2 10

Deferred income tax assets – – 153 150 – – 153 150

Other assets 401 407 134 169 – – 535 576

TOTAL ASSETS 15 333 20 542 114 196 105 386 22 346 21 275 151 875 147 203

LIABILITIES

Derivatives 563 282 623 216 – – 1 186 498

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 15 – – – – – 15 –

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 566 312 – – 18 216 17 259 18 782 17 571

Investment contracts 325 439 8 205 8 052 2 828 2 788 11 358 11 279

Borrowings 1 125 2 623 2 017 – – 2 624 2 142

Other financial liabilities 6 116 9 716 1 109 1 204 – – 7 225 10 920

Insurance liabilities 3 504 3 586 88 753 85 758 1 108 961 93 365 90 305

Policyholder participation liabilities 1 562 893 3 588 2 543 – – 5 150 3 436

Employee benefit liabilities 88 84 1 173 1 965 – – 1 261 2 049

Current income tax liabilities 120 295 – – – – 120 295

Deferred income tax liabilities – – 1 144 821 – – 1 144 821

Provisions 70 67 80 64 – – 150 131

Other liabilities 305 297 28 22 – – 333 319

TOTAL LIABILITIES 13 235 16 096 107 326 102 662 22 152 21 008 142 713 139 766

5.5  INSURANCE RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Insurance contracts are contracts under which one party (the insurer) agrees to compensate the other party (the 
policyholder) if a specified uncertain future event affects the policyholder. The Group’s insurance entities neither 
generally accept nor generally deny insurance coverage to applicants, but ensure that all the insurance risks are 
identified and thoroughly assessed, and that the insurance premiums accurately reflect the risk taken. The amount
of risk taken must be in line with the Group’s strategy and risk policy, and must also meet the profitability targets.
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NATURE OF INSURANCE RISK — When designing a new product or reviewing an existing one, care has to be taken that
the product neither includes systemic risk nor provides incentives for adverse selection. The product should meet the
market’s needs. The Swiss Life Group generally favours transparent and simple product design with a reliable pricing
basis with sufficient statistical data available. Insurance risk arises when biometric parameters deviate adversely from
expectations. The uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts for long-term insur-
ance contracts is due to the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of mortality and disability, for
instance. Furthermore, deviations from the expected outcome of a portfolio can also arise because of random fluctu-
ations. The impact of random fluctuations depends on the extent of diversification within a portfolio of contracts,
that is, on the size of the portfolio.

The quantification of life insurance risk is based on a sensitivity analysis. Insurance risk is thus measured as the devi-
ation of (the realisations of) the insurance risk factors from the corresponding best estimate values. Life insurance risk
factors include mortality rates, disability rates and longevity, among others.

The nature of insurance risk can be summarised as follows:

MORTALITY AND LONGEVITY — Mortality and longevity risks respectively reflect the financial consequences of insured
people dying sooner or living longer than expected. For example, a life insurer with an annuity portfolio making 
payments to the policyholders until their death is financially exposed to those individuals who live longer than
expected. Conversely, an insurer writing life insurance business that pays out amounts contingent on death of the 
policyholders is exposed to increases in mortality levels.

In Switzerland, the Swiss occupational pensions (BVG) segment of the group life insurance business is a significant
part of the Group’s overall life insurance business. The BVG business provides an example of a minimum return guar-
antee. The guarantee takes the form of the right to convert an assured sum into a life annuity at a guaranteed conver-
sion rate: The prevalent annuity conversion rate for the mandatory part of the BVG business is set at 6.9% for men
(retirement age 65) and 6.85% for women (retirement age 64) for retirements in 2012 (6.95% for men and 6.9% for
women for retirements in 2011). Under an amendment to the BVG legislation, which took effect on 1 January 2005,
the rate will be reduced in stages to 6.8% by 2014. 

With regard to mortality, morbidity and longevity risk the most important annuities payable and sums insured are as
follows:

ANNUITIES PAYABLE PER ANNUM BY TYPE OF ANNUITY – INDIVIDUAL LIFE

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Life annuities – in payment 570 568

Life annuities – deferred 1 192 1 084

Annuities certain – in payment 16 17

Annuities certain – deferred 47 49

Disability income and other annuities – in payment 232 233

Disability income and other annuities – deferred 7 661 7 556

TOTAL INDIVIDUAL LIFE 9 718 9 507
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ANNUITIES PAYABLE PER ANNUM BY TYPE OF ANNUITY – GROUP LIFE

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Retirement annuities – in payment 605 562

Retirement annuities – deferred 432 422

Survivors’ annuities – in payment 115 107

Survivors’ annuities – deferred 2 144 2 110

Disability income and other annuities – in payment 403 404

Disability income and other annuities – deferred 14 311 14 176

TOTAL GROUP LIFE 18 010 17 781

LIFE BENEFITS INSURED BY TYPE OF INSURANCE – INDIVIDUAL LIFE

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Whole life and term life 11 531 12 157

Disability lump-sum payment 20 22

Other 5 828 5 709

TOTAL INDIVIDUAL LIFE 17 379 17 888

LIFE BENEFITS INSURED BY TYPE OF INSURANCE – GROUP LIFE

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Term life 73 247 71 413

Disability lump-sum payment 596 501

Other 988 1 085

TOTAL GROUP LIFE 74 831 72 999

MORBIDITY AND DISABILITY — Disability risk reflects the financial consequences of groups of individuals getting dis-
abled more often and/or recovering less quickly than expected. With regard to morbidity, the most significant risk fac-
tors are epidemics, widespread changes in lifestyle, such as eating, smoking and exercise habits or economic effects.

EMBEDDED OPTIONS — The ability of a policyholder to pay reduced or no future premiums under a contract, to 
terminate the contract completely or to exercise a guaranteed annuity option means that the insurer’s liability is also
subject to policyholder behaviour to a certain extent. On the assumption that a certain part of policyholders will make
decisions rationally, overall insurance risk can be assumed to be aggravated by such behaviour. For example, it is likely
that policyholders whose health has deteriorated significantly will be less inclined to terminate contracts insuring 
disability or death benefits than those policyholders remaining in good health, thus resulting in an increasing trend
in the expected mortality of policyholders, as the portfolio of insurance contracts is reduced due to surrender (adverse
selection).

UNDERWRITING STRATEGY — Underwriting is the process of selecting and classifying insurable risks. The underwrit-
ing strategy attempts to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified in terms of type of risk and level of
insured benefits. Life insurance underwriting is performed to ensure that the premiums and the general conditions
of the insurance policies are consistent with the risks to be insured. The first step in the underwriting process is to
determine which individual risks can be accepted. The second step is to place the accepted risks into groups of roughly
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equivalent levels of risk. Both processes must be conducted objectively and consistently. The Group sets limits for the
acceptance of insurance coverage arising from new and renewal business. Medical selection is part of the Group’s
underwriting procedures, whereby premiums are charged to reflect the health condition and family medical history
of the applicants. The limits relate to sums at risk, maximum insured losses or present value of premiums at the con-
tract or insured person level. Depending on the type of business and the limit exceeded, the new or renewed contract
must be approved by a specific investment and risk committee or senior management. Contracts exceeding the set lim-
its must be tested for profitability according to predefined procedures before approval. Certain contracts which
include specific risks relating to derivatives or demographic risk factors for which no reliable data is available must be
submitted for approval irrespective of the amount of coverage offered. Insurance coverage exceeding set limits is 
subject to regular internal reporting requirements. Additionally, it must be ensured that the underwriting practices
are in line with local laws.

For certain group life business, local law is relevant with regard to medical examinations required before any business
is written. For certain individual life business, agreements exist with regard to medical examinations of applicants
before business is written. If the risk is assessed as high, exclusion of specific risks, premium adjustments and reinsur-
ance are considered.

In the accident and health business, the underwriting strategy comprises biometric and financial data of the persons
to be insured, type of contract and experience.

NON-LIFE — The Swiss Life Group has non-life operations in France covering risks associated with accident and health
(disability) as well as property and casualty.

Claims arising from the accident and health business primarily cover refunds for medical treatment, daily allowances
in the case of sick leave, annuities and long-term medical care. The most significant factors that could increase the
overall liabilities in health insurance are the increase in the claim frequency due to an increase in the average age of the
insured persons and negative economic and social factors. The insurance liabilities arising from accident and health
insurance contracts must consider outstanding claims and claims incurred but not reported (IBNR). A large part of
the insurance liabilities arising from these contracts relates to IBNR, and experience shows that health insurance con-
tracts are sensitive to late reporting of claims (both number of claims and amounts).

The Group manages the risks arising from these contracts by means of its underwriting strategy and reinsurance
arrangements.
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DEVELOPMENT OF CLAIMS UNDER NON-LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

In CHF million Estimate of ultimate claim costs by year of loss occurrence

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total

At end of year of loss occurrence 437 445 435 396 496 448 362 408 337 329 n/a

1 year later 487 449 414 450 423 402 403 387 382 – n/a

2 years later 454 423 437 409 393 371 323 333 – – n/a

3 years later 442 452 419 378 379 313 288 – – – n/a

4 years later 470 555 371 359 315 288 – – – – n/a

5 years later 470 465 366 301 290 – – – – – n/a

6 years later 450 435 308 283 – – – – – – n/a

7 years later 445 382 284 – – – – – – – n/a

8 years later 378 353 – – – – – – – – n/a

9 years later 357 – – – – – – – – – n/a

CURRENT ESTIMATE OF CUMULATIVE CLAIMS 357 353 284 283 290 288 288 333 382 329 3 187

Cumulative payments to date –324 –314 –247 –236 –245 –226 –218 –234 –225 –123 –2 392

LIABILITIES BEFORE DISCOUNTING 33 39 37 47 45 62 70 99 157 206 795

Effect of discounting – – – – – – – – – – –

LIABILITIES FOR THE CURRENT AND 9 PREVIOUS YEARS 33 39 37 47 45 62 70 99 157 206 795

Liabilities for prior years 165

TOTAL GROSS CLAIMS UNDER NON-LIFE
INSURANCE CONTRACTS 960

The development of claims under non-life insurance contracts comprises the non-life business in France. Garantie
Assistance S.A., Paris, is no longer included in the figures above due to the reclassification to assets held for sale and
associated liabilities in 2011. 

Acceptance rules for risks are consistent with both the Code des Assurances and the French regulations. Underwrit-
ing guidelines and tariffs are reviewed on an annual basis.

The monitoring of the risks taken is made on a monthly basis with regard to related premiums and claims. An auto-
mated claims supervision system is used for the adjustment of tariffs for risks with loss ratios above a certain level.

REINSURANCE — Reinsurance is used to limit the Group’s exposure to insurance risk. This does not, however, dis-
charge the Group’s liability as a primary insurer, and, if a reinsurer fails to pay a claim, the Group remains liable for
the payments to the policyholder. A loss allowance would be recognised for any estimated unrecoverable reinsurance.

In addition, the Group holds substantial collateral under related reinsurance agreements in the form of deposited
funds and securities. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the assumptions
used for the underlying policy benefits and are presented in the balance sheet as a component of the reinsurance assets.

Management reviews reinsurance programmes covering treaty, type, risks covered and retention on a regular basis. A
process, competencies and limits are set up for the approval of reinsurance programmes and their modification. To
ensure that the Group’s principles are observed, guidelines on reinsurance have been introduced.

In accordance with its retention policy, for mortality and disability benefits, the Group limits its exposure to
CHF 5 million per life. Retention limits can be lower for other products (e.g. critical illness or long-term care) or for
exposure in international markets. In addition, catastrophe reinsurance is in place to protect against accumulation of
losses from a single event or a series of connected events. 
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The reinsurance team at Group level is responsible for implementing the retention policy by way of intra-group rein-
surance. Intra-group reinsurance is transacted at arm’s length.

As far as property and casualty insurance is concerned, the reinsurance arrangements mostly include non-proportional
coverage on any single risk and/or event, and are adapted to the specific exposure. This includes excess of loss, stop-
loss and catastrophe coverage, as well as facultative reinsurance for protection against specific risks.

No single reinsurer is a material reinsurer to the Group, nor is the Group’s business substantially dependent upon one
single reinsurer.

Approximately 1.6% in terms of earned insurance premiums was ceded as at 31 December 2011 (2010: 1.9%).

OTHER RISK TRANSFER — Risk transfer primarily takes the form of reinsurance. Alternative forms of risk transfer
(such as securitisation) require the formal approval of the Group Risk Committee. No significant alternative form of
risk transfer is used by the Group at present.

Insurance risks are regularly reported to the Group Risk Committee.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS — The Swiss Life Group uses the market consistent embedded value (MCEV) following the
guidelines of the European Insurance CFO Forum Market Consistent Embedded Value Principles©1, as one of the main
management tools, for its sensitivity analysis with regard to insurance risk and market risk. From the shareholders’
point of view, the embedded value serves as an indicator of the value of the existing insurance portfolios. It is com-
posed of two components: the net asset value (NAV) attributable to shareholders and the value of in-force business
(VIF). Future new business is not included.

The market consistent embedded value of the Swiss Life Group amounted to CHF 7.7 billion as at 31 December 2011
(2010: CHF 7.6 billion). Due to different valuation principles, changes in the embedded value are typically not reflected
to the same extent in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of income of the Swiss Life Group
and vice versa.

The market consistent embedded value calculations are based on economic scenarios which are calibrated to 
market conditions at valuation date. Best estimate assumptions were made regarding a number of factors, in particu-
lar asset allocation, policyholder participation, development of costs and claims, policyholder behaviour, mortality and
morbidity. Business is assumed to be continuing at the same level (going concern) and the current cost ratios – adjusted
for inflation – are thus assumed to hold good for the future as well. Future costs for maintaining classic solvency cap-
ital funded by the shareholders and which underpins the insurance business are charged to the MCEV. The Swiss Life
Group calculates the embedded value for all its life and health insurance companies. All other companies are taken
into account at their IFRS net asset value. As a consequence, embedded value sensitivities do not affect the value of
these companies. 

An analysis of sensitivity indicates to what extent the embedded value is affected by variations in risk factors. The analy-
sis is based on changes in the assumptions used in the embedded value calculation whereby a specific risk factor is
changed while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of
the assumptions may be correlated. In the event of a change in a specific risk factor, the effect of different allocations
to policyholder participation as a consequence is considered in the analysis. The changes in a specific risk factor are
applied to the entire projection period.
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The sensitivity analysis with regard to insurance risk is as follows:

Higher overall mortality would have a significant positive effect on the embedded value of life annuities (survival risk)
whereas the negative effect on the embedded value of contracts with mortality risk is comparatively limited due to cor-
responding reductions in policyholder bonuses. Therefore, this sensitivity is considered not significant as an adverse
risk for the embedded value.

At 31 December 2011, if the longevity improvement parameter had increased by 5%, the embedded value would have
been CHF 37 million lower (2010: CHF 28 million lower).

At 31 December 2011, if morbidity had been 5% higher, the embedded value would have been CHF 87 million lower
(2010: CHF 78 million lower).

At 31 December 2011, if morbidity had been 5% lower, the embedded value would have been CHF 85 million higher
(2010: CHF 81 million higher).

The sensitivity analysis with regard to market risk is as follows:

The MCEV calculations of the Swiss Life Group are based on economic scenarios which are calibrated to market con-
ditions at valuation date. 

At 31 December 2011, if the interest rates had been 100 basis points higher, the embedded value would have been
CHF 283 million higher (2010: CHF 473 million higher).

At 31 December 2011, if the interest rates had been 100 basis points lower, the embedded value would have been
CHF 729 million lower (2010: CHF 824 million lower).

At 31 December 2011, if the swaption implied volatilities (interest rates) had been 25% higher, the embedded value
would have been CHF 709 million lower (2010: CHF 247 million lower).

At 31 December 2011, if the swaption implied volatilities (interest rates) had been 25% lower, the embedded value would
have been CHF 544 million higher (2010: CHF 397 million higher).

At 31 December 2011, if the market value of equity securities and property had been 10% higher, the embedded value
would have been CHF 746 million higher (2010: CHF 723 million higher).

At 31 December 2011, if the market value of equity securities and property had been 10% lower, the embedded value
would have been CHF 814 million lower (2010: CHF 808 million lower).

At 31 December 2011, if the equity securities and property implied volatilities had been 25% higher, the embedded
value would have been CHF 243 million lower (2010: CHF 276 million lower).

At 31 December 2011, if the equity securities and property implied volatilities had been 25% lower, the embedded value
would have been CHF 200 million higher (2010: CHF 227 million higher).

At 31 December 2011, if the euro had strengthened by 10% against the Swiss franc, the embedded value of the foreign
life and health insurance companies would have been CHF 251 million higher (2010: CHF 254 million higher).
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At 31 December 2011, if the euro had weakened by 10% against the Swiss franc, the embedded value of the foreign life
and health insurance companies would have been CHF 251 million lower (2010: CHF 254 million lower).

The sensitivity of insurance liabilities is also analysed on an economic basis for internal risk management purposes
and to satisfy regulatory requirements (Swiss Solvency Test).

6  Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) are calculated on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the report-
ing period, excluding the average number of shares purchased by the Group and held as treasury shares. 

Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive effect of convertible bonds and share options issued. In the diluted EPS
calculation, the convertible debt is assumed to have been converted into shares and the profit attributable to share-
holders is adjusted for the applicable interest expense minus the related taxes. Share options are dilutive when they
would result in the issuance of shares for less than the average market price during the period. Dilutive share options
are assumed to have been exercised. The assumed proceeds are regarded as having been received from the issuance of
shares at the average market price during the period. The difference between the number of shares issued and the 
number of shares that would have been issued at the average market price during the period is considered as an
issuance of shares for no consideration.

In CHF million (if not noted otherwise)

2011 2010

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net result attributable to equity holders of Swiss Life Holding 605 557

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 31 893 573 31 904 887

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR THE NET RESULT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF SWISS LIFE HOLDING (IN CHF) 18.97 17.46

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net result attributable to equity holders of Swiss Life Holding 605 557

RESULT USED TO DETERMINE DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 605 557

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 31 893 573 31 904 887

Adjustments (number of shares)

Equity compensation plans 166 740 170 522

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING FOR DILUTED
EARNINGS PER SHARE 32 060 313 32 075 409

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR THE NET RESULT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF SWISS LIFE HOLDING (IN CHF) 18.87 17.37
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7  Premiums, Policy Fees and Deposits Received

WRITTEN PREMIUMS

In CHF million

2011 2010

Direct 11 527 11 728

Assumed 262 252

GROSS WRITTEN PREMIUMS 11 789 11 980

Ceded –191 –225

NET WRITTEN PREMIUMS 11 598 11 755

EARNED PREMIUMS

In CHF million

2011 2010

Direct 11 528 11 727

Assumed 262 252

GROSS EARNED PREMIUMS 11 790 11 979

Ceded –191 –226

NET EARNED PREMIUMS 11 599 11 753

WRITTEN POLICY FEES

In CHF million

2011 2010

Direct 291 293

Assumed 0 4

GROSS WRITTEN POLICY FEES 291 297

Ceded 0 0

NET WRITTEN POLICY FEES 291 297

EARNED POLICY FEES

In CHF million

2011 2010

Direct 295 294

Assumed 0 4

GROSS EARNED POLICY FEES 295 298

Ceded 0 0

NET EARNED POLICY FEES 295 298
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Under the accounting principles adopted, deposits received under insurance and investment contracts for which
deposit accounting is used are not recognised as income:

In CHF million

2011 2010

Gross written premiums and policy fees 12 080 12 277

Deposits received under insurance and investment contracts 5 063 7 914

GROSS WRITTEN PREMIUMS, POLICY FEES AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED 17 143 20 191

8  Details of Certain Items in the Consolidated Statement of Income

COMMISSION INCOME

In CHF million

2011 2010

Brokerage commissions 634 716

Asset management commissions 123 96

Other commissions and fees 136 110

TOTAL COMMISSION INCOME 893 922

INVESTMENT INCOME

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Interest income on financial assets held to maturity and available for sale 2 430 2 201

Interest income on loans and receivables 1 110 1 352

Other interest income 15 13

Dividend income on financial assets available for sale 75 111

Net income on investment property 586 565

TOTAL INVESTMENT INCOME 5 4 216 4 242

NET GAINS/LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Sale of

financial assets available for sale 27 344 385

loans 140 17

Net gains/losses from sales 484 402

Impairment losses on

debt securities available for sale 27 –57 4

equity securities available for sale 27 –87 –68

loans and receivables 13 –4 –9

Impairment losses on financial assets –148 –73

Foreign currency gains/losses 214 –4 759

TOTAL NET GAINS/LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS 5 550 –4 430
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NET GAINS/LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Interest rate derivatives –45 42

Equity derivatives –101 –32

Currency derivatives –532 4 185

Other derivatives 0 –14

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss –155 57

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss 30 11

Financial instruments for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers –17 1

TOTAL NET GAINS/LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 5 –820 4 250

OTHER INCOME

In CHF million

2011 2010

Realised gains/losses on sales of subsidiaries and other assets –1 15

Other foreign currency gains/losses 40 469

Other 6 19

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 45 503

NET INSURANCE BENEFITS AND CLAIMS

In CHF million

2011 2010

Benefits and claims under insurance contracts

Life benefits and claims paid, gross 9 728 9 451

Change in liability for future life policyholder benefits, gross 2 028 2 543

Non-life claims paid, gross 259 306

Change in reserve for non-life claims, gross –7 –11

Benefits and claims recovered from reinsurers –103 –128

Net benefits and claims under insurance contracts 11 905 12 161

Benefits and claims under investment contracts with discretionary participation

Life benefits and claims paid, gross 437 164

Change in liability for future life policyholder benefits, gross 272 379

Benefits and claims recovered from reinsurers – –

Net benefits and claims under investment contracts with discretionary participation 709 543

TOTAL NET INSURANCE BENEFITS AND CLAIMS 12 614 12 704

INTEREST EXPENSE

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Interest expense on deposits 43 40

Interest expense on investment contracts 20 97 120

Interest expense on deposits under insurance contracts 23 100 118

Other interest expense 34 33

TOTAL INTEREST EXPENSE 274 311
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COMMISSION EXPENSE

In CHF million

2011 2010

Insurance agent and broker commissions 911 917

Asset management and banking commissions 52 49

Other commissions and fees 20 42

TOTAL COMMISSION EXPENSE 983 1 008

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Wages and salaries 585 587

Social security 120 138

Defined benefit plans 24 84 72

Defined contribution plans 1 1

Other employee benefits 45 48

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 835 846

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Depreciation of property and equipment 17 30 35

Amortisation of present value of future profits (PVP) 18 1 1

Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs (DAC) 18 461 503

Amortisation of deferred origination costs (DOC) 18 27 14

Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 35 41

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE 554 594

OTHER EXPENSES

In CHF million

2011 2010

Marketing and advertising 64 69

Information technology and systems 65 62

Rental, maintenance and repair 72 75

Professional services 174 183

Premium taxes and other non-income taxes 58 132

Other 97 88

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 530 609

Net gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss include interest and dividend income of
CHF 79 million for the period ended 31 December 2011 (2010: CHF 48 million). Net gains/losses on liabilities desig-
nated as at fair value through profit or loss include changes attributable to credit risk: nil for the period ended
31 December 2011 (2010: nil). 
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9  Derivatives

In CHF million Fair value assets Fair value liabilities Contract/notional amount

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

CURRENCY DERIVATIVES

Forward contracts 400 2 354 689 47 36 506 34 573

Swaps – – 3 – 939 –

Futures – 2 – – – 25

Options (over-the-counter) 42 – 25 – 6 826 –

Options (exchange-traded) – 51 – 83 – 5 478

TOTAL CURRENCY DERIVATIVES 442 2 407 717 130 44 271 40 076

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

Swaps 517 195 386 209 17 766 15 647

Futures 26 1 1 1 256 249

Options (over-the-counter) 105 47 15 – 1 947 1 061

Other – 0 9 – 454 6

TOTAL INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES 648 243 411 210 20 423 16 963

EQUITY/INDEX DERIVATIVES

Forward contracts – 32 – 34 – 544

Futures 0 3 7 3 147 287

Options (over-the-counter) – 51 – 15 – 884

Options (exchange-traded) 228 222 51 105 2 962 7 257

Other – 7 – 1 – 120

TOTAL EQUITY/INDEX DERIVATIVES 228 315 58 158 3 109 9 092

OTHER DERIVATIVES

Derivatives embedded in insurance contracts – – 0 0 6 6

TOTAL OTHER DERIVATIVES – – 0 0 6 6

TOTAL DERIVATIVES 1 318 2 965 1 186 498 67 809 66 137

of which derivatives designated and accounted for as hedging instruments

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges 0 11 2 3 117 822

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 239 2 63 – 6 497 25

Derivatives designated as net investment hedges 6 29 – – 365 374

DERIVATIVES HELD FOR RISK MANAGEMENT

Derivatives held for risk management primarily comprise derivatives that share a risk with other financial instruments
and give rise to opposite changes in fair value that tend to offset each other (“economic hedges”).

To manage the risks associated with derivative activity, the Group establishes risk levels and monitors these exposures.
Exposure to price risk on both derivatives and their underlyings is managed in accordance with risk limits set by man-
agement for buying or selling instruments or closing out positions. The risks arise from open positions in interest
rates, currencies and equity instruments, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements.

DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AND ACCOUNTED FOR AS HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives designated and accounted for as hedging instruments comprise derivatives associated with fair value
hedges, cash flow hedges and net investment hedges that qualify for hedge accounting.
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DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS FAIR VALUE HEDGES

In CHF million Gains/losses on hedging
Fair value assets Fair value liabilities instruments Gains/losses on hedged items Contract/notional amount

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Interest rate risk

Interest rate swaps to hedge
available-for-sale bond portfolios – – – – –154 –17 154 16 – –

Interest rate swaps to hedge
note loans – – – 3 –42 –3 40 4 – 518

Foreign currency risk

Currency forwards to hedge
investments in hedge funds 0 11 2 – –4 33 4 –35 117 304

TOTAL DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED
AS FAIR VALUE HEDGES 0 11 2 3 –200 13 198 –15 117 822

In 2011 and 2010, the Group entered into interest rate swaps to hedge euro-denominated fixed-rate note loans carried
at amortised cost against changes in the fair value attributable to interest rate risk. The fair value of the hedged assets
was EUR 442 million as at 31 December 2010. In 2011 hedge accounting was discontinued with regard to the interest
rate risk of fixed-rate loans. 

Forward contracts are used as hedging instruments to protect investments in hedge funds against adverse movements
in euro and US dollar exchange rates.

DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS CASH FLOW HEDGES

In CHF million Amounts Cash flows
Ineffective- transferred Cash flows expected

Amounts ness to the Contract/ expected to affect
Fair value Fair value recognised recognised in income notional to occur profit or loss

assets liabilities in equity profit or loss statement amount (year) (year)

31 DECEMBER 2011

Interest rate risk

Forward starting swaps/bonds 239 63 175 – – 6 497 2014-2016 2015-2045

Foreign currency risk

Currency futures – – 0 0 –2 – 2011 2011

TOTAL DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS CASH FLOW HEDGES 239 63 175 0 –2 6 497 n/a n/a

31 DECEMBER 2010

Foreign currency risk

Currency futures 2 – 2 – – 25 2011 2011

TOTAL DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS CASH FLOW HEDGES 2 – 2 – – 25 n/a n/a

In 2011, the Group entered into forward starting swaps and forward starting bonds to hedge the exposure to variabil-
ity in interest cash flows arising on the highly probable purchase of bonds in order to achieve an adequate yield level
for reinvestments.

In 2011 and 2010, the Group entered into futures to hedge the cash flows in euro arising from policy fees earned on
investment and unit-linked contracts against foreign currency movements. In 2011, CHF 2 million was transferred to
the income statement and was included in policy fees earned on investment and unit-linked contracts.
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DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS NET INVESTMENT HEDGES

In CHF million Amounts recognised Ineffectiveness recognised
Fair value assets Fair value liabilities in equity in profit or loss Notional amount

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Currency forwards 6 29 – – 9 44 0 – 365 374

Currency options – – – – – – – – – –

TOTAL DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED
AS NET INVESTMENT HEDGES 6 29 – – 9 44 0 – 365 374

In 2011 and 2010, the Group entered into a forward contract to hedge EUR 300 million of the investment in AWD
Holding.

10  Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

In CHF million Designated as at fair value
through profit or loss

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Debt securities 1 905 963

Money market instruments 1 1

Equity securities 785 554

Investment fund units – debt 780 1 294

Investment fund units – equity 605 1 301

Investment fund units – mixed 20 68

Private equity 11 13

Hedge funds 113 215

Commodity funds – 44

Assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 5 19 900 18 942

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 24 120 23 395

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Unit-linked contracts 5 18 216 17 259

Share of net assets of investment funds attributable to minority unitholders 566 312

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 18 782 17 571
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11  Financial Assets Available for Sale

In CHF million Cost/amortised cost Net unrealised gains/losses Fair value (carrying amount)

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Debt securities 60 733 52 942 4 110 938 64 843 53 880

Money market instruments 40 28 – – 40 28

Equity securities 493 1 537 44 38 537 1 575

Investment fund units – debt 148 266 2 –4 150 262

Investment fund units – equity 887 1 094 –45 67 842 1 161

Investment fund units – mixed 220 236 7 0 227 236

Private equity 368 355 30 0 398 355

Hedge funds 149 350 78 103 227 453

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE 63 038 56 808 4 226 1 142 67 264 57 950

No held-to-maturity securities were transferred to the available-for-sale category and no available-for-sale securities
were transferred to the held-to-maturity category in the period under review. 

Financial assets available for sale that have been sold under a repurchase agreement or lent under an agreement to
return them, and where the transferee has the right to sell or repledge the financial assets given as collateral, were reclas-
sified to financial assets pledged as collateral.

12  Financial Assets Pledged as Collateral

In CHF million Carrying amount

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Debt securities reclassified from

financial assets available for sale 969 972

financial assets held to maturity 33 – 88

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL 969 1 060

Financial assets that have been sold under a repurchase agreement or lent under an agreement to return them, are not
derecognised when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by Swiss Life. If the transferee has
the right to sell or repledge the financial assets given as collateral, they are reclassified in the balance sheet as finan-
cial assets pledged at their respective carrying amounts.
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13  Loans and Receivables

In CHF million Cost/amortised cost
Gross amount Allowance for impairment losses (carrying amount)

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

LOANS Notes

Mortgages 5 147 5 192 –24 –25 5 123 5 167

Policy loans 330 360 – – 330 360

Other originated loans 1 292 600 –7 –7 1 285 593

Note loans 8 176 8 990 – – 8 176 8 990

Debt securities previously classified as available for sale 7 976 8 831 –31 –47 7 945 8 784

Debt securities designated as loans 663 714 – – 663 714

Repurchase agreements 93 – – – 93 –

TOTAL LOANS 33 23 677 24 687 –62 –79 23 615 24 608

RECEIVABLES

Insurance receivables 972 1 038 –23 –23 949 1 015

Receivables from reinsurers 136 132 – – 136 132

Accrued income 1 758 1 682 – – 1 758 1 682

Settlement accounts 172 1 658 – – 172 1 658

Other 573 619 –1 –1 572 618

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 33 3 611 5 129 –24 –24 3 587 5 105

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 27 288 29 816 –86 –103 27 202 29 713

ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

In CHF million Individual Collective
evaluation of impairment evaluation of impairment Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

LOANS

Balance as at 1 January 70 108 9 – 79 108

Impairment losses 0 1 0 – 0 1

Write-offs and reclassifications –17 –40 0 9 –17 –31

Foreign currency translation differences 0 1 – – 0 1

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 53 70 9 9 62 79

RECEIVABLES

Balance as at 1 January 8 5 16 15 24 20

Impairment losses 2 5 2 3 4 8

Write-offs –3 –2 –1 0 –4 –2

Foreign currency translation differences 0 0 0 –2 0 –2

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 7 8 17 16 24 24

TOTAL ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 60 78 26 25 86 103

Interest income accrued on impaired loans was CHF 1 million as at 31 December 2011 (2010: CHF 1 million). The
Group’s loan portfolio is monitored closely through the review of information such as debt service, annual reports
and assessments. This information is evaluated in light of current economic conditions and other factors such as diver-
sification of the property portfolio. This evaluation is part of the regular review to determine whether the allowance
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for potential loan losses is warranted. Management believes that the allowance for loan losses is sufficient. However,
management cannot predict with assurance the impact of future economic circumstances or how the mortgage and
real estate portfolios would be affected by various economic circumstances.

As at 1 July 2008, certain financial assets were reclassified from financial assets available for sale to loans due to the
disappearance of an active market. The financial assets reclassified primarily consist of corporate debt instruments
and debt instruments relating to emerging markets. The fair value as at 1 July 2008 of the financial assets reclassified
amounted to CHF 14 966 million. At the date of reclassification the effective interest rate ranged from 0.8% to 9.7%,
and the amount of cash flows expected to be recovered was estimated at CHF 32 658 million. In 2008, unrealised losses
of CHF 740 million were recognised in equity in respect of these assets.

Further details with regard to the financial assets reclassified are as follows:

DEBT SECURITIES PREVIOUSLY CLASSIFIED AS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

In CHF million

2011 2010

Carrying amount as at 31 December 7 945 8 784

Fair value as at 31 December 8 680 9 687

Gains/losses that would have been recognised in equity if the assets had not been reclassified
(excluding adjustments for income tax and policyholder participation) –58 564

Gains/losses recognised in profit or loss (including impairment) –19 –92

Interest income 490 633

14  Financial Assets Held to Maturity

In CHF million Allowance for impairment Cost/amortised cost
Gross amount losses (carrying amount)

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Debt securities 5 046 5 229 – – 5 046 5 229

Other – – – – – –

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD TO MATURITY 33 5 046 5 229 – – 5 046 5 229

Financial assets held to maturity that have been sold under a repurchase agreement or lent under an agreement to
return them, and where the transferee has the right to sell or repledge the financial assets given as collateral, were reclas-
sified to financial assets pledged as collateral.
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15  Investment Property

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 14 142 13 292

Additions 1 221 880

Capitalised subsequent expenditure 187 212

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals –594 –187

Gains/losses from fair value adjustments 513 306

Transfers from/to property and equipment 17 36 38

Foreign currency translation differences –60 –399

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 15 445 14 142

Investment property consists of

completed investment property 15 243 13 817

investment property under construction 202 325

TOTAL INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15 445 14 142

Investment property held by the Group includes residential, commercial and mixed-use properties primarily located
within Switzerland, and comprises both completed investment property and investment property under construction.
Property held for investment purposes comprises land and buildings owned by the Group to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation. Property that is used by the Group itself or leased to, and occupied by, another entity of the Group
is classified as owner-occupied property under property and equipment. Property acquired with a view to its subse-
quent disposal in the near future is carried under assets held for sale.

Rental income from investment property was CHF 751 million for the period ended 31 December 2011 (2010: 
CHF 718 million). Operating expenses arising from investment property that generated rental income stood at
CHF 165 million for the period ended 31 December 2011 (2010: CHF 153 million). Operating expenses arising from
investment property that did not generate rental income during the period stood at nil for the period ended 31 Decem-
ber 2011 (2010: CHF 0.1 million).

16  Investments in Associates

In CHF million

2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 63 71

Additions 10 –

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals 0 –2

Share of results 6 6

Dividends paid –4 –3

Foreign currency translation differences –1 –9

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 74 63

Goodwill relating to investments in associates is included in the carrying amount of investments in associates.

In 2011, the Swiss Life Group acquired a 25% share of Prigest, Paris.



139Consolidated Financial Statements

Swiss Life — Financial Statements 2011

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES: SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Amounts in CHF million
Share of Share of Direct

Assets Liabilities Net assets net assets Revenues Results results share

2011

Crédit et services financiers (CRESERFI), Paris 241 107 134 45 50 7 3 33.4%

Technopark Immobilien, Zürich 103 58 45 15 14 4 1 33.3%

Other 42 20 22 14 43 6 2 n/a

TOTAL 386 185 201 74 107 17 6 n/a

2010

Crédit et services financiers (CRESERFI), Paris 239 110 129 43 56 9 3 33.4%

Technopark Immobilien, Zürich 102 57 45 15 14 3 1 33.3%

Other 30 19 11 5 40 4 2 n/a

TOTAL 371 186 185 63 110 16 6 n/a

17  Property and Equipment

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT FOR THE YEAR 2011

In CHF million
Land and Furniture Other

Notes buildings and fixtures Hardware equipment Total

COST

Balance as at 1 January 720 61 48 8 837

Additions 18 1 10 4 33

Additions from business combinations 29 – 0 0 0 0

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals –2 –9 –7 –2 –20

Reclassifications and transfers to investment property 15 –44 – – 6 –38

Revaluation in respect of transfers to investment property 16 – – – 16

Foreign currency translation differences –8 –1 –1 0 –10

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 700 52 50 16 818

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Balance as at 1 January –194 –35 –34 –5 –268

Depreciation –16 –5 –7 –2 –30

Impairment losses – –5 – – –5

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals 2 9 7 1 19

Reclassifications and transfers to investment property 15 5 – – –3 2

Foreign currency translation differences 2 1 0 0 3

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD –201 –35 –34 –9 –279

TOTAL PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AS AT END OF PERIOD 499 17 16 7 539

of which assets held under a finance lease – – 3 – 3

of which buildings in the course of construction 14
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT FOR THE YEAR 2010

In CHF million
Land and Furniture Other

Notes buildings and fixtures Hardware equipment Total

COST

Balance as at 1 January 835 84 62 10 991

Additions 14 3 6 1 24

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals –28 –19 –14 –2 –63

Transfers from/to investment property 15 –45 – – – –45

Revaluation in respect of transfers to investment property 3 – – – 3

Foreign currency translation differences –59 –7 –6 –1 –73

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 720 61 48 8 837

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Balance as at 1 January –197 –49 –43 –6 –295

Depreciation –19 –6 –8 –2 –35

Impairment losses 0 –3 – – –3

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals 5 18 14 2 39

Transfers to investment property 15 7 – – – 7

Foreign currency translation differences 10 5 3 1 19

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD –194 –35 –34 –5 –268

TOTAL PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AS AT END OF PERIOD 526 26 14 3 569

of which assets held under a finance lease – – 2 – 2

No borrowing costs were capitalised in property and equipment in 2011 and 2010.

18  Intangible Assets including Intangible Insurance Assets

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Intangible insurance assets 1 817 2 033

Other intangible assets 1 905 1 949

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 3 722 3 982
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INTANGIBLE INSURANCE ASSETS

In CHF million Present value of future profits
from acquired insurance Deferred acquisition costs Deferred origination costs

portfolios (PVP) (DAC) (DOC) Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 16 20 1 986 2 299 31 19 2 033 2 338

Additions 2 – 389 441 55 29 446 470

Amortisation –1 –1 –461 –503 –27 –14 –489 –518

Impairment –2 – –1 –2 – – –3 –2

Effect of shadow accounting 0 0 –139 –32 – – –139 –32

Foreign currency translation differences 0 –3 –31 –217 0 –3 –31 –223

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 15 16 1 743 1 986 59 31 1 817 2 033

PRESENT VALUE OF FUTURE PROFITS (PVP) — The present value of future profits relates to portfolios of insurance
contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation acquired in a business combination or transfer of
portfolios. It relates to contracts acquired in Switzerland, Germany and France and is amortised in proportion to gross
profits over the effective life of the acquired insurance and investment contracts.

DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS (DAC) — Certain acquisition costs relating to new and renewed insurance contracts
and investment contracts with discretionary participation are deferred.

DEFERRED ORIGINATION COSTS (DOC) — These costs are recoverable and are directly attributable to securing the
right for investment management services within investment contract policies. They relate to contracts in Luxembourg
and Switzerland.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In CHF million Goodwill Customer relationships Brands and other Total

Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

COST

Balance as at 1 January 1 745 1 947 316 370 230 261 2 291 2 578

Additions – – – – 20 21 20 21

Additions from business combinations 29 9 – 2 – – – 11 –

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals – – – 0 –8 –10 –8 –10

Foreign currency translation differences –27 –202 –7 –54 –6 –42 –40 –298

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 1 727 1 745 311 316 236 230 2 274 2 291

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Balance as at 1 January –157 –157 –83 –63 –102 –120 –342 –340

Amortisation – – –29 –32 –6 –9 –35 –41

Impairment losses – – –2 – –1 – –3 –

Classification as assets held for sale and other disposals – – – 0 8 7 8 7

Foreign currency translation differences – – 2 12 1 20 3 32

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD –157 –157 –112 –83 –100 –102 –369 –342

TOTAL OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS AS AT END OF PERIOD 1 570 1 588 199 233 136 128 1 905 1 949
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GOODWILL — Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred and the amount of any
non-controlling interest recognised, if applicable, over the fair value of the assets and liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition. Goodwill includes amounts relating to both the Swiss Life Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interest in the business acquired in the case where non-controlling interest is measured at fair value. Goodwill on acqui-
sitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on associates is included in the carrying amount of
the investment.

In 2011, the Swiss Life Group acquired a majority share of Viveris REIM, Marseilles. The goodwill relating to this trans-
action amounted to CHF 9 million.

Goodwill relating to Lloyd Continental has been allocated to the “Insurance France” segment. Goodwill relating to
CapitalLeben has been allocated to the “Insurance International” segment. Of the goodwill relating to other acquisi-
tions, CHF 12 million (2010: CHF 12 million) has been allocated to the “Insurance France” segment and CHF 9 mil-
lion (2010: nil) to the “Investment Management” segment as at 31 December 2011.

The calculations relating to the recoverable amounts, which have been determined on a value-in-use basis, 
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management. The projection covers a four-year
period for Lloyd Continental. Due to the duration of the insurance and investment contracts a five-year period was
used for CapitalLeben. The calculations for Lloyd Continental and CapitalLeben are based on present values that tra-
ditionally use a single set of estimated cash flows and a single discount rate.

The key assumptions used for the impairment testing on the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:

In CHF million Lloyd Continental CapitalLeben Other

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Net carrying amount of goodwill 287 287 149 149 21 12

KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED FOR IMPAIRMENT TESTS

Growth rate 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

Discount rate 10.5% 10.7% 9.3% 9.6% 10.5% 10.7%

Goodwill relating to the acquisitions of AWD Holding AG and Deutsche Proventus AG has been allocated to the
“Insurance Switzerland”, “Insurance Germany” and “AWD” segments.

The calculations relating to the recoverable amounts which have been determined on a value-in-use basis 
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management. The projection covers a three-year
period for Insurance Switzerland and Insurance Germany and a five-year period for AWD. The calculations are based
on present values that traditionally use a single set of estimated cash flows and a single discount rate. The key assump-
tions used for the impairment testing on the carrying amount of goodwill relating to AWD were as follows:
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In CHF million Insurance Switzerland Insurance Germany AWD

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Net carrying amount of goodwill 81 81 258 265 774 794

KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED FOR IMPAIRMENT TESTS

Growth rate 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

Discount rate 9.3% 9.6% 10.5% 10.7% 9.4% 10.7%

No impairment losses were recognised in 2011 and 2010. 

In 2011, the model used for the calculation of the recoverable amount of AWD has been refined and the discount rate
has been adjusted to reflect lower interest rates, the current financing structure and the specific business model of
AWD (i.e. 9.4%). No impairment loss of the goodwill allocated to the “AWD” segment would have been caused were
the same discount rate to have been applied as for the Swiss Life insurance businesses in Germany (i.e. 10.5%). The
headroom by which the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of AWD amounted to approx.
CHF 270 million as at 31 December 2011. If AWD were to achieve an annual growth rate on operating earnings before
interest and taxes of approx. 6% over the next five years, the recoverable amount would equal the carrying amount as
at 31 December 2011.

CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS — As at 31 December 2011 customer relationships comprise customer relationships
relating to the “AWD” segment CHF 156 million (2010: CHF 186 million), “Insurance France” segment CHF 21 mil-
lion (2010: CHF 25 million), “Insurance International” segment CHF 20 million (2010: CHF 22 million) and “Invest-
ment Management” segment CHF 2 million (2010: nil). 

BRANDS AND OTHER — Consists of brands, trademarks, computer software and other intangible assets relating to
AWD CHF 98 million (2010: CHF 103 million) and other CHF 38 million (2010: CHF 25 million) as at 31 Decem-
ber 2011.

19  Other Assets and Liabilities

OTHER ASSETS

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Deferred charges and prepaid expenses 317 318

Employee benefit assets 134 168

Sundry assets 84 90

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 535 576
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OTHER LIABILITIES

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Deferred income 259 266

Sundry liabilities 74 53

TOTAL OTHER LIABILITIES 333 319

20  Investment Contracts

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Investment contracts with discretionary participation with deposit accounting 9 605 9 694

Investment contracts with discretionary participation with actuarial valuation 1 463 1 179

Investment contracts without discretionary participation at amortised cost 33 53 170

Investment contracts without discretionary participation at fair value through profit or loss 237 236

TOTAL INVESTMENT CONTRACTS 11 358 11 279

of which for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers

investment contracts with discretionary participation 2 623 2 559

investment contracts without discretionary participation 205 229

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION WITH DEPOSIT ACCOUNTING

In CHF million

2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 9 694 10 566

Deposits received 1 797 2 451

Interest credited 95 111

Participating bonuses 187 221

Policy fees –108 –118

Deposits released –1 188 –1 280

Reclassifications and other movements –626 –501

Foreign currency translation differences –246 –1 756

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 9 605 9 694

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION WITH ACTUARIAL VALUATION

In CHF million

Notes 2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 1 179 820

Additions from acquisition of insurance portfolio 31 15 –

Savings premiums 684 521

Accretion of interest 25 21

Liabilities released for payments on death, surrender and other terminations during the year –437 –164

Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions and other movements 0 2

Foreign currency translation differences –3 –21

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 1 463 1 179
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In the case of contracts that do not have significant insurance risk but contain discretionary participation features,
the Swiss Life Group primarily bases its accounting policies on the requirements of the Generally Accepted Account-
ing Principles in the United States (US GAAP).

For investment-type contracts, savings premiums collected are reported as deposits (deposit accounting). These
amounts relate to contracts issued in France and Luxembourg.

In the case of traditional contracts in the life insurance business, future life policy benefit liabilities are determined by
using the net-level-premium method on the basis of actuarial assumptions as to mortality, persistency, expenses and
investment return, including a margin for adverse deviation. For participating contracts where the contribution prin-
ciple applies to the allocation of the policyholder bonus, future life policy benefit liabilities are determined by using
the net-level-premium method on the basis of appropriate mortality and interest rate assumptions. These amounts
relate to contracts issued in Switzerland and France.

Certain contracts that do not contain significant insurance risk and do not have discretionary participation features
are carried at amortised cost or fair value.

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITHOUT DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION AT AMORTISED COST

In CHF million

2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 170 433

Deposits received 20 173

Interest credited 2 9

Policy fees 0 0

Deposits released –136 –411

Other movements –1 –1

Foreign currency translation differences –2 –33

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 53 170

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITHOUT DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

In CHF million

2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 236 270

Deposits received 16 12

Fair value changes 6 23

Policy fees –2 –3

Deposits released –20 –20

Other movements 6 –4

Foreign currency translation differences –5 –42

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 237 236
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21  Borrowings

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Hybrid debt 2 464 2 141

Bank loans 156 –

Other 4 1

TOTAL BORROWINGS 33 2 624 2 142

HYBRID DEBT

On 12 December 2011, Swiss Life AG repaid on the first call date a EUR 100 million subordinated step-up loan issued
in 2001 and due in 2021.

On 4 April 2011, Swiss Life AG raised CHF 325 million with a placement of subordinated perpetual callable bonds
guaranteed by Swiss Life Holding. CHF 75 million was additionally issued in June 2011 and CHF 100 million in Octo-
ber 2011. The bonds have no fixed maturity date but are first callable on 4 October 2016 or at each interest payment
date thereafter at the option of the issuer, upon notice and subject to the consent of the Swiss Financial Market Super-
visory Authority. The interest has been fixed for the first five and a half years at 5.25% p.a. If the bonds are not redeemed
on 4 October 2016, the interest resets at a rate fixed for the subsequent five years, consisting of the aggregate of the
then prevailing five-year CHF swap rate and the initial margin of 3.551%. 

On 12 April 2007, ELM B.V., a Dutch repackaging vehicle, issued EUR 700 million in fixed/floating rate subordinated
perpetual notes at a price of par to finance loan notes granted to Swiss Life AG, which are guaranteed by Swiss Life
Holding. Swiss Life AG may repay the loan notes in full on 12 April 2017 or on any interest payment date thereafter,
upon notice and subject to the consent of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority. The notes bear interest
from 12 April 2007 to 12 April 2017 at a rate of 5.849% p.a. If the notes are not redeemed on 12 April 2017, the inter-
est will be the aggregate of Euribor 3-month deposits and a margin of 2.5%. 

On 16 November 2005, J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. issued on a fiduciary basis EUR 350 million fixed/float-
ing rate subordinated perpetual notes at a price of 99.423% to fund a loan made by it to Swiss Life AG. Swiss Life AG
may repay the loan in full on 16 November 2015 or on any interest payment date thereafter, upon notice and subject
to the consent of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority. The notes bear interest from 16 November 2005
to 16 November 2015 at a rate of 5% p.a. If the notes are not redeemed on 16 November 2015, the interest rate will be
the aggregate of Euribor for 3-month deposits and a margin of 2.43%.

In March 1999, Swiss Life AG privately placed a subordinated perpetual step-up loan comprising three simultaneous
advances of EUR 443 million (at a rate of interest of Euribor plus a margin of 1.05%, increasing by 100 basis points as
from April 2009), CHF 290 million (at a rate of interest of Libor plus a margin of 1.05%, increasing by 100 basis points
as from April 2009) and EUR 215 million (at a rate of interest of 5.3655%, as from October 2009 the rate of interest is
the aggregate of Euribor plus a margin of 2.05%). In 2009, Swiss Life AG renounced the right to call the loan on its
first call date. Swiss Life AG can next call the EUR 443 million floating rate loan and the CHF 290 million floating
rate loan on 6 April 2014 and the EUR 215 million loan on 6 October 2014 or at five-year intervals thereafter, upon
notice and subject to the consent of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority.
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Amounts in CHF million (if not noted otherwise) Nominal value Nominal value Optional Carrying Carrying
in year of issue at 31.12.2011 Interest rate Year of issue redemption amount amount

Issuer 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Swiss Life AG CHF 500 CHF 500 5.250% 2011 2016 490 –

Swiss Life AG 1 EUR 700 EUR 590 5.849% 2007 2017 715 733

Swiss Life AG 2 EUR 350 EUR 343 5.000% 2005 2015 412 421

Euribor

Swiss Life AG EUR 100 – +1.750% 2001 2011 – 125

Euribor

Swiss Life AG EUR 443 EUR 443 +2.050% 1999 2014 538 553

Libor

Swiss Life AG CHF 290 CHF 290 +2.050% 1999 2014 290 290

Euribor

Swiss Life AG EUR 215 EUR 15 +2.050% 1999 2014 19 19

TOTAL 2 464 2 141

1 Hybrid loan notes granted by ELM B.V.
2 Hybrid bank loan originally granted by J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A.

BANK LOANS

Bank loans relate to mortgage loans for newly acquired real estate.

Amounts in CHF million Carrying Carrying
Currency Interest rate Maturity amount amount

Type 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Mortgage loan CHF 3.165% 2016 156 –

TOTAL 156 –

22  Other Financial Liabilities

In CHF million

Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Insurance payables 2 452 2 451

Policyholder deposits 1 474 1 674

Amounts due to reinsurers 166 170

Demand deposits 864 984

Repurchase agreements 1 050 1 111

Amounts due to banks 464 2 783

Accrued expenses 211 196

Settlement accounts 81 1 065

Other 463 486

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 33 7 225 10 920
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23  Insurance Liabilities and Reinsurance Assets

In CHF million Gross Reinsurance assets Net

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Claims under non-life insurance contracts 960 998 196 203 764 795

Unearned premiums non-life 66 68 0 0 66 68

Claims under life insurance contracts 6 332 6 274 92 66 6 240 6 208

Future life policyholder benefits 80 172 77 173 92 95 80 080 77 078

Unearned premiums life 43 50 – 1 43 49

Deposits under insurance contracts 5 792 5 742 – – 5 792 5 742

TOTAL INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS 93 365 90 305 380 365 92 985 89 940

of which for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 1 108 961 – – 1 108 961

UNEARNED PREMIUMS

Unearned premiums represent the portion of the premiums written relating to the unexpired terms of coverage.

CLAIMS UNDER NON-LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

In CHF million

2011 2010

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY

Gross claims under non-life insurance contracts 998 1 197

Less: reinsurance recoverable –203 –228

NET CLAIMS UNDER NON-LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS 795 969

CLAIMS AND CLAIM SETTLEMENT COSTS INCURRED

Reporting period 344 381

Prior reporting periods –76 –90

TOTAL CLAIMS AND CLAIM SETTLEMENT COSTS INCURRED 268 291

CLAIMS AND CLAIM SETTLEMENT COSTS PAID

Reporting period –144 –157

Prior reporting periods –129 –158

TOTAL CLAIMS AND CLAIM SETTLEMENT COSTS PAID –273 –315

Reclassifications and other disposals –6 –

Foreign currency translation differences –20 –150

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD

NET CLAIMS UNDER NON-LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS 764 795

Plus: reinsurance recoverable 196 203

TOTAL GROSS CLAIMS UNDER NON-LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS 960 998

Claims under non-life insurance contracts represent the liability needed to provide for the estimated ultimate cost of
settling claims relating to insured events that have occurred on or before the financial reporting date. The estimated
liability includes the amount that will be required for future payments on both claims that have been reported to the
insurer and claims relating to insured events that have occurred but have not been reported to the insurer as at the
date the liability is estimated. Loss development tables are generally used to make these estimates.
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CLAIMS UNDER LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

In CHF million Gross Reinsurance assets Net

Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 6 274 6 505 66 81 6 208 6 424

Additions from acquisition of insurance portfolio 31 146 – 12 – 134 –

Accretion of interest 102 110 1 1 101 109

Claims incurred, benefits paid and surrenders –72 –72 17 –2 –89 –70

Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions and other movements –69 89 –2 –2 –67 91

Foreign currency translation differences –49 –358 –2 –12 –47 –346

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 6 332 6 274 92 66 6 240 6 208

Claims under life insurance contracts represent the liability for unpaid portions of claims incurred. It includes an esti-
mate of the liability for claims incurred but not reported (IBNR). The measurement at reporting date is a best estimate
of ultimate future claim payments. 

FUTURE LIFE POLICYHOLDER BENEFITS

In CHF million Gross Reinsurance assets Net

Notes 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 77 173 78 528 95 101 77 078 78 427

Additions from acquisition of insurance portfolio 31 1 459 – – – 1 459 –

Savings premiums 7 329 7 250 36 143 7 293 7 107

Accretion of interest 1 923 1 966 1 1 1 922 1 965

Claims incurred, benefits paid and surrenders –8 182 –7 738 –50 –246 –8 132 –7 492

Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions and other movements 998 938 11 108 987 830

Foreign currency translation differences –528 –3 771 –1 –12 –527 –3 759

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 80 172 77 173 92 95 80 080 77 078

For participating contracts where the contribution principle applies to the allocation of the policyholder bonus, 
future life policy benefit liabilities are determined by using the net-level-premium method on the basis of appropriate
mortality and interest rate assumptions.

The valuation of other long-duration contracts is also based on the net-level-premium method with actuarial assump-
tions as to mortality, persistency, expenses and investment returns including provisions for adverse deviation.
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DEPOSITS UNDER INSURANCE CONTRACTS

In CHF million

2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 5 742 5 947

Deposits received 282 390

Interest credited 100 118

Participating bonuses 27 38

Policy fees and insurance charges –35 –39

Deposits released for payments on death, surrender and other terminations during the year –582 –666

Reclassifications and other disposals 370 724

Foreign currency translation differences –112 –770

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 5 792 5 742

For investment-type contracts with significant insurance risk, savings premiums collected are reported as deposits
(deposit accounting).

INSURANCE LIABILITIES WITH AND WITHOUT DISCRETIONARY PARTICIPATION

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Insurance liabilities with discretionary participation 81 943 79 306

Insurance liabilities without discretionary participation 10 314 10 038

Insurance liabilities linked to assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 1 108 961

TOTAL INSURANCE LIABILITIES 93 365 90 305

24  Employee Benefits

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Employee benefit liabilities consist of

gross defined benefit liabilities 1 173 1 965

other long-term employee benefit liabilities 0 0

other employee benefit liabilities 88 84

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES 1 261 2 049

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

Employees are covered under various funded and unfunded pension plans. When a third party will reimburse some or
all of the expenditure for employee benefits and the rights to reimbursement do not qualify as plan assets, they are
treated as a separate asset rather than as a deduction from the obligation. In all other respects the treatment is the
same as for plan assets. Participation in the various plans is based either on completion of a specific period of contin-
uous service or on the date of hire. Benefits are based on the employee’s credited years of service and average compen-
sation in the years preceding retirement. Annual funding requirements are determined based on actuarial methods or
local requirements.
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Due to the requirements of IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts in combination with IAS 19 Employee Benefits, insurance con-
tracts issued to defined benefit plans covering own employees are eliminated. Insurance contracts issued to defined
benefit plans covering own employees have been issued in Switzerland and France. Certain assets relating to these plans
qualify as plan assets and are therefore not eliminated. To the extent these plans are not funded by amounts included
in the plan assets, the defined benefit liabilities are backed by the investments relating to the eliminated insurance con-
tracts. These investments are part of the investments presented in the consolidated balance sheet of the Swiss Life
Group.

The net asset/liability position does not incorporate any reimbursement rights.

The major part of the defined benefit liability arises from plans covering employees in Switzerland. The primary ben-
efit of those plans is an old-age pension paid out after reaching retirement age. There are options for early retirement
(with reduction of the pension amount determined with actuarial methods) and for choosing to receive a lump-sum
payment instead of a pension. Other benefits comprise survivors’/orphans’ pensions in case of death as well as dis-
ability pensions (if disabled before retirement age). The plans are funded by the employer through ordinary contribu-
tions determined with actuarial methods where, under Swiss law, a part (generally less than 50% of the total contribu-
tion) is deducted from the employee’s gross salary. Further funding comprises mandatory transfers of funds made by
new employees from plans of former employers, discretionary contributions by employees (within plan restrictions)
and the earnings on the plan assets.

In September 2010, the Swiss Life Group announced an amendment of the terms of two major defined benefit plans
in Switzerland. The amendments mainly relate to old-age pension benefits that changed from benefit-oriented to 
contribution-oriented, changes in the level of certain long-term death and disability benefits, and to a reduction in
benefits for early retirements. The curtailment gain in 2010 amounted to CHF 39 million. In January 2011,
CHF 684 million in cash was transferred from the Swiss Life Group to these defined benefit plans. This amount is
included in the contribution by the employer. The investment risks are now borne by the plan participants themselves
whereas mortality and disability risks are still reinsured with the Swiss Life Group.

The contributions expected to be paid for the year ending 31 December 2012 are CHF 56 million. These contributions
include amounts payable under insurance contracts issued to defined benefit plans covering own employees.

AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Present value of defined benefit obligation –2 646 –2 370

Fair value of plan assets 1 059 289

Unrecognised actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) 547 284

NET DEFINED BENEFIT ASSET (+)/LIABILITY (–) –1 040 –1 797

The net defined benefit asset/liability consists of

gross defined benefit liabilities –1 173 –1 965

gross defined benefit assets 133 168

Amount of insurance contracts not included in plan assets 1 393 2 137
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AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

In CHF million

2011 2010

Current service cost 71 69

Interest cost 63 73

Expected return on plan assets –35 –11

Net actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) 9 4

Employee contributions –24 –24

Effect of curtailments or settlements – –39

TOTAL DEFINED BENEFIT EXPENSE 84 72

Actual return on plan assets (gains (–)/losses (+)) –31 –3

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

In CHF million

2011 2010

CHANGES IN THE PRESENT VALUE OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Balance as at 1 January –2 370 –2 385

Current service cost –71 –69

Interest cost –63 –73

Contributions by plan participants –45 –95

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) –268 –57

Benefits paid 167 230

Curtailments and settlements – 45

Effect of reclassifications and other disposals 0 –

Foreign currency translation differences 4 34

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD –2 646 –2 370

CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

Balance as at 1 January 289 296

Expected return on plan assets 35 11

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) –4 –8

Contributions by the employer 749 37

Contributions by plan participants 44 –20

Benefits paid –51 –10

Foreign currency translation differences –3 –17

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 1 059 289

CATEGORIES OF PLAN ASSETS

Equity instruments 237 103

Debt instruments 474 97

Property 188 –

Other assets 160 89

TOTAL PLAN ASSETS 1 059 289

Plan assets include

own equity instruments 6 56
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

In CHF million

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

Present value of defined benefit obligation –2 646 –2 370 –2 385 –2 292 –2 320

Fair value of plan assets 1 059 289 296 268 371

DIFFERENCE –1 587 –2 081 –2 089 –2 024 –1 949

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities –30 33 –23 5 18

Experience adjustments on plan assets –1 –8 26 –108 –47

PRINCIPAL ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS (WEIGHTED AVERAGES) 

2011 2010

Discount rate 2.7% 3.2%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 3.6% 3.9%

Future salary increases 1.6% 1.6%

Future pension increases 0.8% 0.8%

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Certain subsidiaries sponsor various defined contribution plans. Participation in the various plans is based either on
completion of a specific period of continuous service or on the date of hire. The plans stipulate contributions by both
employers and employees. The expenses under these plans amounted to CHF 1 million in 2011 (2010: CHF 1 million).

OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The liability for long-term employee benefits amounted to CHF 0.3 million as at 31 December 2011 (2010: CHF 0.1 mil-
lion). It relates to part-time employment contracts prior to retirement and to profit-sharing arrangements for certain
employees.

TERMINATION BENEFITS

The termination benefit liability totalling CHF 0.05 million for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: CHF 0.05 mil-
lion) arose as a result of early retirements.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

For 2008, 2009 and 2010, a share-based payment programme was established which gives the members of the Corpo-
rate Executive Board and other senior management members of the Swiss Life Group the right to receive a certain
number of Swiss Life Holding shares (performance share units, PSUs) after three years of service if certain conditions
are fulfilled. The number of the shares allocated depends on two criteria. One criterion is the performance of the share
price of the Swiss Life Holding share during the vesting period of three years. The other criterion is the performance
of the share price of the Swiss Life Holding share during the vesting period of three years compared to the perform-
ance of the Dow Jones STOXX 600 Insurance Index. For the PSUs issued in 2010, a maximum possible factor of 2.0
applies. For the PSUs issued in 2008 and 2009, the maximum possible factor is 1.5. No minimum possible factor is
applied in 2008, 2009 and 2010 so that the number of PSUs could drop to zero after three years.
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From 2011, participants in the share-based payment programme are allocated restricted share units (RSUs) instead of
PSUs. As with PSUs, RSUs grant the holder future subscription rights, entitling him to receive Swiss Life Holding
shares free of charge after a three-year period has elapsed and if certain conditions are fulfilled, but without additional
performance leverage. The attribution of shares after the expiry of the three-year deferral period will be effected on a
1:1 basis (1 RSU = 1 share). The value of the RSUs during the three-year term develops linearly with the Swiss Life Hold-
ing share price and systematically corresponds with shareholder interests. The plan also provides for adjustment and
reclaiming mechanisms (clawback).

In 2008, the number of PSUs granted under this programme amounted to 52 618. The fair value at the measurement
date amounted to CHF 179.30. The date of grant was 1 April 2008.

In 2009, the number of PSUs granted under this programme amounted to 53 216. The fair value at the measurement
date amounted to CHF 51.22. The date of grant was 1 April 2009.

In 2010, the number of PSUs granted under this programme amounted to 68 510. The fair value at the measurement
date amounted to CHF 149.98. The date of grant was 1 April 2010.

In 2011, the number of RSUs granted under this programme amounted to 68 730. The fair value at the measurement
date amounted to CHF 140.05. The date of grant was 1 April 2011.

The fair value of the PSUs and RSUs granted for each programme is determined at the grant date. The fair value was
determined by an independent consulting company using the Black-Scholes formula and Monte Carlo simulations.
The associated expense during the vesting period is recognised under employee benefits expense with a corresponding
increase in share premium. 

The expense recognised for share-based payment amounted to CHF 7 million in 2011 (2010: CHF 5 million).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PROGRAMMES (RESTRICTED SHARE UNITS)

Number of restricted share units
Balance as at Employee Balance as at 

1 January Issued departures Vested end of period

2011

Granted in 2011 – 68 730 –660 – 68 070



155Consolidated Financial Statements

Swiss Life — Financial Statements 2011

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PROGRAMMES (PERFORMANCE SHARE UNITS)

Number of performance share units
Balance as at Employee Balance as at 

1 January Issued departures Vested end of period

2011

Granted in 2008 34 918 – –2 229 –32 689 –

Granted in 2009 48 339 – –4 811 – 43 528

Granted in 2010 68 510 – –7 480 – 61 030

2010

Granted in 2008 41 365 – –6 447 – 34 918

Granted in 2009 51 301 – –2 962 – 48 339

Granted in 2010 – 68 510 – – 68 510

2009

Granted in 2008 51 237 – –9 872 – 41 365

Granted in 2009 – 53 216 –1 915 – 51 301

2008

Granted in 2008 – 52 618 –1 381 – 51 237

OTHER BENEFITS

Related expenses in 2011 were CHF 9 million (2010: CHF 10 million).

25  Income Taxes

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In CHF million

2011 2010

Current income tax expense 18 101

Deferred income tax expense –39 –65

TOTAL INCOME TAX EXPENSE –21 36
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The expected weighted-average tax rate for the Group was 26.5% in 2011 (2010: 26.7%). This rate was derived by obtain-
ing a weighted average of the expected income tax rates in the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
change of the weighted-average tax rate is due to the geographical allocation of the profits and the different tax rates
in these jurisdictions. The actual income tax expense differs from the expected amount as follows:

RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In CHF million

2011 2010

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 585 596

Income tax calculated using the expected weighted-average tax rate 155 159

Increase/reduction in taxes resulting from

lower taxed income –169 –277

non-deductible expenses 112 104

other income taxes (incl. withholding taxes) 20 15

change in unrecognised tax losses 28 40

adjustments for current tax of prior periods –96 17

changes in tax rates –41 0

intercompany effects –26 –21

other –4 –1

INCOME TAX EXPENSE –21 36

In 2011, the Swiss Life Group realised a tax benefit of CHF 90 million due to the final assessment of the disposal of
business activities in prior periods.

In 2011, a change in the tax rate in Switzerland led to a positive income tax effect of CHF 41 million.

In 2010, a positive one-off income tax effect amounting to CHF 87 million was realised due to a change in the French
tax legislation. The intercompany effects in 2010 were based on tax grouping and intragroup income and expense.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same tax authority.
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

In CHF million Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Financial assets 155 149 552 192

Investment property 1 – 496 455

Intangible assets 56 34 279 308

Property and equipment 25 28 3 3

Financial liabilities 15 13 11 19

Insurance liabilities 56 55 62 60

Employee benefits 22 23 53 55

Deferred income 2 2 3 3

Other 149 137 22 31

Tax losses 9 14

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 490 455 1 481 1 126

Offset –337 –305 –337 –305

TOTAL DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 153 150 1 144 821

The movements in net deferred income tax assets/liabilities during the period were as follows: 

In CHF million Foreign
currency

Balance as at Recognised Recognised Acquisitions translation Balance as at
1 January in income in equity and disposals differences end of period

MOVEMENTS BY TYPE OF TEMPORARY DIFFERENCE DURING THE YEAR 2011

Financial assets –43 21 –372 –2 –1 –397

Investment property –455 –26 –2 –13 1 –495

Intangible assets –274 21 28 –1 3 –223

Property and equipment 25 –3 – 0 0 22

Financial liabilities –6 7 3 0 0 4

Insurance liabilities –5 0 0 – –1 –6

Employee benefits –32 1 – 0 0 –31

Deferred income –1 0 – – 0 –1

Other 106 23 0 1 –3 127

Tax losses 14 –5 – – 0 9

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES –671 39 –343 –15 –1 –991

MOVEMENTS BY TYPE OF TEMPORARY DIFFERENCE DURING THE YEAR 2010

Financial assets 83 –49 –70 0 –7 –43

Investment property –429 –33 0 – 7 –455

Intangible assets –315 13 8 0 20 –274

Property and equipment 28 0 – – –3 25

Financial liabilities –15 7 – 0 2 –6

Insurance liabilities –19 19 –1 – –4 –5

Employee benefits –24 –5 – – –3 –32

Deferred income –5 3 – 0 1 –1

Other –21 133 0 – –6 106

Tax losses 41 –23 – – –4 14

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES –676 65 –63 0 3 –671
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Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised on the aggregate amount of temporary differences with consolidated
investments in subsidiaries to the extent the Group considers such undistributed earnings as being indefinitely rein-
vested. The foreign entities are controlled by the Group and these earnings are not expected to be repatriated in the
foreseeable future. The amount of such temporary differences was approximately CHF 4.4 billion as at 31 Decem-
ber 2011. If such earnings are ever repatriated, no material tax liabilities would be incurred due to participation exemp-
tion rules, unrecognised tax loss carryforwards and applicable double taxation treaties.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax-loss carryforwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax ben-
efit is probable. Swiss tax assets are calculated in accordance with cantonal and municipal tax legislation. The uncer-
tainty of the utilisation of tax losses is taken into account in establishing the valuation allowance. For the following
tax-loss carryforwards, which will expire as follows, no deferred tax asset has been recognised:

UNRECOGNISED TAX LOSSES

Amounts in CHF million Tax losses Tax rate

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

2012 6 2 15.9% 13.0%

2013 1 7 16.7% 8.7%

2014 8 2 16.0% 16.0%

Thereafter 1 127 1 134 13.1% 13.6%

TOTAL 1 142 1 145 n/a n/a

26  Provisions

In CHF million Restructuring Other Total Total

2011 2010

Balance as at 1 January 45 86 131 201

Additional provisions made during the reporting period 4 65 69 28

Amounts used during the reporting period –20 –14 –34 –62

Unused amounts reversed during the reporting period –1 –10 –11 –17

Reclassifications and other disposals – –1 –1 –

Foreign currency translation differences 0 –4 –4 –19

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 28 122 150 131

RESTRUCTURING PROVISIONS

Under the MILESTONE initiative, provisions for restructuring were set up in Switzerland, Germany and AWD in 2009.
The outflow of the amounts is expected within the following one to two years.

OTHER PROVISIONS

Other provisions were primarily set up for warranties and litigation. Also included in other provisions are customer
claims mainly relating to AWD.
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27  Equity

SHARE CAPITAL

As approved by the shareholders at the General Meeting of Swiss Life Holding (SLH) on 5 May 2011, a reduction in
the par value of CHF 4.50 per registered SLH share was effected in 2011 (2010: CHF 2.40 per registered share). The pay-
out took place on 28 July 2011 and led to a reduction in the share capital of SLH of CHF 144 million (2010: CHF 77 mil-
lion).

As at 31 December 2011, the share capital of SLH consisted of 32 081 054 fully-paid shares with a par value of CHF 5.10
each. In exercising voting rights, no shareholder can collect more than 10% of the total share capital directly or indi-
rectly in respect of own shares or shares they represent. As at 31 December 2010 SLH had 32 081 054 registered shares
with a par value of CHF 9.60 per share. Conditional share capital was CHF 12 032 868.60 as at 31 December 2011
(2010: CHF 22 650 105.60).

SHARE PREMIUM

Share premium comprises additional paid-in capital in excess of the par value (net of transaction costs), gains/losses
on own equity instruments and equity compensation benefits.

Due to the reduction in the par value of CHF 4.50 per registered SLH share in 2011 (2010: CHF 2.40 per registered
SLH share), an amount of CHF 1 million was credited to share premium in respect of treasury shares (2010: CHF 0.4
million).

NUMBER OF SHARES

The following table shows the development of SLH shares issued and treasury shares held by the Swiss Life Group 
during the period:

Number of shares

2011 2010

SHARES ISSUED AS AT END OF PERIOD 32 081 054 32 081 054

TREASURY SHARES

Balance as at 1 January 168 556 232 158

Purchases of treasury shares 66 900 11 217

Sales of treasury shares –11 126 –74 819

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD 224 330 168 556

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION DIFFERENCES

Foreign currency translation differences comprise the resulting differences arising on the translation of assets, liabil-
ities, income and expenses of Group entities denominated in foreign currencies into Swiss francs.

GAINS/LOSSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY

Gains/losses recognised directly in equity comprise fair value changes of available-for-sale investments, unrealised
losses on financial assets reclassified from available for sale to loans due to the disappearance of an active market, 
revaluation surpluses on the transfer of owner-occupied property to investment property and the effective portion of
the gain or loss on hedging derivatives in qualifying cash flow hedges. These amounts are net of certain policyholder
bonuses and other policyholder liabilities, deferred acquisition costs, deferred income taxes and non-controlling 
interests.
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AMOUNTS RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR 2011

In CHF million Gains/losses recognised directly in equity

Foreign currency
translation Financial assets Cash flow

Notes differences available for sale hedges Other Total

Net balance as at 1 January –762 369 2 –162 209

Gains/losses arising during the period –80 3 360 – – 3 360

Hedging gains/losses arising during the period 9 9 – 175 – 175

Revaluation surplus on investment property 17 – – – 16 16

Transfer in respect of assets classified as held for sale – 0 – 0 –

Gains/losses transferred to the income statement 8, 9 – –200 –2 109 –93

Effects of

policyholder participation – –1 655 42 –25 –1 638

shadow accounting – –70 –27 –44 –141

income tax 0 –281 –45 –17 –343

foreign currency translation differences – 0 0 –1 –1

non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0

NET BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD –833 1 523 145 –124 1 544

AMOUNTS RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR 2010

In CHF million Gains/losses recognised directly in equity

Foreign currency
translation Financial assets Cash flow

Notes differences available for sale hedges Other Total

Net balance as at 1 January –216 232 – –273 –41

Gains/losses arising during the period –596 917 – – 917

Hedging gains/losses arising during the period 9 44 – 2 – 2

Revaluation surplus on investment property 17 – – – 3 3

Gains/losses transferred to the income statement 8, 9 – –321 – 232 –89

Effects of

policyholder participation – –355 – –133 –488

shadow accounting – –62 – 36 –26

income tax –1 –35 0 –25 –60

disposals of subsidiaries 0 – – – –

foreign currency translation differences – –7 – –2 –9

non-controlling interests 7 0 – 0 0

NET BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD –762 369 2 –162 209

The gains/losses transferred to the income statement of CHF 109 million in 2011 (2010: CHF 232 million) shown in
“Other” relate to financial assets reclassified to loans in 2008.

RETAINED EARNINGS

Retained earnings comprise accumulated retained earnings of the Group entities which have not been distributed to
the shareholders. The distribution of profit is subject to restrictions in the various jurisdictions where the Group enti-
ties are located.

The Group’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulatory restrictions on the amount of dividends, cash loans and
advances which can be remitted to the Group. Certain foreign jurisdictions have restrictions that allow the payment
of dividends but may cause a delay in their remittance. Dividends payable are not accrued until they have been rati-
fied at the General Meeting.



161Consolidated Financial Statements

Swiss Life — Financial Statements 2011

28  Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are as follows: to comply with the regulatory capital requirements, to
define and manage economic capital and to fulfill the company’s target on rating capital. The company also actively
manages the composition and quality of the capital to continuously optimise its capital structure and interest cover
ratio. 

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the federal act on the supervision of insurance companies and corresponding decree, the
Swiss Life Group reports as an insurance group to the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA). The
reporting covers risk management as outlined in note 5, Group Solvency I, legal structure, management organisation
and intragroup transactions. The reporting is submitted on an ad-hoc, monthly, half-yearly or yearly basis depending
on the topic and is reviewed on a yearly basis by the statutory auditor according to the legal requirements. As at
31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group was compliant with the legal requirements.

In addition to the Group’s solvency requirements, the Solvency I and other statutory constraints at local level are con-
sidered to address the specific situation of each country and business unit.
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29  Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FROM ACQUISITIONS

In CHF million

Notes 2011

CONSIDERATION

Cash consideration 10

Non-cash consideration –

TOTAL CONSIDERATION TRANSFERRED 10

ACQUISITION-RELATED COSTS

Commission expense 0

Other expenses –

TOTAL 0

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED

Cash and cash equivalents 1

Financial assets available for sale 2

Loans and receivables 2

Property and equipment 17 0

Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 18 2

Other assets 0

Financial liabilities 0

Employee benefit liabilities –1

Deferred income tax liabilities –1

Other liabilities –1

TOTAL IDENTIFIABLE NET ASSETS 4

Non-controlling interests –3

Goodwill 18 9

TOTAL 10

ACQUIRED LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Fair value 2

Gross contractual amounts receivable 2

Estimated uncollectible cash flows 0

In March 2011, the Swiss Life Group acquired a majority share of Viveris REIM, Marseilles, a real estate management
company. The voting interest of the Group was 68.3% as at 31 December 2011. The revenue of Viveris REIM, Marseilles,
amounted to CHF 7 million from the acquisition date to the end of 2011 and the Group’s share of the net loss to
CHF 0.1 million.

In 2010, no acquisitions of subsidiaries took place.

In 2011 and 2010, no significant disposals of subsidiaries took place.
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30  Assets Held for Sale and Associated Liabilities

The assets and associated liabilities of the French non-life operation Garantie Assistance S.A., Paris, have been reclas-
sified as held for sale. The sale is expected to be completed in 2012. Garantie Assistance S.A., Paris, is presented in the
“Insurance France” segment.

In CHF million Disposal groups Non-current assets Total

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Cash and cash equivalents 0 – – – 0 –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1 – – – 1 –

Financial assets available for sale 14 – – – 14 –

Loans and receivables 6 – – – 6 –

Investment property – – – 93 – 93

Reinsurance assets 0 – – – 0 –

Property and equipment 0 – – – 0 –

Foreclosed property – – – 1 – 1

Intangible assets including intangible insurance assets 0 – – – 0 –

Other assets 1 – – – 1 –

TOTAL ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 22 – – 94 22 94

Other financial liabilities 6 – – – 6 –

Insurance liabilities 6 – – – 6 –

Employee benefit liabilities 1 – – – 1 –

Provisions 1 – – – 1 –

Other liabilities 1 – – – 1 –

TOTAL LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 15 – – – 15 –

Amounts recognised directly in equity relating to assets held for sale 0 – – – 0 –
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31  Acquisition of Insurance Portfolio

In April 2011, the Swiss Life Group acquired the group life insurance portfolio of Nationale Suisse. The assets acquired
and liabilities assumed were as follows:

In CHF million

01.04.2011

ASSETS ACQUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED

Cash and cash equivalents 111

Financial assets available for sale 1 298

Loans and receivables 91

Investment property 256

Reinsurance assets 12

Present value of future profits 2

Other assets 2

Derivatives 0

Investment contracts –15

Other financial liabilities –58

Insurance liabilities –1 605

Policyholder participation liabilities –79

Deferred income tax liabilities –1

Other liabilities –3

TOTAL NET ASSETS ACQUIRED 11

32  Related Party Transactions

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

In CHF million Key
management

Associates personnel Other Total Total

2011 2010

Asset management and other income – – 0 0 0

Investment income 1 – – 1 3

Net gains/losses on financial assets – – – – –1

Interest expense – – 0 0 0

Employee benefits expense – –18 – –18 –17

Other expenses – – 0 0 0
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

In CHF million Key
management

Associates personnel Other Total Total

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Loans and receivables 21 – – 21 21

Borrowings – – –1 –1 –

Other liabilities – – – – 0

Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and settlement is made in cash. There have been no guarantees pro-
vided or received for any related party receivables. For the year ended 31 December 2011, no impairment allowance has
been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each
financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

In 2011, Swiss Life AG, AWD Holding and its subsidiaries paid a total of EUR 0.3 million (2010: EUR 0.045 million)
in consulting fees for services provided by a company in which Carsten Maschmeyer, member of the Board of Direc-
tors of Swiss Life Holding until 7 December 2011, has an important shareholding. Additionally, revenue of
EUR 0.09 million (2010: EUR 0.2 million) and expenses of EUR 0.2 million (2010: EUR 0.2 million) were incurred by
AWD Holding and its subsidiaries in relation to Carsten Maschmeyer and companies in which he has an important
shareholding. All transactions were at arm’s length.

KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

In CHF million

2011 2010

Short-term employee benefits 13 12

Post-employment benefits 2 1

Equity-settled share-based payments 3 4

TOTAL 18 17

Key management comprises the members of the Board of Directors of Swiss Life Holding and the members of the Cor-
porate Executive Board of Swiss Life Holding. These individuals have the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Swiss Life Group, directly or indirectly.

The details regarding key management compensation in accordance with the Swiss Code of Obligations, article 663bbis

and article 663c, are set out in the Swiss Life Holding financial statements.
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33  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

In CHF million Valuation technique – Valuation technique –
Quoted prices observable inputs unobservable inputs

(level 1) (level 2) (level 3) Total

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Derivatives 228 1 090 – 1 318

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 1 450 269 187 1 906

Debt securities available for sale 61 517 3 364 2 64 883

Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss 2 147 139 28 2 314

Equity securities available for sale 1 139 484 758 2 381

Financial assets pledged as collateral 969 – – 969

Financial assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 18 735 919 246 19 900

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 86 185 6 265 1 221 93 671

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derivatives 60 1 126 – 1 186

Investment contracts – 237 – 237

Unit-linked contracts – 17 970 246 18 216

Other financial liabilities – 566 – 566

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 60 19 899 246 20 205

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2010

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Derivatives 260 2 705 – 2 965

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 245 525 194 964

Debt securities available for sale 52 301 1 595 12 53 908

Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss 2 943 533 13 3 489

Equity securities available for sale 2 861 369 812 4 042

Financial assets pledged as collateral 972 – – 972

Financial assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers 17 668 990 284 18 942

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 77 250 6 717 1 315 85 282

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derivatives 109 389 – 498

Investment contracts – 236 – 236

Unit-linked contracts – 17 259 – 17 259

Other financial liabilities – 312 – 312

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 109 18 196 – 18 305

The fair value of financial instruments included in level 1 is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation tech-
niques. If all significant inputs to these valuation techniques are observable (directly and indirectly) in the market, the
financial instruments are included in level 2.

If one or more significant inputs to these valuation techniques are not observable in the market, the financial instru-
ments are included in level 3. Such inputs may include information that is derived through extrapolation which is not
substantiated by observable market data or that reflects own assumptions about what market participants would use
in pricing the asset or liability.
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For more detailed descriptions of the determination of the fair values of financial instruments refer to note 3.

No significant transfers were made between level 1 and level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2011, financial assets of CHF 975 million were included in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (exclud-
ing financial assets for the account and risk of the Swiss Life Group’s customers). The exposure primarily consists of
alternative investments such as hedge funds, private equity, infrastructure and real estate funds. These investments are
valued based on regular reports from the issuing funds. Fair values are reviewed by a team of in-house investment pro-
fessionals and may be adjusted based on their understanding. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE BASED ON LEVEL 3 FOR THE YEAR 2011

In CHF million Debt securities Equity securities

Financial assets
for the account
and risk of the

At fair value At fair value Swiss Life
through Available through Available Group’s

Derivatives profit or loss for sale profit or loss for sale customers

Balance as at 1 January – 194 12 13 812 284

Total gains/losses recognised in the income statement – –2 –1 0 49 0

Total gains/losses recognised directly in equity – – 0 – –1 –

Purchases – – – 18 158 0

Sales – – –9 –3 –257 –38

Foreign currency translation differences – –5 – – –3 –

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD – 187 2 28 758 246

Total gains/losses recognised in the income statement are presented in

net gains/losses on financial assets – – –1 – 49 –

net gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – –2 – 0 – 0

Gains/losses for assets held at end of period recognised in the income statement
are presented in

net gains/losses on financial assets – – –1 – –15 –

net gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – –2 – 0 – 0



168 Consolidated Financial Statements  

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE BASED ON LEVEL 3 FOR THE YEAR 2010

In CHF million Debt securities Equity securities

Financial assets
for the account
and risk of the

At fair value At fair value Swiss Life
through Available through Available Group’s

Derivatives profit or loss for sale profit or loss for sale customers

Balance as at 1 January 35 226 46 – 1 686 300

Total gains/losses recognised in the income statement 1 4 16 0 188 –105

Total gains/losses recognised directly in equity – – –49 – –187 –

Purchases – – – 13 83 89

Sales –34 – –1 0 –944 –

Foreign currency translation differences –2 –36 – – –14 –

BALANCE AS AT END OF PERIOD – 194 12 13 812 284

Total gains/losses recognised in the income statement are presented in

net gains/losses on financial assets – – 16 – 188 –

net gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1 4 – 0 – –105

Gains/losses for assets held at end of period recognised in the income statement
are presented in

net gains/losses on financial assets – – 0 – –5 –

net gains/losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – 4 – 0 – –105

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not pre-
sented in the Group’s balance sheet at fair value:

In CHF million Carrying amount Fair value

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

ASSETS

Loans 23 615 24 608 25 812 26 170

Receivables 3 587 5 105 3 587 5 104

Financial assets held to maturity 5 046 5 229 5 369 5 099

Debt securities pledged as collateral – 88 – 83

LIABILITIES

Investment contracts without discretionary participation 53 170 53 170

Borrowings 2 624 2 142 2 849 2 167

Other financial liabilities 7 225 10 920 7 225 10 919
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34  Guarantees and Commitments

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Financial guarantees 130 354

Loan commitments 119 107

Private equity commitments 266 331

Other capital commitments 611 475

Operating lease commitments 18 13

Contractual obligations to purchase or construct investment property 329 247

Other contingent liabilities and commitments 320 74

TOTAL 1 793 1 601

FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS UNDER NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES – LESSEE

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Not later than 1 year 1 3

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 17 10

TOTAL 18 13

GUARANTEES

The Group has issued financial guarantees and transaction-related guarantees and similar instruments. Financial
guarantees provide for specified payments to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss incurred in the event that a
client fails to make payment when due.

LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Group has also entered into irrevocable commitments to extend credit in the form of loans and other instruments.
They represent undrawn credit lines which are available to clients to secure their liquidity needs. With respect to credit
risk, these commitments are contingent upon clients maintaining certain credit standards, and the Group monitors
its exposure on a regular basis.

The total amount of credit commitments includes commitments to lend at fixed rates, which expose the Group to
interest rate risk. These commitments are entered into for restricted periods of time. As at 31 December 2011, com-
mitted principal amounts stood at EUR 13 million and CHF 68 million (2010: EUR 4 million and CHF 52 million).
The range of committed interest rates is 2.6% to 5.9% for commitments in euro and 1.0% to 3.2% for commitments in
Swiss francs.

PRIVATE EQUITY COMMITMENTS

Private equity commitments represent unfunded commitments to make investments in direct private equity or pri-
vate equity funds. Such commitments do not involve credit or market risk, as the Group purchases investments at mar-
ket value at the time the commitments are invoked.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group has entered into various operating leases as a lessee. Rental expenses recognised in income for these items
totalled CHF 42 million for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: CHF 43 million). Minimum lease payments
totalled CHF 42 million in 2011 (2010: CHF 43 million). 
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OTHER CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contractual obligations for repairs and maintenance of investment property amounted to CHF 69 million as at
31 December 2011, which are included in this line item (2010: CHF 60 million).

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group is involved in various legal proceedings, claims and litigation generally relating to its insurance operations.
The outcome of such current legal proceedings, claims and litigation could have a material effect on operating results
or cash flows when resolved in a future period. However, in the opinion of the management these matters are ade-
quately provided for as at the balance sheet date.

35  Collateral

ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL

The following table provides details of financial assets which have been sold or otherwise transferred, but which do
not qualify for derecognition because substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are retained. Repurchase agree-
ments and securities lending transactions are discussed in Notes 2.7 and 12. Securities pledged under other transac-
tions include debt securities pledged as collateral under reinsurance contracts issued and debt securities pledged as
collateral under prime broker contracts to cover margins due in respect of derivative transactions. 

CARRYING AMOUNT OF ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Securities under repurchase and securities lending transactions 969 1 060

Securities under other transactions 1 871 1 240

Other financial assets 608 3

Investment property 227 –

Property and equipment 0 –

TOTAL 3 675 2 303

of which can be sold or repledged by transferee 969 1 060

FAIR VALUE OF COLLATERAL HELD

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Securities under repurchase agreements, securities borrowing and lending arrangements 93 –

Securities under derivative and other transactions – –

TOTAL 93 –

of which sold or repledged

With obligation to return – –

No obligation to return – –
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36  Future Minimum Lease Payments under Non-Cancellable Operating Leases – Lessor

In CHF million

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Not later than 1 year 115 105

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 443 414

Later than 5 years 659 530

TOTAL 1 217 1 049

Contingent rents recognised in income 0 0

Leased assets where the Group is a lessor primarily relate to investment property leased to third parties under operat-
ing leases.



172 Consolidated Financial Statements  

37  Scope of Consolidation

Authorised
share capital

Segment 1 Consolidation period Group share Direct share Currency in 1000

SWITZERLAND

Adroit Private Equity AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 5 000

AWD Allgemeiner Wirtschaftsdienst AG, Zug AWD 100.0% 100.0% CHF 5 600

GENBLAN AG, Zürich Ins. CH from 31.05.2011 100.0% 100.0% CHF 17 628

Livit AG, Zürich IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 3 000

Livit FM Services AG, Zürich IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 100

Long Term Strategy AG in liquidation, Zug Other until 21.01.2010 – –

Neue Warenhaus AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 5 000

Oscar Weber AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 5 000

Oscar Weber Holding AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 50

Rentenanstalt Holding AG, Zürich Other until 13.12.2010 – –

S.I. Eaux-Vives 2000 AG, Zürich Ins. CH until 24.06.2010 – –

S.I. Eaux-Vives Office AG, Zürich Ins. CH until 24.06.2010 – –

Swiss Life AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 587 350

Swiss Life Asset Management AG, Zürich IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 250

Swiss Life Capital Holding AG, Zürich Other 100.0% 100.0% CHF 5 514

Swiss Life Funds AG, Lugano IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 20 000

Swiss Life Holding AG, Zürich Other – – CHF 163 613

Swiss Life Intellectual Property Management AG, Zürich Other 100.0% 100.0% CHF 250

Swiss Life International Holding AG, Zürich Other 100.0% 100.0% CHF 1 000

Swiss Life International Services AG, Schaan, Branch Zürich (formerly Swiss Life
(Liechtenstein) Services AG, Schaan, Branch Zürich), Zürich Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% – –

Swiss Life Investment Management Holding AG, Zürich IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 50 000

Swiss Life Pension Services AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 250

Swiss Life Private Equity Partners AG, Zürich IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 250

Swiss Life Products (Luxembourg) S.A., Strassen, Branch Zürich, Zürich Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% – –

Swiss Life Property Management AG, Zürich IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 250

Swiss Life Selection AG, Zürich Ins. CH until 02.06.2010 – –

Swissville Centers Holding AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 7 100

Swissville Commerce AG, Zürich Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 150 900

Swissville Commerce Holding AG, Zürich Ins. CH until 17.06.2010 – –

1 Segment (Ins. CH = Insurance Switzerland, IM = Investment Management, Ins. Int. = Insurance International, Ins. FR = Insurance France, Ins. DE = Insurance Germany)
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Authorised
share capital

Segment 1 Consolidation period Group share Direct share Currency in 1000

LIECHTENSTEIN

Swiss Life (Liechtenstein) AG, Schaan Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% CHF 5 000

Swiss Life International Services AG (formerly Swiss Life (Liechtenstein) Services AG), Schaan Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% CHF 100

FRANCE

AGAMI, Paris Ins. FR 100.0% 100.0% EUR 1 250

Carte Blanche Partenaires, Paris Ins. FR 94.7% 95.1% EUR 2 300

CEGEMA, Villeneuve-Loubet Ins. FR 100.0% 100.0% EUR 300

Financière du Capitole, Balma Ins. FR 80.0% 80.0% EUR 1 700

Financière du Patrimoine, Balma Ins. FR 80.0% 100.0% EUR 8

Garantie Assistance S.A., Paris Ins. FR 99.7% 100.0% EUR 1 850

MA Santé Facile, Paris Ins. FR from 10.06.2010 100.0% 100.0% EUR 1 388

SAS Placement Direct, Pau Ins. FR 100.0% 100.0% EUR 40

Swiss Life Asset Management (France), Paris IM 100.0% 100.0% EUR 3 000

Swiss Life Assurance et Patrimoine, Paris Ins. FR 99.9% 100.0% EUR 169 036

Swiss Life Assurances de Biens, Paris Ins. FR 100.0% 100.0% EUR 80 000

Swiss Life Banque Privée, Paris Ins. FR 60.0% 60.0% EUR 37 902

Swiss Life Dynapierre, Paris Ins. FR 99.9% 100.0% EUR 7 317

Swiss Life France, Paris Ins. FR 100.0% 100.0% EUR 267 767

Swiss Life Gestion Privée, Paris Ins. FR 60.0% 100.0% EUR 205

Swiss Life Immobilier, Paris Ins. FR 99.9% 100.0% EUR 37

Swiss Life Prestigimmo, Paris Ins. FR 99.9% 100.0% EUR 2 340

Swiss Life Prévoyance et Santé, Paris Ins. FR 99.4% 99.4% EUR 150 000

Viveris REIM, Marseille IM from 15.03.2011 95.0% 95.0% EUR 340

GERMANY

Allgemeiner Wirtschaftsdienst Gesellschaft für Wirtschaftsberatung
und Finanzbetreuung mbH, Hannover AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 2 700

AWD Beteiligungstreuhand GmbH, Hannover AWD until 29.11.2010 – –

AWD Gastronomie GmbH, Hannover AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 25

AWD Gruppe Deutschland GmbH, Hannover AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 1 501

AWD Holding AG, Hannover AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 38 639

AWD – Versicherungsmakler und -beratungs GmbH, Hannover AWD until 15.02.2011 – –

AWD Zweite Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hannover AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 25

Bizztools GmbH, Bremen AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 50

1 Segment (Ins. CH = Insurance Switzerland, IM = Investment Management, Ins. Int. = Insurance International, Ins. FR = Insurance France, Ins. DE = Insurance Germany)
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Authorised
share capital

Segment 1 Consolidation period Group share Direct share Currency in 1000

GERMANY (CONTINUED)

DEUTSCHE PROVENTUS AG, Bremen AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 511

Faircompare GmbH (formerly AWD Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH), Hannover AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 100

Financial Solutions AG Service & Vermittlung, München Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 200

Horbach Wirtschaftsberatung GmbH, Köln AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 260

PROFIDUS Assekuranzmakler GmbH, Bremen AWD until 01.01.2010 – –

PROFIDUS Vermittlung- und Verwaltungs-GmbH, Bremen AWD until 11.03.2010 – –

PROFIDUS Vertriebsgesellschaft mbh, Bremen AWD until 01.01.2010 – –

ProVentus Akademie- und Vertriebs GmbH, Bremen AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 25

SEKO, München Ins. DE until 17.08.2010 – –

SL Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. Grundstücksverwaltung KG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 50

SL Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. Immobilien I KG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 10

SL Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. Immobilien II KG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 10

SL Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. Immobilien III KG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 10

SL Beteiligungs-GmbH & Co. Immobilien Ost KG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 50

SL-Immobilien-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 25

SL Private Equity GmbH, Frankfurt am Main Ins. DE 98.9% 98.9% EUR 91

SLPM Schweizer Leben PensionsManagement GmbH, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 150

Swiss Life AG, München (Branch Swiss Life AG) Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% – –

Swiss Life Asset Management GmbH, München IM 100.0% 100.0% EUR 1 000

Swiss Life Assurance Solutions S.A., Branch Germany, München Other from 29.06.2010 100.0% 100.0% – –

Swiss Life Beteiligungs GmbH, Hannover Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 25

Swiss Life Cooperations GmbH in liquidation, Hamburg Ins. DE until 03.11.2010 – –

Swiss Life Deutschland Holding GmbH, München Ins. DE from 11.08.2011 100.0% 100.0% EUR 50

Swiss Life Grundstücksmanagement, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 26

Swiss Life Grundstücksmanagement GmbH & Co. Münchner Tor KG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 52 935

Swiss Life Insurance Solutions AG, München Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 7 500

Swiss Life Insurance Solutions S.A. Branch Germany, München Other from 29.06.2010 100.0% 100.0% – –

Swiss Life Partner Service- und Finanzvermittlungs GmbH, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 300

Swiss Life Pensionsfonds AG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 3 000

Swiss Life Pensionskasse AG, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 3 000

Swiss Life Products (Luxembourg) S.A. Branch Germany, München Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% – –

Swiss Life Service GmbH, Leipzig Ins. DE from 23.11.2010 100.0% 100.0% EUR 100

Swiss Life Vermittlungs GmbH, München Ins. DE 100.0% 100.0% EUR 50

tecis Finanzdienstleistungen AG, Hamburg AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 500

Thomas Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Bremen AWD until 01.01.2010 – –

1 Segment (Ins. CH = Insurance Switzerland, IM = Investment Management, Ins. Int. = Insurance International, Ins. FR = Insurance France, Ins. DE = Insurance Germany)



175Consolidated Financial Statements

Swiss Life — Financial Statements 2011

Authorised
share capital

Segment 1 Consolidation period Group share Direct share Currency in 1000

LUXEMBOURG

Heralux S.A., Luxembourg Ins. FR 99.4% 100.0% EUR 3 500

SWISS LIFE (LUXEMBOURG), Strassen Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% EUR 23 000

Swiss Life Assurance Solutions S.A., Strassen Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 6 000

Swiss Life Funds (Lux) Management Company S.A., Luxembourg IM 100.0% 100.0% CHF 400

Swiss Life Immo-Arlon, Société Anonyme, Strassen Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 1 000

Swiss Life Insurance Solutions S.A., Strassen Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 18 450

Swiss Life International Pension Fund ASBL, Strassen Ins. Int. – – – –

Swiss Life Invest Luxembourg S.A., Strassen Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 60 211

Swiss Life Participations Luxembourg S.A., Strassen Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 75 198

Swiss Life Products (Luxembourg) S.A., Strassen Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% EUR 79 031

Swiss Life Solutions S.A., Strassen Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 22 450

1 Segment (Ins. CH = Insurance Switzerland, IM = Investment Management, Ins. Int. = Insurance International, Ins. FR = Insurance France, Ins. DE = Insurance Germany)
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Authorised
share capital

Segment 1 Consolidation period Group share Direct share Currency in 1000

UNITED KINGDOM

AWD Chase de Vere Consulting Limited, London AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 1 935

AWD Chase de Vere Corporate Services Limited, Manchester AWD until 29.03.2011 – –

AWD Chase de Vere Direct Limited, Manchester AWD until 10.05.2011 – –

AWD Chase de Vere Limited, London AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 23 088

AWD Chase de Vere Financial Services Ltd, Manchester AWD until 04.05.2010 – –

AWD Chase de Vere Limited, London AWD until 04.05.2010 – –

AWD Consultancy Limited, Manchester AWD until 04.05.2010 – –

AWD Group Plc, London AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 5 000

AWD Group Services Limited, London AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 0

AWD Limited, Manchester AWD until 04.05.2010 – –

AWD Loans Limited, Manchester AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 1 000

AWD Private Client Trustees Limited, London AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 0

AWD Trustees Limited, Leicestershire AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 0

AWD Wealth Management Limited, Manchester AWD until 04.05.2010 – –

Chase de Vere Financial Solutions Limited, Manchester AWD 100.0% 100.0% GBP 10

Jaffrey Financial Services Limited, Dundee AWD until 08.05.2010 – –

AUSTRIA

AWD CEE Holding GmbH, Wien AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 35

AWD Gesellschaft für Wirtschaftsberatung GmbH, Wien AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 727

Swiss Life Österreich AG, Wien Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% EUR 70

Swiss Life Products (Luxembourg) S.A., Branch Austria, Wien Ins. Int. from 01.01.2010 100.0% 100.0% – –

CAYMAN ISLANDS

Adroit Investment (Offshore) Ltd., Grand Cayman Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 0

Adroit Partnerships (Offshore) L.P., Grand Cayman Ins. CH 100.0% 100.0% CHF 6 580

Swiss Life Financial Services (Cayman) Ltd., Grand Cayman Other 100.0% 100.0% CHF 50

Swiss Life Insurance Finance Ltd., Grand Cayman Other 100.0% 100.0% EUR 5

1 Segment (Ins. CH = Insurance Switzerland, IM = Investment Management, Ins. Int. = Insurance International, Ins. FR = Insurance France, Ins. DE = Insurance Germany)
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Authorised
share capital

Segment 1 Consolidation period Group share Direct share Currency in 1000

CROATIA

AWD Savjetovanje d.o.o. za poslovno savjetovanje, Zagreb AWD until 24.06.2010 – –

AWD zastupanje u osiguranju d.o.o., Zagreb AWD until 24.06.2010 – –

CZECH REPUBLIC

AWD Česká republika  s.r.o., Brno AWD 100.0% 100.0% CZK 1 000

HUNGARY

AWD Magyarország Pénzügyi Szolgáltató Korlátolt Felelősségű
Társaság, Budapest AWD 100.0% 100.0% HUF 5 000

ECG Oktatási Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság, Budapest AWD 100.0% 100.0% HUF 5 000

IRELAND

Swiss Life Private Placement (Ireland) Limited, Dublin Other until 13.01.2011 – –

ITALY

Swiss Life Insurance Solutions AG, Branch Italy, Milano Other from 28.01.2010 100.0% 100.0% – –

POLAND

AWD Spólka z ograniczona odpowiedzialnoscia, Warszawa AWD 100.0% 100.0% PLN 250

European Consulting Group Sp.z o.o., Warszawa AWD 100.0% 100.0% PLN 498

ROMANIA

AWD Consultanta Financiara SRL, Târgu Mureş AWD until 15.04.2011 – –

AWD Romania Broker de Asigurare Srl, Târgu Mureş AWD 100.0% 100.0% RON 50

SINGAPORE

Swiss Life (Liechtenstein) AG, Singapore Branch, Singapore Ins. Int. until 27.04.2010 – –

Swiss Life Network (Asia) Pte.Ltd., Singapore Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% SGD 0

Swiss Life (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (formerly Swiss Life Private Placement (Singapore) Pte.Ltd.),
Singapore Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% SGD 11 000

SLOVAKIA

AWD s.r.o., Bratislava AWD 100.0% 100.0% EUR 33

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

Swiss Life Private Placement (Middle East) Limited, Dubai Ins. Int. 100.0% 100.0% USD 8 100

1 Segment (Ins. CH = Insurance Switzerland, IM = Investment Management, Ins. Int. = Insurance International, Ins. FR = Insurance France, Ins. DE = Insurance Germany)
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CONTACTS

Swiss Life
General-Guisan-Quai 40
P.O. Box 2831
CH-8022 Zurich
Tel. +41 43 284 33 11
www.swisslife.com

Shareholder Services
Tel. +41 43 284 61 10
Fax +41 43 284 61 66
E-mail shareholder.services@swisslife.ch

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

The Business Review will be published in German, English and French. 
The English text is definitive for the extract from the Financial Statements.

The Financial Statements will be available in German and English, 
and contain additional information on risk management, market consistent 
embedded value (in English only), corporate governance and the annual accounts. 
The English text is definitive for the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Business Review and the Financial Statements for 2011 can be found  as of 20 March at:
www.swisslife.com/report

PUBLISHING DETAILS

PUBLISHER — Swiss Life Holding Ltd, Zurich
EDITORIAL RESPONSIBILITY — Swiss Life Group Communications, Zurich
PRODUCTION — Management Digital Data AG, Schlieren, Canton of Zurich
PRINTERS — Heer Druck AG, Sulgen, Canton of Thurgau
© Swiss Life Holding Ltd, 2012

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document may contain projections or other forward-looking statements related to Swiss Life that are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other important factors. The reader should be aware that these statements are only projections which could differ materially from the actual results, financial situa-
tion, development, performance or expectations and that therefore no undue reliance should be placed on such forward-looking statements. Neither Swiss Life
nor any of its directors, officers, employees or advisors, nor any other person connected or otherwise associated with Swiss Life, makes any representation or war-
ranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this document. Neither Swiss Life nor any of its directors, officers,
employees or advisors, nor any other person connected or otherwise associated with Swiss Life, shall have any liability whatsoever for loss howsoever arising, directly
or indirectly, from any use of this document. All forward-looking statements are based on the data available to Swiss Life at the time the present document was
compiled. Unless otherwise required by applicable law, Swiss Life assumes no responsibility to publicly update or alter its forward-looking statements or to adapt
them, whether as a result of new information, future events or developments or any other reason.

Investor Relations
Tel. +41 43 284 52 76
Fax +41 43 284 44 41
E-mail investor.relations@swisslife.ch

Media Relations
Tel. +41 43 284 77 77
Fax +41 43 284 48 84
E-mail media.relations@swisslife.ch
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IMPORTANT DATES

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2012

19 April 2012, Hallenstadion Zurich

INTERIM STATEMENT Q1 2012

8 May 2012

HALF-YEAR RESULTS 2012

17 August 2012

INVESTORS’ DAY 

28 November 2012
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